AN ETHNOGRAPHIC CASE STUDY EXAMINING THE EXPERIENCES OF AFRICAN AMERICAN STUDENTS WITH NONRESIDENT FATHERS

A DISSERTATION IN Education

Presented to the Faculty of the University of Missouri-Kansas City in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

DOCTOR OF EDUCATION

by ZACKARY DARNELL SHELBY

B.S., Langston University, 2005 M.Ed., William Woods University, 2009 Ed. S., University of Missouri Kansas City, 2016

> Kansas City, Missouri 2022

© 2022

Zackary Shelby

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

AN ETHNOGRAPHIC CASE STUDY EXAMINING THE EXPERIENCES OF AFRICAN AMERICAN STUDENTS WITH NONRESIDENT FATHERS

Zackary Shelby, Candidate for the Doctor of Education Degree
University of Missouri-Kansas City, 2022

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this ethnographic case study was to identify influences that replace the presence of Black fathers with children living in non-paternal homes. For my research investigation, influence was defined as people and/or experiences and/or activities engaged in positively or negatively. When fathers are not present on a consistent basis, identifying what contributes to student's social, emotional, and academic development was indispensable.

Data were collected and analyzed from five research participants and consisted of grade cards, attendance and discipline records, in-depth interviews, and observations. Although all five case study participants shared distinctive qualities such as personality, academic achievement, and, experiences, four principal themes were present across all cases: achievement, development, experiences, and school support. Findings from the data sets were corroborated and confirmed by the population studied and it was determined that the greatest influence that replaced nonresident fathers were resident guardians. In addition, church organizations, counselors, and coaches were identified as instrumental champions whose influence was irreplaceable as it involved meeting the paternal needs of students.

Collectively, evidence suggest, the absent presence of fathers was replaced by a combination of resources to support academic and social development.

APPROVAL PAGE

The faculty listed below, appointed by the Dean of the School of Education. Social Work, and Psychological Sciences, have examined a dissertation proposal titled, "An Ethnographic Case Study Examining the Experiences of African American Students with Nonresident Fathers," presented by Zackary Shelby, candidate for the Doctor of Education degree and certify that in their opinion is worth of acceptance.

Supervisory Committee

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iii
LIST OF TABLES	vi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ix
PREFACE: MY PERSONAL BELIEFS AND EXPERIENCES	xi
Chapter	
1. INTRODUCTION	1
Problem Statement	5
Purpose Statement	12
Conceptual Framework	15
Overview of Methodology and Design	22
Significance of the Study	26
2. LITERATURE REVIEW	27
Evolution of the Family Structure	29
Developmental Effect of Nonresident Fathers	43
School Experience	56
Educational Leadership	71
Summary	82
3. METHODOLOGY	84
Rationale for Qualitative Research	86
Role of the Researcher	93
Design of Study	94
Limitations and Ethical Considerations	106

4. FINDINGS	115
Overview	115
Data Analysis	120
Data Coding	126
Synthesis of Findings	155
Conclusions	172
5. CONCLUSIONS	174
Overview	174
Interpretation of Findings	177
Implications and Recommendations	189
Appendix	
A. INTRODUCTORY RECRUITMENT LETTER	194
B. CONSENT FOR PARTICIPATION IN RESEARCH STUDY	195
C. PARTICIPANT QUESTIONNAIRE	200
D. PARENT/GUARDIAN CONSENT FORM	201
E. INTERVIEW GUIDE	203
REFERENCES	204
VITA	266

TABLES

Table		Page
1	Frequency Table	162
1.	requericy rable	102

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere thanks and appreciation to my committee at the University of Missouri-Kansas City. Dr. S. Marie McCarther has gone above and beyond to support and guide me through my doctoral journey. Throughout these experiences, she has helped me grow academically and is a model of collegiate rigor. Dr. McCarther challenged my perspectives and understanding of what it means to be an ambassador for PK-12 students through exceptional leadership.

Meeting the academic, time, and financial obligations to accomplish a feat such as this required strong support from my village. The heart of my support system is my wife, Eboni Shelby. She has unwaveringly been a pillar of encouragement and support throughout all my endeavors. The accountability, inspiration, and endless hours of support have inspired me to be the best version of myself. Additionally, my son Zackary Jr. (ZJ), you have challenged me to be a better father every day. I have always enjoyed watching you compete and I appreciate all our talks. To my daughter Kori, you keep me on my toes. Thank you for showing me what it means to be selfless. Continue to shine your light everywhere you go. Thank you to my parents. Dad, you were my first coach who taught me what it means to persevere no matter the challenges or obstacles. Moma, you were my first teacher who instilled an academic foundation at early age. You taught me what it means to be teacher who goes above and beyond to provide for kids. I appreciate everything you both have done for me. Gary and TaNeesha, you two have been with me every step of the way. I could not ask for better siblings. Thank you for your love and support.

Finally, to my students, thank you for committing and sacrificing your time to examine your experiences. Not only have I learned about you all individually, but I have

learned what it means to be a champion for students who share similar experiences. I am a better educator because of you.

PREFACE

MY LIVED EXPERIENCE

As an adolescent, there were two individuals that I looked up to the most, my brother and my father. My brother Gary was the epitome of an athlete who could do it all on the football field. Every chance I got, we would play catch in the yard or hang out in the neighborhood. We spent a lot of free time during the summer at the Boys and Girls Club where we perfected our craft of playing sports along with bumper pool. In the mid 90s, the "club" was our safe haven despite the proliferation of gang activity and violence in our community. Gary would go on to play college football, and I could not wait to follow in his footsteps.

My dad, Gary Sr. was also a man whom I looked up to during my childhood. Anytime we were together, someone always mentioned how much I looked like my dad. I always embraced that comment as a compliment and wanted nothing more but to be like my dad. He was my first coach growing up from t-ball to football. My dad spent most of his free time volunteering as a coach at the Boys and Girls Club after working his construction job. Throughout my playing career, my dad has never missed a game no matter the distance or time. Theresa, my mother was an elementary teacher in the local school district for most, if not all my life. As a primary student, I can recall going up to my mother's class during the summer before school started to help hang up bulletin boards, laminate posters, and make packets of work. My mother taught me what compassion and accountability looked like every time I visited her classroom. Altogether, my childhood appeared normal. Both of my parents consistently worked and on paydays, we would go to McDonalds or the drive-in theater.

My childhood would remain this way until my parents separated when I was in the third grade. I never talked to my brother about their separation and my sister was too young to remember. I just know how I felt and what followed was internally challenging. Not only did my grades suffer, but I began to act out in school and at church. I did not know it at the time but acting out was my way of expressing the pain caused by my parent's divorce. After the divorce, I still saw my father regularly. He would pick me and my brother up for football practice and take us to the games. I do not remember spending the night at my dad's house until around age of 16. Even though he did not live with me, he was very active in my life.

Unfortunately, the financial and emotional responsibility of raising three kids weighed heavy on my mother. She would often come home exhausted from working extended morning and after school programs, all while attending graduate school. This routine continued throughout all of my high school experience. There were days where my father's presence was financially supportive, yet his absence created emotional hardships that impacted my development. These frequent struggles and experiences were my inspiration for research.

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Despite family trends shifting for many Americans, an increasing number of studies have been conducted to investigate the state of Black households through a nuclear prism (Chetty et al., 2020) to explain behavioral development (Boller et al., 2006), generational poverty (Cabrera et al., 2008) and social growth (Wilson et al., 2016). Within these households, extended families and kin networks serve as an important buffer that influence the natural growth of children over an extended period of time (Isaacs, 2012; Johnson-Staub, 2017; Sandstorm & Huerta, 2013). However, the practice of attaching a child's success or failure with their parents is commonly used to validate child-related outcomes (Bempechat & Shernoff, 2012; McNeal, 2016). In many cases involving Black families, single mothers are unjustly liable for negative consequences that impact children with minimum attention on the causes which lead to a father's absence (Elliot & Reid, 2016; Elliot & Reid, 2019). As a result, investigating findings that help Black children flourish irrespective of their family environment was an aim of my study. I explored Black families to examine the academic and social influences that replace the presence of nonresidential fathers.

The term Black or African American was used interchangeably in this dissertation to refer to individuals of African origin. Described by the United States Census Bureau, the Black racial category is defined as Black, African American, or Negro (Rastogi et al., 2011). Similarly, the ancestral lineage shared among African Americans and Blacks is inclusive as it relates to racial identity (Tamir, 2021). My affinity for investigating the influences that replace nonresident fathers stem from personal experiences of living in a home without my father's daily presence. Similar to other Black children growing up in the urban core (Pearce

et a., 2018), I did not see my father every day; however, I was blessed by his love, advice, and wisdom. My father never missed any of my football games or track meets regardless of the distance; yet I can vividly recall the financial and emotional burden my mother consumed on a regular basis as the sole provider. Extending this discussion on Black families along with providing an analysis of multiple scholarly sources was highlighted below.

Previous research has confirmed more than half (51%) of all Black children are raised in homes lead by single mothers with limited access to financial resources and social supports that reinforce positive academic and social development at an early head start stage (Chetty et al., 2020; Jackson et al., 2015; Parolin, 2021; Wildeman, 2009). Hemez and Washington added that the living arrangement of Black children 18 years old and younger living with two parents is 42% compared to 75% of white children of commensurate age (2021). Quantifying the impact of the phenomenon, Black children living in homes without the presence of fathers has prompted researchers to investigate the comprehensive impact of single parent households. For example, a longitudinal study conducted by Lee et al. (2020) examined the relationship between low-income residential and nonresidential fathers regarding child engagement. Over a 15-month period, a sample of 1,908 families were observed to identify their direct involvement in caregiving and socially stimulating play. Of the 1,499 residential fathers who participated, 702 or 47.7% identified as Black, while 78% or 312 of the 409 nonresident fathers identified as Black. Data were collected within the first 3 years after the birth of a new child using a program, Building Strong Families. Both mothers and fathers contributed directly by way of initial surveys and follow up phone interviews to compare the relationship quality and level of engagement between fathers. Implications revealed residential and nonresidential Black fathers reported higher scores in

caregiving (i.e., feeding, bathing, and dressing) and engagement for their children than any other measured group. On average, father involvement increased from 2.5 hours per week to 8 hours, refuting the stigma surrounding Black fathers (El, 2019; Hymowitz, 2004). These findings corroborate subsequent qualitative research that highlight the positive impact of Black fathers.

Dispelling myths of absent Black fathers was underscored in Coles et al.'s (2010) work The Myth of the Missing Black Father. In this text, Coles et al. (2010) disassembled stereotypes that portray Black fathers as absent from their families while emphasizing systemic trends that affect fatherhood similar to their contemporaries (i.e., Cooper, 2015; Grantham & Henfield, 2011). Coles' writing counters an often-used deficit mindset to define Black fathers based partly on their living arrangement (p. 122). Conversely, these impressions juxtapose differing research suggesting, although more Black fathers are active, more are absent from home (Livingston & Parker, 2011; Mattis et al., 2020; Wilson et al., 2016). According to Cabrera et al. (2004), children living in father-absent homes are more likely to be characterized by crime and high levels of unemployment.

Additional implications revealed that 72% of Black children are born in nonmarital unions (Akerlof et al., 1996; Armstrong, 2020), contributing to the inheritance of Black poverty and the lack of social mobility (Winship et al., 2018). Socioeconomic status (SES) and poverty have previously been correlated to father's living arrangements (Hairston, 2012; Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, 2014) as sections of the Black economic community is crippled by the lack of wealth compared to white neighborhoods (Reeves & Rodrique, 2017). Evidence outlined in this section examined the literature and findings indicate that Black children are more likely to live in nonresident father homes compared to white children

(VerBruggen, 2018); however, additional data suggest Black fathers are involved in their child's life regardless of their resident location (Ransaw, 2014).

Investigating Black families is not an indictment on single mothers or guardians whose selflessness is often underappreciated, nor is the description of nonresidential fathers synonymous with absent fathers. Fittingly, my study examined individual experiences of students whose fathers do not reside inside the home while avoiding harmful misconceptions associated with Black fathers. Preceding studies have made contributions relating to Black children's educational attainment (de Brey, et al., 2019), social outcomes (Manduca, & Sampson, 2019; Nam et al., 2015), and family demographics (Collins et al., 2019); but have generally failed to pinpoint influences that support children with nonresident fathers.

Therefore, the aim of my study was to identify factors that fulfill any potential voids created by nonresident fathers and improve the quality of life and education for Black children, along with adding to the instructional expertise for principal leaders, teachers, and community stakeholders.

In the subsequent section, I will introduce the problem of my study and provide evidence that reports the impact of students who reside in homes absent their biological fathers. Fatherless Black homes has drawn attention from a variety of experts who have commonly studied negative consequences (National Fatherhood Initiative, 2015; Wagstaff & McLuckey, 2017); however, my platform focused on addressing the problem through an expository lens to not only explore individual causes of the phenomenon but to identify supports to help students thrive.

The Problem

Historically, the depiction of Black families has often been characterized through a deficit lens attributing social hardships to single Black mothers and the number of children being raised in fatherless homes (Frazier, 1948; Malone-Colon, 2007; Jarosz, et al., 2020; Williams, 2017). Daniel Moynihan's landmark work, The Negro Family: The Case for National Action (1965) argued economic and structural deficiencies involving Black Americans were a direct result of single mothers and the inexistence of the nuclear family despite indicators that pointed to racism and systemic oppression (Acs et al., 2013; Coonz, 2015). In Moynihan's estimation, Black female-headed households promoted the regression of mobility and an inescapable cycle of poverty for Black children (Lenhardt, 2015). Conversely, Cohen et al. (2015) examined the validity of these assumptions in detail to compare economic and social success for Black families based on living arrangements. Their investigation suggested family structure is not the sole driving force behind the fluctuations in poverty rates given that women have historically earned less than men and the poverty rate for single Black fathers 32.6% exceeded their white 15.9% and Latinx 30.1% counterparts (Cohen et at., 2015). Instead, the authors reported reducing America's high incarceration rates and increasing employment opportunities for Black parents has more potential to abate poverty (Cohen et at., 2015).

The presence of fathers does not guarantee financial stability (Boller et al., 2006), or prevent negative experiences from occurring (Martinez, et al., 2013; Raley et al., 2015). Companionship patterns (Wikle & Hoagland, 2020) reveal fathers have an important impact on adolescent's development and their overall health through social interactions (Rogers et al., 2018). Cabrera et al. (2007) examined father's influence on child development through

positive interactions and quality of father engagement for children 2 and 3 years old. At the conclusion of the study, findings determined the father's presence was significantly related to children's cognitive development and a closer inspection correlated children's emotional development with the presence of fathers. Father's supportiveness was also positively associated emotional regulation, while mother's produced neutral results Cabrera et al. (2007). These outcomes align with scholars who have contributed to understanding the developmental relationship between fathers and their children (King et al., 2004; King & Sobolwski, 2006; Stewart & Menning, 2009), in the areas of health development (Ball et al., 2007), parent-child interactions, (Trivette et al., 2010), and social behaviors (Rosenberg & Wilcox, 2006). Each outcome underscored my position that fathers are essential to the growth and development of children, and when removed, a void may potentially be created.

When examining the problem of my study, Black children living in homes without their fathers, a challenge exists relating to its impact. Over the past half-century, more than 16 million parents in the United States are unmarried (Livingston, 2018) and of those reported, 54% are Black children who are being raised in homes lead by mothers only (Kreider, 2008; Livingston, 2018b; Pew Research Center, 2015). Nonresident Black fathers have drawn public attention regarding their role in shaping the outcomes for their children (Anderson et al., 2002; Fagan & Palkovitz, 2007; Shannon et al., 2009) along with the establishment of father-centered social programs that provide families with support (Morley et al., 2008; Sandstrom et al., 2015). In addition, what we know about students with nonresidential fathers is largely based on empirical studies that revealed between 1960 and 2016, the percentage of Black children living with mothers only rose from 30% to 52% (US Census Data, 2019b) compared to 20% of white children during the same time span. Father

absent homes contribute to multiple outcomes such as limited financial income within the Black family unit compared to white children (Hofferth et al., 2010), decreased academic performance (Qureshi & Ahmad, 2014) and negative behavioral outcomes (Alvare, 2011). Each component was explained fully in the ensuing section beginning with the presence of the problem.

Exploring the context of the phenomenon, Black students living in homes with nonresident fathers required a preliminary examination of the setting. Investigative data revealed a high concentration of children living in single parent homes reside in communities plagued by poverty and systematic inequalities (Chaudry & Wimer, 2016; Macartney et al., 2016; McCarty, 2016; Meyer & Wallace, 2009;) such as high incarceration rates of Black males (Geller et al., 2012; Gramlich, 2020; Martin, 2017). Essentially, the prison system is designed to remove the criminal from society and between 2000 and 2016, Black males represented approximately 504,000 of the prison population in the United States (Sabol et al., 2019). Creating a vacancy within the family structure, reducing the earning potential for the family unit, and contributing to the reduction of marriageable men (Moore & Elkavich, 2008; Wildeman & Western, 2010).

Addressing the impact of nonresidential fathers was better understood by examining the social and economic disadvantages that may manifest in their absence beginning with cognitive development. Preceding studies have stressed a positive association between father involvement and children's cognitive skills (Dunn et al., 2004; Rolle et al., 2019), while others highlight the contributions that fathers make on student's literacy and academic skills (Jeynes, 2015; Saracho, 2007). However, the influence of nonresidential fathers can marginally be associated with children's academic performance on a daily basis (King &

Sobolewski, 2006), and according to Allen and Daly (2007), children living without their fathers are more likely to experience problems in school and perform lower on academic assessments. Whitney et al. (2017) asserted the lowest achievement level and the greatest risk for school failure is experienced by students who do not have a resident father.

Supplemental studies investigating nonresidential fathers suggest negative outcomes are based on inadequate involvement with their children (Baker, 2018; Hofferth & Pinzon, 2011; Julion et al., 2007). Unlike uncovering the social impact of nonresidential fathers, paternal involvement is multifaceted and can include eating meals or feeding children, bathing, reading with children, and helping children with their homework (Jones & Mosher, 2013). Yogman and Garfield (2016) suggested African American fathers are more involved in supporting their children compared to white and Hispanic, (Jackson et al., 2015); however, differing authors imply more than two thirds of Black children are born to unmarried mothers, and the level of involvement declines throughout their adolescent years (Lu et al., 2010; Tollestrup, 2018). This impression underscores an area of research I investigated in attempt to identify what replaces a father's involvement during specific stages of their child's life if a void is created. Cheadle et al. (2010) added many nonresident fathers initially attempt to be involved and maintain close relationships with their children, while some drift apart and others have no contact at all.

In a study measuring nonresident father's involvement after birth, a sample group of 2,447 unmarried families (63% non-Hispanic Black, 31% Hispanic, 6% White) were observed to measure their consistency and participation during the developmental years 1, 3, 5, and 9 (Ellerbe et al., 2018). Indicators of fathers' involvement were anticipated based on employment and economic stability along with cultural factors based on attitudes, social

norms, and family values. During this process, researchers evaluated four aspects of fathers' involvement including time with children, engagement, shared responsibilities, and coparenting. Over time, each theme enlarged a robust representation of father's relationship with their children and recorded their mean frequency levels. Although father involvement declined for all ethnic groups, Black fathers experienced the least decline compared to Hispanic and white fathers. Specifically, data revealed a father's participation is consistent for children between the ages 1 and 3, but a significant drop off ensues around age 9 where Black fathers spent 6 days out of the month with their children. The total days spent with children were greater than white and Hispanic fathers, the remaining days out of the month were not spent with their children, creating potential opportunities for supplemental influences to support development. Addressing the problem, a father's time apart from their children as it pertained to involvement was an area of research I pursued to better understand explicit influences that support children's growth and development.

An additional impact of children living in homes with nonresident fathers can be correlated with poverty (Drake & Rank, 2009; Joiner, 2017; Livingston, 2018). Research examining the disproportionality of poverty within the Black community acknowledges unmarried women are most vulnerable (Astone et al., 2016; Damaske et al., 2017) and poverty is closely tied to education and employment (Duncan & Brooks-Gunn, 2000; Meyer & Wallace, 2009). Threlfall et al. (2013) uncovered perceptions of nonresidential African American fathers' parenting roles within the context of an urban community. This mixed-methods project collected data to aid in (a) understanding the role of father's parenting, and (b) programs that enhanced their child's behavior development from a selected group of 29 participants. Interviews were conducted and data were coded until six themes emerged.

Findings suggested that fathers meet their children's essential needs (i.e., providing a roof over their heads, food, and clothing was fundamental); however, poverty limited their resources and created a psychological burden. Implications further revealed fathers genuinely wanted to provide a better lifestyle for their children and took responsibility for their well-being. An additional theme that emerged was the need to provide children with emotional support along with policies that promoted academic stability. Despite the evolution of family roles and the contribution of mothers, father's economic wellbeing remains essential (Avellar et al., 2018; Carlson, & Magnuson, 2011; Goldberg, 2015). Together, these findings provide important insight of the perceptions of fathers, and highlight negative environmental experiences their children are exposed to in their absence.

Meanwhile, exploring causes that contribute to the phenomenon, nonresidential fathers created an essential opportunity within my study to investigate paternal patterns during children's developmental years. Prior studies have contributed to understanding Black families through a narrow lens, focusing primarily on absent fathers and a lack of responsibility (Hitchens & Payne, 2017; Manduca, & Sampson, 2019); while disregarding specific causes that induce father absence. My research filled this gap in the literature by examining the incarceration statistics of Black men (see DeFina & Hannon, 2013). At the conclusion of 2015, Black men between the ages 20 and 34 were 9.1% of the prison population compared to 1.6% of white men (Pettit & Sykes, 2017). Disaggregated data further reported the greatest demographic of incarcerated inmates with dependent children were Black males (Leeds et al., 2020). In a 2004 interview with state inmates, Glaze and Maruschak (2008) discussed 63% of Black fathers reported they shared in the daily care of their children, and 54% indicated they provided financial support for their children prior to

being incarcerated. Additional findings implied losing a parent to incarceration can be traumatic and can have an adverse impact on children's mental, emotional, and physical health (Craigie et al., 2018; Peterson et al., 2015). Information discussed in this research underscored a facet of my research that identified what replaces the financial and social contributions of Black fathers.

In addition to the high imprisonment rates of Black males, gun violence has contributed to children living in nonresident father homes (Beck, 2021; Kochanek et al., 2019). The consequences of gun violence among Black men creates a void within the community (Bryant, 2013), weakens the promotion of family success (Black & Hausman, 2008), and contributes to trauma and depression (Armstrong & Carlson, 2019; Mitchell & Bromfield, 2019) for the surviving family members. Between the ages 15 to 24, not only are 90% Black deaths caused by guns (Cooper & Smith, 2011; Levine et al., 2012), but 70% of those deaths were instigated by Black individuals (Morgan & Oudekerk, 2019), impacting the families of the victim and perpetrator. Despite this evidence, there remains a gap in the literature that inclusively disaggregates the number of Black fathers murdered in the United States; therefore, an aim of my research was to provide an in depth analysis of homicidal data to better understand the mortality rate among Black fathers and their survived children.

One final cause that contributes to children living in homes void of their fathers can be attributed to babies born outside of marriage. Throughout the 20th century, single-parent families have increased across United States redefining characteristics that represent contemporary households (Crawford et al., 2013; Smock & Schwartz, 2020). In general, this experience is not limited to any specific race, but findings suggest that Black parents have higher probability of living apart (Fagan & Hadford, 2015; Lloyd et al., 2021). Although

marital status does not consider the number of children living in cohabitating homes, nonmarital households may create inconsistent involvement throughout children's development years (Horowitz et al., 2019; Sassler & Lichter, 2020). In this case, determining how children and families fared was essential to my study as marriage within the Black community continues to decrease (see Caucutt et al., 2018; Johnson & Loscocco, 2014).

Literature discussed in the previous section introduced the problem of my research, Black children living in homes with nonresident fathers. Overtime, family trends have been examined from a variety of scholars who acknowledge the absent presence of fathers in Black homes, and the implications that follow. Yet, a gap in the literature exists as it relates to connecting the causes that lead to father's absence and the influences that replace their presence. It was my goal to investigate Black households through a prism that provided a robust understanding, and not solely rely on social conditions to describe student outcomes. In the following section, I will provide a detailed explanation of the purpose for research, beginning with an overview of the phenomenon.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this empirical study was to identify influences that replace the presence of Black fathers with children living in non-paternal homes. As fathering research has progressed, several studies have explored the relationship between Black fathers and their children (Coates, & Phares, 2014; Harper & Fine, 2006; Thompson, 2014); however, few have pinpointed influences that supplement nonresident father's social and overall development on their children. For my research investigation, influence was defined as people and/or experiences and/or activities engaged in positively or negatively. When fathers are not present on a consistent basis, identifying what contributes to children's social,

emotional, and academic development was essential to my study. Exploring this facet of Black household's isolated father's involvement and impact on their children, while magnifying contributions that promote student success. Finally, my research examined the voice of students and included their perspective in better understanding their experiences.

Selecting my participants was based on extending the understanding of the phenomenon in relation to the research questions (Sargeant, 2012). Participants in this study met the following requirements: (a) Black female and/or male high school student age 18 or 19 and (b) live in a household without the presence of their biological father. This population was purposeful in better understanding the lived experiences of living in nonresident father homes through qualitative inquiry. Each participant was administered open-ended research questions designed to maximize authentic responses (Patton, 2015).

The setting for this ethnographic study took take place in a Midwestern urban high school where the majority of student's social economic status qualifies them for free or reduced lunch. Using household financial data as part of the selection of my setting was critical as practitioners suggest a correlation between single-parent households and poverty (Eichner & Gallagher Robbins, 2015; Lu et al., 2020; Semega et al., 2019). I observed students within their contextual environment (i.e., home, work setting, and extracurricular events) to make meaning from their experiences. Observing students in their natural setting created reliable data, which ultimately aligned with the qualifications of an ethnographic research analysis (see van Hulst et al., 2015).

Additionally, I incorporated the theoretical tradition case study to provide a balanced understanding of the phenomenon. Case studies are anchored in the idea of entrenching participants within the research to explore an in-depth issue in its natural context (Crowe et

al., 2011; Ridder, 2017). The goal was to learn about students' experiences and identify support systems that assist them with achieving academic and social success. Data were collected using interviews, observations of the phenomenon, and through the analysis of documents to collect a thick description (Ponterotto, 2006) of the relationship between nonresident fathers and their children. Each source increased the reliability of the findings by generating common themes throughout the duration of this study.

Data included in this section introduced the purpose of my study and provided an overview of the setting, participant selection, and data analysis. Developing a concise purpose statement established direction of the study and provided a robust foundation that supported the execution of my research (Creswell, 2013). In the ensuing section, I will present my research questions in a manner that outlines the problem of my study. Each question was designed to increase the knowledge surrounding the phenomenon, students living with nonresident fathers while addressing the gap in existing literature (Farrugia et al., 2010).

Research Questions

Research questions were designed to provide structure throughout the investigation of my case study participants. Each question isolated a critical element that underscored the relationship among children and their nonresidential father within urban communities.

Qualitative research questions ask how or why events occur, or what are the perceptions and experiences of the participants (Simon, 2011). Questions for my research study stemmed from one primary inquiry followed by four sub questions.

Central Question: What replaces the presence of African American fathers for students living in non-paternal homes?

Sub-questions:

- (1) How do students describe their relationship with their resident guardian?
- (2) What contributes to the social, emotional, and academic development for students with nonresident fathers?
- (3) What are the lived school experiences for 12th grade students with nonresident fathers?
- (4) How should urban schools support the academic and behavior needs for students with nonresident fathers?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework is primarily an outline of what researchers plan to study along with a reinforcement of the goals, design, and research questions (Crawford, 2019; Jabareen, 2009; Maxwell, 2013; Regoniel, 2015). Within the conceptual framework is the researcher's understanding of how the problem will be explored and the relationship between the variables that support the execution of the research goals (Grant & Osanloo, 2014). The problem of my study, students living in homes with nonresident fathers served as a conduit that connected my research questions with philosophies embedded in the literature. This research approach captured findings that chronicled the progression of Black families while interlocking theories with empirical research (Adom et al., 2018; Collins & Stockton, 2018).

There were four themes that functioned as pillars within my literature review beginning with the evolution of the family structure. My rationale for selecting the history of Black families as my initial topic was to provide a chronological overview of the problem, along with factors that have contributed to Black fathers not being present in their children's home. Specifically, examining the progression of Black families assisted in identifying

patterns and other findings that captured children's residency status overtime (Monte & Knop, 2019). These patterns involving Black households played an integral role in framing a timeline of the problem while addressing my research questions.

In addition, exploring children's overall well-being encouraged me to investigate the developmental impact fathers have on their children. Shell (2008) indicated that fatherlessness is a leading cause that effects child well-being in our society. Examining the literature to ascertain how identity, emotional, and cognitive development were influenced when fathers are not present daily in the home was essential. Bronfenbrenner's (1970) seminal work on ecological theory suggests human development is a process involving reciprocal interactions between individuals and the environment (Karger, 2016; Tudge et al., 2009). Furthermore, Bronfenbrenner recognized that parents with unstable relationships with their children have a negative effect (Ashiabi & O'Neal, 2015). When applying this understanding to my study, I was encouraged to investigate how development is fashioned for children with nonresident fathers.

Similarly, investigating the school experience of children with nonresidential fathers was fundamental in discovering their academic and behavioral patterns. My rationale for selecting this topic was two-fold. First, my intention was to explore how student's academic characteristics are shaped by their environment and how schools assimilate that knowledge within the classroom. Second, I felt it was imperative to highlight the academic and behavior successes and failures of students with nonresidential fathers. According to Ward (2008), children with nonresidential fathers were found to have lower rates of academic achievement. Specifically, the author determined that African American children with fathers who do not reside in their homes had a lower grade point average (GPA) than white children (Ward,

2008). Amato et al. (2015) stated "Research consistently demonstrate that children living with single parents score lower on measures of academic ability and achievement that do children with two continuously married parents" (p. 14).

Examining literature bolstered the role and responsibility involving educational leadership or principal pedagogy see (Sappington et al., 2010). For my study, principal pedagogy was defined as effective leadership practices and methods that influence high academic and social outcomes for students and teachers. MacNeill et al. (2003) outlined multi-dimensions of leadership for the purpose of creating a learning space that produced academic excellence and stability. As a result, my rationale for selecting this topic was to identify ways leaders can improve the quality of instruction for students with nonresident fathers. Moreover, nonresident fathers are the problem of my study, therefore, I determined what role if any, the school's personnel plays in influencing student growth and development.

In summary, exploring a variety of literature that contributes to examining the experiences of students with nonresidential fathers was essential. Each topic brought a unique element in identifying the current state of students while providing a better understanding of the role schools play in meeting their needs. I brought a few assumptions to this ethnographic case study concerning students with nonresidential fathers. It was my belief that the absent presence of fathers reduces families' potential earnings and impacts children's growth and development. In 2018, males in the United States earned on average \$55,291 compared to \$45,097 for women (Semega, et al., 2019), therefore, I believed that a father's financial support is a critical contributor to family's poverty or prosperity. Moreover, it was my belief that children in low-income families are more likely experience health related

issues such as stress and poor mental health (Low-Income Working Families: Facts and Figures, 2005). It was my assumption that the consequences of students not living with their fathers creates opportunities for ancillary influences, both positive and negative to fill their void. For these reasons, the meticulous exploration of literature provided a transparent understanding of the influences impacting children with nonresidential fathers beginning with the evolution of the Black family. Overall, my research project was classified as a qualitative study because it relied primarily on human perspective and an understanding within a variety of contexts to discover how things work (Stake, 2010). In the succeeding section, I will establish a framework investigating a diverse selection of literature that supports the problem of my study. Information will be used to strengthen my understanding of the phenomenon and provide context that informs my methodology (Maggio et al., 2016).

Evolution of the Family Structure

Understanding the plight of African American fathers began with recognizing events that have contributed to the current state of Black families such as slavery. The practice of enslavement was an institutionalized system that balked at the idea of creating strong nuclear Black families through marriage (Bloome & Muller, 2015; Lenhardt, 2015). Connecting to the problem of my study, enslaved children, men, and women could be sold and separated from one another at any point of their lives, attenuating the family unit (DeGruy, 2017). During this period, the fate of Black families laid in the balance of slave owners whose economic gains were more profitable than creating strong Black family units (Hunter, 2017).

Slavery was not the only system impacting the progression of Black families as housing practices following the emancipation period contributed to an unequitable distribution of wealth. For many Americans, homeownership is the principal vehicle that

leads to the accumulation of wealth (Goodman & Mayer, 2018; Herbert et al., 2013; Rappaport, 2010) and intergenerational capital (Choi et al., 2018). Consequently, discriminatory lending practices such as redlining (Aaronson et al., 2017; Goldstein & Urevick-Ackelsberg, 2008; Hernandez, 2014) forced African Americans into racially segregation communities with limited resources and access to wealth (Matthew et al., 2017). The practice of redlining aligned with the problem of my study by weakening the stability of the community through reduced homeownership and centralizing poverty. When property values are minimal, school funds and other resources to support families within the community are reduced (Washington State Department of Revenue, 2016).

An additional component concerning the evolution of Black families deals with mass incarceration. Mass incarceration has systematically shaped the Black community through questionable practices that have led to the removal of Black men (Nellis, 2016; Roberts, 2004; Tucker, 2016a). In 2017, the rate of Black males in prison (2,336 per 100,000) was almost six times (397 per 100,000) that of white males (Bronson & Carson, 2017). In addition, drug offenses play a key role in the number of African American children living in homes with nonresident fathers. Under the war on drugs policy, Black drug offenders are three times as likely to get arrested for possession narcotics than whites (Knafo, 2013). This phenomenon directly correlated to the problem of my study, students living in homes with nonresident fathers as Black males dominate the prison industry (Carson, 2020; Tucker, 2016b).

Finally, violence in urban communities contributes to the reduction of Black fathers as a byproduct of the homicide rate and the number of men incarcerated following the crime.

According to Warnken and Lauritsen (2019), African American males are more likely to be

victims of homicide than their white counterparts. The US Department of Justice reported that Black males represented 77% of homicide victims, and of those, 54% were between the ages 18–34 (Carson & Sabol, 2012). Violence directly impacts Black households as families of the victims and perpetrators learn to cope with the loss of a family member (Frazer et al., 2018).

Developmental Effect of Nonresident Fathers

Exploring the evolution of Black families established a framework around the problem of my study, however, investigating the developmental impact of nonresident fathers was equally vital. Throughout history, behavior experts specialized in constructing a holistic framework that outlined phases of development such as Erik Erikson's stages of psychosocial development (Green et al., 2016; McLeod, 2017; Wallace, 2017). In its primitive state trust v. mistrust, an infant's expressive cry can signify attention to one of their basic needs such as a fresh diaper, food, or a consolable cuddle (Cherry, 2018; Faris & McCarroll, 2010) from primary caregivers who are responsible for developing trust and maintaining stability (Poole & Snarey, 2011). When these needs are met, a healthy transition throughout development is more likely to occur (Barr, 2006; Boseley, 2010; Leadsom, 2012). In relation to growth and development, it was essential to my study to explore how guardians compensate for the absence of fathers. To accomplish this task, I studied both the positive and negative influences that contributed to shaping the characteristics for students with nonresident fathers. This process was directed by my research questions and detailed in the methodology section of this study.

School Experience

Examining the school experience of students with a nonresidential father required an analysis of their academic and social knowledge. Ward (2008) suggested educational outcomes of children with absent fathers and the influence of paternal parents are critical. Specifically, Ward's case study examined the absent presence of fathers in three waves or data collection periods. In each wave, 70 students participated with the primary ethnic breakdown being white and Black. Findings from the study indicated that there is substantial data that correlates a father's presence and their impact on student achievement. Ward advanced this understanding by implying, "Children in single-mother homes as a collective group and regardless of reason for father absence had a significantly lower level of educational attainment by almost one whole year" (p. 40); while McLanahan et al. (2013) emphasized significant evidence and suggested the effect of father presence greatly influences student achievement. Conversely, when fathers are not present throughout their child's school experience, an academic gap is more likely to be created (Caughy et al., 2020; Engin, 2020; Lipscomb, 2011). This impression reinforced the significance of my study and the desire to not only identify influences that support learning, but also highlight the school personnel's responsibility in fulfilling any potential gaps in knowledge (see Ppduah, 2020). Investigating the academic impact for students with nonresident fathers added valuable knowledge to the current literature through an investigative lens to address the problem of my study.

Educational Leadership

Exploring the school experiences of Black students with nonresident fathers was fundamental in understanding the phenomenon; however, investigating the literature from an

educational leadership perspective was equally important. Effective leaders promote achievement by collecting data, monitoring, and utilizing teacher's individual strengths to maximize learning (Scott, 2018; Yonge 2014); along with supporting the individual needs of students (Josephson et al. 2018). For example, preliminary data often suggests Black students are more likely to be academically and social disadvantaged (Barton & Coley, 2010; Bireda & Moses, 2010; Vanneman et al., 2009) with minimal attention on delineating causes that contribute to their struggles. For this reason, the intent of my research was to move beyond statistical data and examine students with nonresident fathers from an educational leadership perspective that informs decisions for this population. To achieve this goal, I identified strategies that promoted achievement through individualized pedagogical practices.

In conclusion, evidence included in the introduction of my research provided a summary of literature used to investigate and strengthen the understanding of the phenomenon, students living with nonresident fathers. The goal of each theme was to anchor the phenomenon within the literature to minimize any existing gaps that impact the academic and social outcomes of this specific group. Additionally, investing in this research area was significant as the number of Black students living in homes without the consistent presence of their fathers exist (Madyun & Lee, 2010). Subsequently, the following section will connect the problem of my research with methods detailing how my study was performed. My goal was to use each research question as an outline that details the design and instrumentation of my study.

Overview of the Design and Methodology

Embedded in this section is a brief overview of the methodology that was used to assist me in making meaning of the phenomenon. A more thorough discussion is included in

Chapter 3. This ethnographic case study focused on the influences that replaced the presence of nonresidential fathers. By conducting research on this population of students, my goal was to better understand their experiences and provide stakeholders with information that support healthy growth and development.

In order to better understand students living in home with nonresident fathers, it was necessary to utilize case studies as the research design. Qualitative research was appropriate for this study because it provided a better understanding of the phenomenon by enlarging the richness nestled in their experiences. The methods used in this study supplied a thick description of the phenomenon and provided meaning related to the findings. Yin (2014) identified case studies as "empirical inquiry that investigates a contemporary phenomenon in depth and within its real-world context" (p. 16). Allen & Daly, 2007 and Dyer et al. (2018) explored the phenomenon, nonresidential fathers through an informative lens and provided a framework for exploration. However, as the chief investigator, I used the experiences and observable behaviors of students to document influences that impacted their growth and development across multiple environments.

The setting for this study commenced in a Midwestern metropolitan high school, where the context supplied an abundant population pool to yield a rich sample. Specifically, data were collected in an urban school, where approximately 90% of students receive free or reduced lunch. I purposefully selected this setting based on previous studies that have correlated single families lead by mothers with social economic status (Gradín, 2012; Patrick, 2017). Other researchers suggested that Black family poverty is concentrated in urban areas where fathers are not present (Hardy et al., 2018; Sharkey, 2009). It was my aim that both viewpoints support the selection and location for my research.

Study participants included only Black male and female students between the ages 18–19 years old who do not live with their fathers. Using a purposeful and criterion sample, five students were identified and selected with the assistance of school personnel and a data base that stores demographic information such as age and race. Purposeful sampling concentrates on selecting information rich cases that illuminate the questions within the study (Patton, 2015). I applied purposeful sampling procedures to create a sample from the entire population to assist me in making an informed conclusion relating to the phenomenon. Criterion sampling involves selecting cases that meet some predetermined criterion of important (Patton, 2002). My goal was to intentionally use a series of choices in relation to meeting the specific requisites for my study (Palys, 2008, p. 697). The sample survey was administered after providing an overview of research. Since I focused on students with nonresident fathers, only those experiences were included in the research.

Data were collected using documents, interviews, and observations by the investigator to develop a robust understanding and meaning involving students with nonresidential fathers. Each data source supported the collection process by adding a unique and different contribution of information. Documents were a primary source of evidence collected, including printed and electronic information (Bowen, 2009). For example, school reports, disciplinary records, and attendance provided an in-depth scope of the problem. These documents supplied background information that recorded their school experience.

An additional data source included was semi-structured interviews, which are less rigid and provided me with flexibility to adjust throughout the interview process (Patton, 2015). These interviews created a platform and an opportunity to hear participant's feelings, thoughts, and beliefs towards their nonresident fathers. After building initial trust, interviews

were conducted on a one-on-one basis to allow students to open up about their feelings.

Conducting research in direct settings was better suited within the semi-structured process to capture the richness of the experience by going deeper if needed and building on student's responses (Adams, 2015).

The final data analysis tool that was incorporated within my study was observations. Observations were incorporated as a means to corroborate previous findings (Jamshed, 2014). I observed students in a variety of settings such as in the classroom, cafeteria, and within the community to gather information that served as field notes for my journal. The importance of observing subjects as they interact and react to various stimuli within their environments was to capture an authentic perspective (see Patton, 2015). Student observations provided insight as to what replaces the void left by fathers as they navigate on a daily basis.

Data from my study were sifted and analyzed to search and interpret meaning of the results through coding and memoing (Wong, 2008). To accomplish this goal, I structured each case individually. First, I began by coding the documents, interviews, and observations. Coding was beneficial to my research because it allowed data to be collated into descriptive and interpretive themes. Descriptive coding assigns labels that summarize data into short phrases or a word (Miles et al., 2014). Interpretive coding extends beyond the sole description and made meaning of the human experience within the real-life context (Lopez & Willis, 2004). Each code contributed to sculpting the experiences of students with nonresident fathers in multiple settings. Creswell (2018) detailed how to execute memos by, "Writing in the margins of field notes or transcripts" (p. 183). For my study, it was important

to capture the fullness of experiences as they emerge. This information will then be transformed into themes to establish a procedure for interpreting the data.

Significance

Investigating the phenomenon continues to be significant as African Americans children living in homes without their fathers are more likely to be exposed to factors that plague urban communities (Caldwell et al., 2014; Jackson et al., 2019). As of 2012, approximately 57.6% of African American homes functioned without the presence of a father (US Census Bureau, 2018), creating opportunities that not only weakens the economic and social infrastructure, but it gives way for other influences to fill the void left. Although the benefits from a father's daily presence in the home can offset a myriad of obstacles that prevent Black children from succeeding, secondary options need to be explored in their absence. This study has the potential to equip community stakeholders and parents to better serve this group. Furthermore, knowledge from this study can support educators across the academic spectrum who instruct Black students including social and case workers. Finally, it was my intention that this study provides a transparent understanding of influences that replace the presence of nonresidential fathers as the literature remains fragmented. Subsequently, Chapter 2 will provide a detailed overview of the literature relating to my study, Black children living with nonresident fathers.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

The purpose of this ethnographic case study was to gain a better understanding of the influences that replace the presence of nonresidential fathers. Influence is defined as the people, experiences, or activities engaged in positively or negatively. This phenomenon is reported to exist in Black communities (Caldwell et al., 2011; Perry et al., 2011; Zhang & Fuller, 2012) where economic and social challenges are magnified due to the absent presence of fathers (Tanskanen & Erola, 2017). The absence of fathers may contribute to student's emotional well-being, academic and social development, and self-esteem (Bradshaw et al., 2020; Cartwright, & Henriksen, 2012; Gross, 2014; Maurya 2015). Rosenberg and Wilcox (2006) extended this notion further and suggested, "the way fathers play with their children also has an important impact on a child's emotional and social development" (p.12). Exploring relationships uncovered an aspect involving the problem within my study, students with nonresident fathers may experience academic and behavior difficulties within their environment (Goodrum et al., 2012).

Literature was examined to make meaning of student's experiences in a variety of authentic settings. Several authors have explored this matter in parts (Choi, 2010; Dyer et al., 2018; Gonzales et al., 2014); however, I used specific terms such as: *family history, father-child relationship, father's role in shaping children's development, child development, and parenting to define the phenomenon in totality through trusted research sources*, including ProQuest, Education Full Text, JSTOR, Education Resources Information Center (ERIC), and dissertations. These inquiries produced a substantial amount of evidence that served as a foundation for my investigation.

The evolution of the family structure, developmental effect of absent fathers, school experience, and educational leadership are four themes that were discussed within my theoretical framework. Each focus area provided an opportunity to examine the depth and breadth of multiple components that contribute to student's academic and social maturity. Early literature has explored the role slavery played in influencing the African American family unit (Candido & Oliveira, 2021; Gaskin et al., 2005; Tolman, 2011) along with mass incarceration of Black men (McDaniel et al., 2013). My rationale for selecting the evolution of the family structure was to fashion a historical overview of events that have influenced the current African American family such as causes and patterns that lead to father's absence (Pruett et al., 2014; Wood & Brownhill, 2017). Next, examining children's overall wellbeing guided me to investigate the developmental influence absent fathers have on their children. This perspective inspired me to explore the literature to ascertain how identity, emotional, and cognitive development is influenced by fathers (Cheadle et al., 2010; King & Sobolewski, 2006; Panter-Brick et al., 2014). Both areas served as a literary structure that supported my role as an ethnographic researcher and serves as a compass within the field.

The final two components, school experience and education leadership are equivalently important in providing a collection of literature that explores the phenomenon from an educational perspective. Investigating the school experience of children with absent fathers is fundamental in discovering academic and behavioral patterns (Bell, 2014; Henry et al., 2020). The purpose for selecting this topic was two-fold. First, my intentions were to explore how student's dispositions are shaped by their environment and how schools assimilate that knowledge within the classroom. From an education leadership perspective, I wanted to identify how schools support this specific population. The objective behind

selection of this topic was to identify ways leaders can improve the quality of instruction by providing teachers with a detailed blueprint of educational strategies. Each segment played a unique role in developing an exhaustive framework that clarifies, explains, and describes the phenomenon with anticipation of abating obstacles that have marginalized their experiences such as lack of support (Herndon & Hirt, 2004). The following sections are constructed to provide a crystallized understanding of the phenomenon from champions and researchers who have contributed to a diverse collection literature (Gaskin-Butler et al., 2012; Minniear & Soliz, 2019). Specifically, I examined current and historical literature to provide a detailed outline of factors that have reported on the purpose of my study, examining the influences that replace the presence of fathers.

The Evolution of the Family Structure

Prior to exploring the current state of African American families, it was critical to unveil factors that have influenced their evolution, beginning with slavery. While the African American or Black experience does not begin with slavery as described, the 14th century West African empire of Mali was larger than Western Europe and reputed to be one of the richest and most powerful states in the world (Klein, 1978). I examined the suppression of rights for enslaved Africans (Hunter, 2017; Jackson, 2015; Lenhardt, 2015). Evidence supports the contribution of slavery to American society from an economic and commodity production perspective (Pierre, 2020); however, reaching a consensus in terms of the effect slavery had on the Black family varies (Gutman & Sims, 1978). At the conclusion of the Civil War in 1863, African Americans for the first time since their arrival experienced freedom, but harsh realities soon followed as a result of systematic oppression (Shuster, 2018). According to Du Bois (1908), the essential features of the Negro union during slavery

were no legal marriage, no legal family, and no legal control over children. Slaves were not entitled to the benefits of matrimony; thus, a direct consequence of slavery is the absence of the marriage relation. With regard to the Black family, Du Bois writes,

There was the absence of the father-that is, the lack of authority in the slave father to govern and protect his family. His wife could be made his master's concubine, his daughter could be outraged, his son whipped, or he himself sold away without his being able to protest or lift a preventing finger. Naturally, his authority in his own house was simply such as could rest upon brute force alone, and he easily sank to a position of a male guest in the house, without respect or responsibility... The slave mother could spend little or no time at home. She was either a field-hand or a house-servant, and her children had little care or attention. She was often the concubine of the master or his sons, or if unmolested in this quarter, was married to a husband who could not protect her, and from whom she could be at any time be parted by her master's command or by his death or debts. Such a family was not an organism at best; and, in its worst aspect, it was a fortuitous agglomeration of atoms. (p. 49)

Du Bois' understanding of the Negro American family pre and post-emancipation was used as a reference for other 20th century scholars (Gutman, 1978); however, Frazier introduced the institution of slavery and the impact it had on families from a perspective that has been the subject of criticism and admiration (Semmes, 2021 & Hunter, 2006).

Frazier (1948) introduced the institution of slavery as a culprit that resulted in the Black family being matriarch dominant. Through his lens, Frazier argued, the absence of the masculine authority of Black males was displaced by the authority of the slave-master, creating a self-sufficient African American woman. When emancipation began, mothers depended on themselves to support their children as 15 to 25% of Black families were without male heads (Frazier, 1948). To advance this ideology, Moynihan (1997) assembled a comprehensive report under the Johnson administration to chronicle the fundamental problems of Black families. Moynihan (1997) reported that at the core of the deterioration of Black members of Negro society is the despair of the Negro family. This premise was further expounded using a phrased Moynihan coined, "tangle of pathology," which charged the

struggles of the Black community on a "Black sub-culture" (Aja et at., 2014; Krech III, 1982), or Black mothers who spearheaded their homes (Moynihan, 1997).

Reviewing the validity of Moynihan's conclusion was recorded in a seminal study that examined the effects of race, social class, and family organization (Berger & Simon, 1974). Data were collected from a sample of 14–18 year old's in the Midwest. To identify participants, a 45-minute questionnaire was distributed to more than 3,100 students. Berger and Simon (1974) indicated that Moynihan's theory concerning the tangle of pathology and the illegitimacy among single Black female families was not supported. In fact, there was minimal differences in ways Black families treated their children compared to whites regardless of socioeconomic status. Additional conclusions suggested even if Black children could not enroll in college, the aspirations were to attend, and finally, behavior problems regarding Black children cannot be causative related to single mothers only. In relation to my research, pathological conditions such as poverty and violence generated within families and transmitted to children may not be the sole responsibility of Black mothers as prescribed by Moynihan. Contrarily, among the historical records concerning the conditions of Black families includes the Kerner Report (1967). In response to the violence across urban communities in the United States, President Johnson commissioned a committee to address many defaulted policies plaguing Black Americans such as discrimination, segregation in employment, education, and housing (The National Advisory Commission on Civil Disorders, 1967). Black neighborhoods were segregated and poverty, crime, and drug addiction converged on the young, crippling the family structure (The National Advisory Commission on Civil Disorders, 1967). According to the report, "employment is a key instigator of marginalized families as Black men are three times more likely than white men

to be in low paying, unskilled jobs" (p. 23). The culture of poverty resulting from unemployment contributes to children growing up in financially handicapped families, squelching their pursuit of the American dream. Finally, Berger and Simon (1974) delivered an additional contradiction to the notion that often blames single Black mothers, suggesting the totality of parent's and environmental interactions are influential in shaping the behaviors of children.

Providing a tangible overview of the influences that have shaped Black families was essential to my study, particularly, as consequences of nonresident fathers have dominated the literature (Fagan et al., 2016; Jackson at al., 2012; Lee & Rispoli, 2018). Family outcomes such as poverty, adolescent delinquency, and violence have been associated with single Black mothers (Berryhill & Durtschi, 2016; Broussard et al., 2012) without including the causes that influence the historical and contemporary structure of Black households. Therefore, the aim of following section is to examine the economic inequities that have contributed to the disproportionate number of Black families living in poverty. Existing literature suggests homes without the presence of father's have a greater probability of experiencing financial and social hardships (Cancian & Haskins, 2014; Gradín 2012; Jocson & McLoyd, 2015); however, I inspected how social discrepancies such as the housing crisis and mass incarceration influenced Black families.

Economic Inequity

Following slavery, the Reconstruction Act of 1867 served as recipe for living in the south as Blacks began reaping the wrath of economic injustice in America. Under reconstruction, Blacks began sharecropping, or "renting" farmland, animals, tools, and houses through a landlord in order to meet their basic needs (Du Bois, 1910). African

Americans at this moment were physically free; however, economic reliance perpetuated a continuous cycle of debt. In addition, this systemic scheme allowed the landowner to continue to profit off the land while waging a wider gap in the financial disproportion between Blacks and whites (Bolton, 2004; King et al., 2018). Ladenburg (2007) stated:

Under slavery in 1860, almost all African-Americans worked either as farm laborers or as house servants. Thirty years later, in 1890, 21% were servants and 56% were farmers. By 1930, only one in ten remaining in the South owned the land they worked. Emancipation did mean freedom, but freedom for African-Americans often meant continuing to work the white man's land or to work in his house.

During the succeeding years, the way of life for African Americans became increasingly difficult as the rise of the Jim Crow or Black Code laws continued to muzzle their financial freedom (Logan, & Temin, 2020). By restricting access in public spaces, segregated classrooms affected the economic opportunities for the Black family structure (Hanks et el., 2018). Irons enlarges the effect of "Jim Crow Schools" by implying the obstacles facing Black students in the 1930's was financially driven (2004). He states, "In Jim Crow states that stretched from Delaware to Texas, local school boards spent almost three times as much on each white student as they did on Blacks" (p. 4). This funding disparity created fewer schools and produced fewer teachers for Black students (Perry et al., 2018). As a result, Lin and Harris (2009) stated Black and white children enter kindergarten with different levels of preparedness caused by disparities in household resources, parenting time, and other stressors, which influence a substantial racial gap before children enter school.

In contradiction to Moynihan's (1997) outlook where the limitations of Black households are commonly credited to single mothers, economic inequity stemming from systematic practices may be a perspective that has contributed to negative family outcomes.

Nevertheless, while the causes of poverty for the Black family can be debated, scholars agreed that the issue existed and set in motion key legislation such as the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and the Economic Opportunity Act of 1964 (Bailey & Duquette, 2014). Declaring a war on poverty, President Johnson enacted policies that would attempt to mitigate the catastrophic plague that ravaged the landscape during that period (Duncan & Brooks-Gunn, 2000). Although economic equity did not exist for men and women of color, governmental assistance programs such as food stamps were an attempt to supplement their difficulties (Hoynes & Whitmore Schanzenbach, 2012; Meyer, & Wallace, 2009); however, the impact of poverty on Black families remains detrimental (Carlson, & Magnuson, 2011; Damaske et al., 2017).

Poverty in the United States has often been attributed to household demographics such as two parent-families and education level (Chaudry et al., 2016; Damaske et al., 2017). Comparing the poverty rate among adult women supports a facet of my study relating to the influences that replace the presence of fathers. Eichner and Gallagher Robbins (2015) reported that Black women 25% were among the highest demographic living in poverty. In fact, 45% of single Black mothers lived in poverty compared to 32% of white single mothers. This understanding aligned with my study's purpose and the financial gap that may exist when fathers are not present (Burton, et al., 2017; Lu, et al., 2020; Threlfall et al., 2013). Winship et al., (2018) supported this claim, suggesting the inheritance of Black poverty is associated with men.

Drawing on the conclusion from previous investigators inspired me to introduce economic inequity in this section of the literature review. As an outcome, poverty can be classified using household income data (Assari, 2018; Semega et al., 2019); however, the

acquisition of economic disparity may not be singularly attained for many families (Dettlaff & Boyd, 2020). I highlighted the experiences that contributed to the wealth disparity following slavery to better understand the lack of economic affluence for Black families in America. The succeeding section will broach housing practices that have restricted the mobility of Blacks living in the United States. Topics in this selection will be designated to better understand how housing covenants influenced wealth.

Segregated Housing

Another factor that systemically attenuated the Black family was triggered by the housing industry with the practice known as redlining. Redlining was the discriminatory practice that mortgage companies introduced in the 1930s to restrict the approval of home loans for African Americans in certain areas (McClure et al., 2019; Werner et al., 1976). McCammon (2017) wrote:

As in many other cities, Black families suffered from racists practice such as redlining, which barred them from living in certain areas. One of the city's most famous developer, J.C. Nichols, was known for building subdivisions for several decades in the early 20th century that explicitly banned African Americans. (p. 8)

Racial zoning not only made it difficult for Black families to buy homes in white areas as surveyors color-coded neighborhoods according to their desirability (Goodman & Mayer, 2018; Hughes, 2019; Rappaport, 2010); but it contributed to the wealth gap between white and Black families (US Department of Housing and Urban Development, 2004). Oliver and Shapiro wrote, "locked out the greatest mass-based opportunity for wealth accumulation in American history, African Americans who desired and were able to afford home ownership found themselves...cut off" (p. 34). For a lot of African Americans in cities such as St. Louis, Chicago, and Atlanta, this restriction of home ownership led to residing in public housing units with deplorable living conditions (Eggleston & Munk 2019). Additionally, the lack of

homeownership not only financially hampered the existing African American family, but also reduced their future descendants through the transferal of property. Jones (2017) reinforced this understanding by writing:

Wealth allows families to transfer income earned in the past to meet spending demands in the future, such as by building up savings to finance a child's college education. Wealth also provides a buffer against economic security against periods of unemployment. (p. 1).

From this perspective, the gap in wealth is much larger than the disparities between generated incomes, as Gould (2017) stated, "Housing discrimination and housing segregation play an important role in the ability of Black households to gain wealth" (p. 2). As a result of covenant restrictions and redlining, Black families were financially limited in terms of where they could live and how much home they could afford, leading to another federal mandate, the Federal Fair Housing Act of 1968. Under this policy, equity principles were established to end discrimination against mortgage lending; however, urban dwellings that were once occupied by white Americans were now being populated by resourced maligned Blacks (Hardy et al., 2018).

Known as "white flight," the 1960's saw a mass migration of Black neighbors moving in white communities, resulting in their departure to the suburbs (Frey, 1979; Galster, 1990). The impact white flight had on the community was observed through the withdrawal of resources, causing property values to deteriorate (Blatto, 2018). Although declining housing values may make housing more affordable, social problems such as violence and drug abuse that may accompany urban decay often outweigh access to homes (Harshbarger, & Perry, 2019; Hernandez, 2014; Manduca & Sampson, 2019). Declining home values reduce the tax-base and financial resources that benefit and support the community (George et al., 2019; Herbert et al., 2013). Leachman, Masterson, and Figueroa,

(2017) maintained property tax is collected and allocated to supply public service budgets such as school districts, police departments, and streets. As property tax funds increase due to the home values, schools benefit (Bowling et al., 2019; Leachman et al., 2017). Conversely, when property values decrease, school budgets are affected, limiting the resources for instruction (Leachman & Mai, 2014).

Two other factors that play an impactful role on Black families, and to a larger degree, wealth produced from property are gentrification and eminent domain (Izenberg, et al., 2018; Richardson et al., 2020). Ruth Glass (1964) defined gentrification as the displacement of poorer residents followed by the infiltration of affluent and wealthier businesses and residents (Freeman, 2016). Gentrification played an important role on the Black family structure as white residents migrated into urban cities (Hwang, & Sampson, 2014; Maciag, 2015; Sutton, 2018). Communities and neighborhoods that were once affordable for African Americans were now unobtainable, causing families to vacate (Pineda, 2017). Pineda (2017) conducted a study of two cities in Harlem, New York and London, England for the purpose of measuring the effect of gentrification on lower-income families as middle-class residents moved in. Glass (1964) posited the primary effect of gentrification rested in the quality of education for students and even after middle class families moved in and strengthened the school system, low-income families were left with no option but to attend poor-performing schools.

Similarly, families experienced the effect of eminent domain as governmental agencies identified land suitable for roads, schools, and other businesses. Eminent domain is the power of the government to take private property such as homes for the purpose of public use (Gold & Sagalyn, 2010). This practice is responsible for uprooting families and small

"mom and pop" businesses (Saginor & McDonald, 2009) and replacing them with franchise properties. Furthermore, homes that were owned by Black families were compensated at an alarming or below market value rate (Early et al., 2018). In other words, if a family wanted to bequeath owned property as an inheritance to their children, they could not. Procuring wealth through homeownership financially supports future generations and models economic principles (Kadi et al, 2020).

Choi et al. (2018) examined intergenerational homeownership to determine the impact of parents' wealth on home buying for their children in 1999 to 2015. Parental homeownership can assist young children in gaining access to building future wealth while positively influencing healthy outcomes Choi et al. (2018). Data were collected using the Panel Study of Income Dynamics (PSID), linking parent's and young adult's homeownership. Implications reported that not only are Black parents (31%) less likely to be homeowners compared to white parents (71%), but Black families do not remain homeowners. Finally, research conclusively suggested young adults are more likely to own a home if their parents are homeowners, and the intergenerational transfer of homes generates wealth (p. 16).

In summary, housing practices were investigated in this section to emphasize its impact on Black families. Redlining and housing covenants played an influential role in the acquisition of wealth for African Americans parents and their children (Bowly, 2012; Neal & Walsh, 2020). Additionally, homeownership can play instrumental role in stabilizing the community by generating a tax base for schools and other city services (Hardy et al., 2018). Evidence shows housing practices are not the only influences that limited the advancement of Black families. In the following section, literature will be included to support the reader's

understanding of the damage caused by drugs on the African American community. The war on drugs contributed to the separation of Black fathers and sons from their community and will be examined in detail.

War On Drugs

Economic inequity and segregated housing were not the only influences that affected the evolution of the Black family as the number of drug abuser sprouted (Cooper, 2015). At the conclusion of the great depression, America was faced with new challenges as the drug epidemic infiltrated communities and ravished the cultural landscape (McWhorter, 2011). In an effort to curtail the pandemic, President Richard Nixon earmarked millions of federal funds and established the Drug Enforcement Agency in 1973 (Coyne & Hall, 2017). Under this framework, Nixon asserted drug abuse was public enemy number one, and users should be punished (Vulliamy, 2011). Cited by Sherman (2016), former domestic policy chief John Ehrlichman expressed,

The Nixon campaign in 1968, and the Nixon White House after that had two enemies: the antiwar left and Black people...We knew we couldn't make it illegal to be either against the war or Black, but by getting the public to associate the hippies with marijuana and Blacks with heroin, and then criminalizing both heavily, we could disrupt those communities. We could arrest their leaders, raid their homes, break up their meetings, and vilify them night after night on the evening news. Did we know we were lying about the drugs? Of course we did. (p. 1)

Conversely, not everyone shared the sentiment of Ehrlichman as Lopez (2016) posited, "Nixon's drug policies did not focus on the kind of criminalization that Ehrlichman described. Instead, Nixon's drug war was largely a public health crusade" (p. 2). Decoding the intention of the Nixon's policy may be ambiguous, however, many scholars concurred that public perception surrounding illicit drug abuse was exacerbated in conjunction to the policy's establishment (Johnson et al., 1996).

For example, inspecting the consequences of the media's coverage of white prescription opioid users compared to Black and brown heroin users from 2001 to 2011 was accomplished by Netherland and Hansen (2016). To support the contrasting perception and rhetoric relating to drug users, an analysis of 100 contemporary articles was reviewed. Netherland and Hansen stated:

Arising in tandem with, rather than in tension with, the official "War on Drug" and its mass incarceration of blacks and Latinos, white opioid images have helped to carve out a separate space for white opioid use in the popular American imagination, one that leads to racially stratified therapeutic intervention and works to further insulate white communities from black and brown drug threats, leaving intact law enforcement crackdowns on black and brown residents in the name of public safety. (p. 666)

Race was introduced as a method of distinguishing users according to urban and suburban geography. During the crack cocaine epidemic of the 1980's–1990's, policies demonized Black crack users, while white cocaine abusers were relatively unscathed. An additional factor that contributed to the perception of drug users emerged from the belief that opioid painkillers involved the white social class and abusers were portrayed as innocent victims, deserving of empathy (p. 669). Findings from this study reported drug use in the Black community received minimal news coverage compared to prescription users from 2001–2011 (p. 671). In fact, the media's omission pertaining to drug sales, crime, and violence in the Black community was marginal compared to the reported dangers of drug use in suburban white communities.

In general, the Netherland and Hansen's (2016) findings were not consistent with the media's representation of urban Black communities during the war on drugs era. For example, Ronald Reagan extended his presidential reach to discourage recreational drug use during the 1980's. Under the campaign "Just Say No," media outlets were used to spread fear

and criminalization of African American users throughout many communities, opposed to providing access to treatment (Bagley, 2018). Additionally, stricter consequences for drug offenses such as mandatory minimum sentences were dispensed for illicit drug use, leading to the mass incarceration of Blacks (Bowen & Redmond, 2016).

Including the war on drugs in my literature review provides a historical overview of policies that contributed to the disruption of Black families. Additionally, the role media played in reporting and representing the images of Black users aligned with my subsequent topic, mass incarceration. Removing African American men and fathers from homes creates a harmful effect on children and will be explained in detail (Western, & Pettit, 2010).

Mass Incarceration

According to the Bureau of Justice Statistics, 1 in 3 Black men can expect to go prison while 1 in 9 are fathers (Glaze & Maruschak, 2010; Peterson et al., 2015; Tucker, 2016).

Additional trends report, from 2008 to 2018, the imprisonment rate for Black residents was lower than any time since 1990 (Zeng, 2020); however, the incarceration rate for African American male population was 5.8 times that of white males (Carson, 2020). Particularly, at the end of 2017, Black males (2,336 per 100,000) represented almost six times the jailed population compared to white male (397 per 100,000) residents (Bronson, & Carson, 2019). Drug policies assisted in the arrest of African American men and women at disturbing rates compared to any other ethnic group in the United States between 1985-1997 (Fornili-Smith, 2018). Williams (2016) added the war on drugs was essentially a war on people and the destruction caused by imprisoned African American males created financial and developmental hardships on the family unit. Essentially, removing Black men from homes

creates an absence that impacts behavior and academic develop for children (Coates, 2015; Martin, 2017; Nepomnyaschy et al., 2021).

Geller et al. (2012) used data from the Fragile Families and Child Well-being Study to investigate the relationship between incarcerated fathers and the development of urban children. In total, 2,043 fathers reported being incarcerated prior to their child's fifth birthday (Geller et al. 2012). Using the Child Behavior Checklist, behavioral problems were measured for children at 5-years-old. Researchers anticipated children of incarcerated fathers would score higher in displaying aggressive behaviors (Geller et al. 2012). Likewise, the relationship between fathers and their families was projected to influence developmental outcomes for children. Findings determined children with incarcerated parents produced the highest level of aggression compared to their counterparts (p. 11). Other outcomes suggest children with incarcerated fathers achieved lower in attention ability than their peers. The purpose of my study, examining the influences that replace the presence of fathers, aligned with conclusions presented by Geller et al. as incarcerated Black fathers create a social and developmental void (Gifford, 2019; Julion et al., 2012; Poehlmann-Tynan et al., 2017).

Additionally, the intersection between the prison system and Black men has left a distasteful imprint within the community by deepening the economic disadvantages that contribute to poverty (Enns et al., 2019; Hinton et al., 2018). Childhood outcomes such as living in poverty can be influenced by the absence of incarcerated fathers (DeFina & Hannon, 2013; Morsy & Rothstein 2016; Roberts, 2004). Equally, men who were arrested are less likely to experience upward economic mobility and are at the bottom of the earning distribution (Western & Pettit, 2010a).

In conclusion, the evolution of the Black family structure was crafted to address systemic factors that influence children with nonresident fathers. Economic inequalities, segregated housing, the war on drugs, and mass incarceration have played a unique role in shaping experiences relating to Black families. In the following section, I will present an overview of the developmental impact of fathers. My aim was to examine the literature and formulate a foundation of knowledge as it associated with my research participants.

Developmental Effect of Nonresident Fathers

Longstanding research has acknowledged fathers as an important influence on their children in multiple phases of society (Carlson et al., 2016; Gray & Anderson, 2015). Over time, there have been shifts in the literature changing from depicting specific fathers as "deadbeat dads" and what they do not do for their families, to highlighting aspects of involvement and developmental influence (Yogman et al. 2016). Altering the perception of fathers has led to an investment in fatherhood initiatives that focus on strengthening father's parenting skillset (Tollestrup, 2018) along with exploring techniques that improve the fatherchild relationship (Cabrera et al., 2014). Exploring relationships provides an opportunity to examine the connection between fathers and their children. For example, fathers are often associated with engaging in "rough-and-tumble" play with their children, especially with their sons; helping them to not only attach to their fathers, but to learn self-control by regulating aggression (Panksepp et al., 2003). This type of play is a normal activity during preschool and early childhood. In addition to play, fathers provide children with a sense of security by establishing trust throughout development (Brown et al., 2012; Opondo et al., 2016). The effect of having a father establish a base of comfort for children is essential during development (Newland & Coyl, 2009).

Unfortunately, fathers who are not present as children grow and develop have an adverse impact on their children (Cabrera et al., 2018; Simmons et al., 2018). This understanding supported the purpose of my study, examining the influences that replace the presence of nonresident fathers; thus, the following components of child development will be investigated: (a) identity, (b) social, (3) emotional, and (d) academic. Exploring literature in each section will provide a better understanding of how children develop when fathers are not present in the home.

Identity Development

The ability to shape the identity of children is a process that involves parenting and environmental influences. According to many experts, babies are dependent on the physical and emotional relationship that caregivers provide during their developmental stages (McLanahan et al., 2013; Trivette et al., 2010; Waller & Swisher, 2006). Vygotsky (1973) who believed children value input from others along with their environment strengthens this understanding (Kozulin, Gindis, Ageyev & Miller, 2003). Described as the zone of proximal development, children are given opportunities to demonstrate specific skills under adult guidance (Goldstein & Urevick-Ackelsberg, 2008). For example, early childhood tasks such as tying shoes, brushing teeth, or riding a bike are skills that may be initially introduced by parents. Following the introduction, children are given the opportunity to demonstrate mastery of basic tasks in each skill before moving on to the more complex (Landry & Smith, 2010). Establishing boundaries during each phase allows parents to make adjustments that guide children towards mastery.

In addition to shaping identity within the physical environment, personality, described as the thoughts, feelings, and behaviors that distinguish one individual from another, is

impacted by caregivers who interact with children (Bhoite & Shinde, 2019). Personality development is an ongoing system of organized patterns of behavior that have been attributed to heredity and environment during the child-development stage (Hopwood et al., 2011). During this phase, how parents respond to children in certain situations help shape their personality. These parent-child interactions are essential to understanding the phenomenon of my study, examining the experiences of students with nonresident fathers. In other words, determining how personality and identity are developed and supported for children without the presence of fathers is my chief objective. Linking the father's attachment to children's identity development, Ball et al. (2007) advanced this knowledge by underpinning, resiliency, self-acceptance/self-esteem, and higher academic functioning as essential pillars that are associated with involved fathers.

Additional literature concentrating on African American fatherhood has added credible information to better understand the influence Black fathers have on their children's development (Aratani et al., 2011; Boller et al., 2006; Radl et al., 2017). In a study that investigated the living arrangement and involvement of Black fathers, Livingston and Parker (2011) reported that approximate 62% of Black co-resident fathers read to their young children several times a week, while 49% implied they talked to their child compared to 22% of Hispanics and 30% of whites fathers. Ransaw (2014) added that 77% of married Black fathers played with their children and 68% provided discipline.

In a qualitative research investigation that measured the perceived role of married African American fathers, examining the lived experiences was key. Murray and Hwang (2015) outlined two fundamental questions that provided direction for data collection: (a) What does it mean to be a good or responsible father, and (b) What is the role of fathers in

families? Purposeful, criterion, and snowball sampling was used to generate eight married African American male participants with an average age of 36 years old. In total, the average number of years married was 6 years, and all participants were married to Black women. The researchers used emails and telephone communication, semi-structured interviews, and field notes to collect data for this phenomenological study. This process permitted participants to provide a greater understanding of their experiences and perceptions. Data for this study were analyzed through triangulation and manual coding data with the software program, NVivo10.

Two themes emerged from the data and were reported in the findings (Murray & Hwang, 2015). Good fathers provide for their children, and they are physically and emotionally present (Murray & Hwang, 2015). Each participant identified financial responsibility and the significance of providing for their family. Describing their role as fathers, seven themes materialized from the participants' responses including: (a) provider, (b) role model/sex-role model, (c) disciplinarian, (d) leader, (e) supporter, (f) teacher/spiritual teacher, and (g) guide. These implications underscore the effect Black resident fathers play in supporting character development; however, emerging literature has scrutinized the contributions nonresident fathers have on the well-being of their children (Coates & Phares, 2019; Jones & Mosher, 2013; King & Sobolewski, 2006).

Previous data reported single mothers represent 50% of all Black households (Hamilton et al., 2012); therefore, examining child development outcomes will be vital to my study. The relationship between nonresident fathers and their impact on children has generated a variety of results over time. According to East et al. (2007), adolescents who experience father absence are more susceptible to having lower self-esteem and engage in sexual activities at an earlier age. In addition, the absence of fathers can reduce the time

single mothers have to discipline and supervise academic activities for children (p. 289), creating a void that effects development. East et al. stated:

Clearly, father absence has an impact on the health and well-being of children and may have an impact that reaches much further than adolescence. Father absence appears to contribute significantly to life adversity factors, including maladaptive behavior, poor academic achievement, low self-identity and risk behavior, including early sexual relations and drug use. (p. 292)

Extending this understanding, Coates and Phares (2019) added that nonresident father's involvement has direct impact on single mother's mental health and feelings of stress associated with parenting. In other words, indirect parenting practices and influences can impact child outcomes (p. 1689). Bronfenbrenner's (1994) perspective to child development underpinned this idea by implying learning occurs within the immediate environment and with interactions from adults. Seemingly, the context and the environment that surrounds children is essential to their development.

To conclude this section, fathers play an important role in shaping identify development in their children (Lamb et al., 1985). Examining a diverse collection of literature contributed to better understanding how identify is shaped for children with nonresident fathers and the adverse behaviors associated to their mental health. Subsequently, the following theme is incorporated in my literature review to identify how children develop emotionally. Emotional development was equally important for my study as children's emotions are often influenced by their environment (Leerkes & Bailes, 2019).

Emotional Development

Existing research on children's emotional development has contributed to better understanding the influences that impact growth (Jagers et al., 2018). Emotional development involves understanding what feelings and emotions are and how they occur in each

individual. In early stages of adolescent development, emotions help children regulate meaning from the world around them with the support of caregivers (Darling-Churchill & Lippman, 2016). Companionship patterns report children regulate their affect, thought, and actions through social interactions with the support of individuals who promote development (Rodgers et al. 2018). Therefore, the role family members play in creating a structure for adolescents to regulate emotions remains a crucial dimension in development (Elliot et al., 2016; Wikle et al., 2019). When applying this principle to my study, I sought to identify the influences that support emotional development for students with nonresident fathers by merging the literature that describes how emotions are formed and stabilized, with interview surveys that assess how emotions were formed in each participant.

The role resident fathers play in supporting their children's emotional development can be described as positively connected with father-child interactions. Cabrera et al. (2007) reported, "In terms of parent engagement, maternal supportiveness was unrelated to children's outcome at all ages, however, father supportiveness, was positively associated with children's emotional regulation at 2 years" (p. 2). Furthermore, children who grow up with fathers in the home are less like to exhibit behavior disorders, while enhancing self-esteem (Martinez et al., 2013). Allen and Daly (2007) supported this understanding and recommend fathers are essential to creating a tolerance for stress and frustration in children. Household data advances knowledge on emotional development by suggesting children who live in homes characterized by low levels of conflict fare better on socioemotional indicators than any other household (Rolle et al., 2019; Tamis-LeMonda et al., 2004).

Wikle and Hoagland (2020) performed an empirical study that investigated the family structure and the relationship interactions have on emotional development. Exploring the

construction of different households and the parent-child interactions are essential as family relationships influence development. The purpose of this study was to disaggregate nuclear, step, and single families to understand how adolescents responded to family members (i.e., parents, siblings, nonresident parents, and extended family) during social interactions. Participants in this qualitative analysis were initially sampled from a group of 1,824 adolescents between ages 15–18 (Wikle and Hoagland, 2020). Each candidate responded to survey questions that reported their happiness, sadness, and stress, producing a final sample of 1,735. Results indicated 84% of children in nuclear family homes spent time with a parent, while 72% of children in stepparent homes spent time interacting with adults (Wikle and Hoagland, 2020). For adolescents in single parent homes, 69% reported interacting daily with their resident parent, 4% of children in single parent homes spent time with their nonresident parent (Wikle and Hoagland, 2020).

Findings from this research aligned with the aim of my study by focusing on how emotional development is shaped for students who do not reside in the same home as the fathers. Specifically, better understanding how mothers and fathers provide a balance in developing the ability to regulate feelings and emotions for preschool aged children (Denham et al., 2003; Morrison et al., 2019). Failure to regulate emotions can cause young preschoolers to experience outbursts, tantrums, and other displays of defiant behaviors (Graziano et al., 2007). Also, the inability to control one's emotions can continue throughout the adolescent stages and lead to adverse behaviors (Kotila & Dush, 2013). As a remedy, caregivers' behavior is thought to contribute substantially in the area of development of self-regulation and emotional control as children rely parents to harness certain behaviors during infancy (Perry et al., 2018). According to Tominey et al. (2015):

Adults who adjust their caregiving style to meet the temperament and personality of their infant develop a strong goodness of fit, sending a message to children that they can be trusted and relied on. By two to three years, children develop expectations for the important people in their lives. If children learn that the adults in their lives will consistently respond with warmth and support, they are more likely to seek comfort from them and to look to them as role models of behavior. The shift of emotion regulation from a primary external process to a primary internal process relies on the foundation laid by the early attachment relationship. (p. 24)

Understanding how behaviors are supported and developed in children by adults can foster healthy relationships throughout development (Thomas et al., 2017). For example, spending time with children and engaging in face-to-face activities (i.e., talking, cuddling, and playing) strengthen the parent-child relationship. Also, spending time with children provide parents with opportunities to interpret the emotional expressions of their children by paying attention to facial cues and gestures (Tominey et al., 2015). Consequently, the removal of parents, particularly fathers can impact children's ability to develop skills that support their ability to process their emotional behaviors.

Racial gaps in socio-emotional development of early childhood students provide information comparing educational outcomes for Black children. According to Aratani et al. (2011), not only are African American children two-to-three times more likely to be suspended from school, but boys perform lower in the area of socio-emotional development. Aratani et al. stated, "African-American boys have significantly lower scores on socio-emotional development starting from 9 months to pre-school age and this gap remains significant even after controlling for SES and demographic characteristics (p. 7)." Compared to white children, the gaps in cognitive development emerge at 24 months for African American boys and continue to remain up to preschool.

Collectively, evidence reviewed in this section highlighted methods that promote emotional development. Cognitive stimulation for children plays and important role in

character development (Dyer et al., 2018). As a result, investigating influences that support emotional growth for children with nonresidential father is critical. Analyzing literature to improve my understanding of how children develop academically will be reviewed in the following section as kindergarten readiness and elementary achievement scores are often used to project student's postsecondary outcomes (Mann et al., 2016). Determining how environmental influences impact learning was paramount to address my research questions.

Academic Development

The acquisition of academic knowledge can be attributed to a variety of factors that impact children. For this section of my dissertation, exploring the literature to measure the influence resident and nonresident fathers have on academic progress was necessary as child rearing plays an essential role in children's growth and skill development throughout school. Multiple studies have pinpointed and acknowledged the role fathers play in supporting the academic development of Black children prior to entering the classroom (Coates, & Phares, 2014; Grantham, & Henfield, 2011). For example, parental involvement has not only been linked to children's academic performance but parent's education level can be used predictor educational success (Jaiswal, 2018). Measuring the influence of fathers and the academic achievement of urban children was recorded in a meta-analysis study. Drawing on the concept of involved fathers, implications from a variety of studies was reviewed to determine if father participation was associated with stronger academic and behavior outcomes (Jeynes, 2015). Sampling methods produced 66 studies with a minimal size of 1,611 participants. Overall, 63 out of the 66 studies indicated that father's overall involvement had a significant influence on achievement.

In addition, Jeynes (2015) maintained that fathers had a greater impact on elementary age children as development is more impressionable. When measuring the influence of parent's expectations on education for Black families, it was concluded that the correlation between parental expectations and reading was positively related to the time parents spent modeling and reading at an early age (Davis-Kean, 2005). This association was documented during the preschool stage where achievement among involved resident and nonresident fathers was measured to determine that children who lived with their father were more prepared for school (Whitney et al., 2017a). Jones and Mosher (2013) extended this understanding and report that among fathers who lived with their children, 30% helped their children with homework compared to 6.0% of fathers who did not reside in the same home as their children. Having a nonresident father negatively impacts children's academic achievement as students scored on average lower in math and reading (Radl et al., 2017; Somers et al., 2011).

The cognitive void created by nonresident fathers can gradually affect academic development as children advance throughout their educational experience (Posey-Maddox, 2017; Ward, 2008). According to Whitney et al. (2017b), students living with nonresident fathers experienced greater school failure as it relates to their cumulative GPA and academic performance, adding, "Fathers matter in the lives of adolescents. Within families, fathers add unique contributions depending upon their involvement behaviors, role types, and residency, to adolescents' school performance" (p. 116). When fathers are not present to support the academic needs of their children, that responsibility often transitions to mothers, grandparents, or guardians. In many cases, African American grandparents who assume the responsibility of raising children are older caregivers (Samuel et al., 2017) who require

information to help mitigate poor academic performance along with resources that address behavior related needs (Bertera, & Edmonds Crewe, 2013). Typically, grandparents assume this role in the absence of children's biological parents.

Student achievement and the economic status associated with parents has been used as an indicator that associates the educational success of children (Dubow et al., 2010). When examining the education status of students in the Kansas City region, it was reported that Black students in this urban area were not only two to three times more likely than white children to live in poverty, but adults who obtained a bachelor's degree was 20% Black compared to 42% of white residents (Boschma & Brownstein, 2016). The correlation between poverty and student achievement can have an impact on standardized assessments such as the American College Testing (ACT). The state average ACT score for Missouri was 21.6, with 21% representing families in poverty; compared to an average ACT score of 16.2 and a poverty rating of 38% for families represented in the urban area. This correspondence was significant to my study as the educational success of Black children who live in a home with limited financial resources are impacted by nonresident fathers. However, according to Astone et al., (2016), a difference in parenting practices among men involves residence, not income as nonresident fathers are less likely to read to their children and help with homework.

Evidence reviewed in this section supported my hypothesis and assumption that fathers play a meaningful role in supporting their children's academic development. More importantly, students residing in homes with nonresident fathers may encounter academic challenges as a result of environmental conditions (Cabrera et al., 2000). Conversely, fatherlessness inside the home does not unconsciously ensure children will have a negative

school experience. I sought to identify the influences that support academic achievement for this population. Discerning the influences that support children's social development will be reviewed in the succeeding section. Ultimately, the ensuing section will include an investigation of how children progress socially, along with personality development.

Social Development

Developing social competence enhances the ability to succeed across multiple settings including the school, community, and home (Domitrovich et al., 2017). Social skills involve regulating one's thoughts, feelings, and actions when engaging in relationships with peers or adults (Knox et al., 2011). Development for children can be supported by parents who decrease stress and other problematic behaviors inside the home (Yoon et al., 2018). McBride et al. (2002) suggested that fathers are essential stakeholders in promoting positive behavior in their children. Complementary findings described the relationship between fathers and their daughters as, "less sociable female children consistently had less involved fathers" (p. 23). Positive time fathers spend with children promotes social character in children in manner that compliments mothers. Conversely, the simple presence of fathers does not always benefit social development in children as antisocial and violent behaviors displayed by fathers can have a negative impact (McGinnis et al., 2018). Therefore, how children function inside the home reflects the interpersonal interactions that exists between parents and the environment. Fathers who are dedicated to promoting social stability for children can be described as emotionally warmth or the process of making children feel safe and secure (Iruka et al., 2015). Exploring this phenomenon was essential to my study as I identified the influences that support social growth for students with nonresident fathers, along with understanding ways that ensure children are secure.

An additional factor that influences social development in students is centered on the stress caused from violence in the urban community. The leading cause of death for Black youth between the ages 15–24 (Bryant, 2013; Cooper, & Smith, 2011) are guns (Harrell, 2007). Despite not being the target of violence, children exposed to domestic violence have a greater probability of experiencing psychosocial behavior problems (Levine et al., 2019). Exposure to violence can trigger aggressive behaviors (Wamser-Nanney et al., 2019) and cause anger, delinquency, and lead to violent crimes that mimic the behaviors that are present in the environment (Violence Policy Center, 2017). In addition, levels of post-traumatic stress and the impact it has on Black students has been recorded by investigators who aligned violence with academic achievement (Morsy, & Rothstein, 2019; Thompson, & Massat, 2005). According to Delaney-Black et at. (2002), violence contributes to deficits in reading and was related to a lower IQ (2002). Similarly, Torrats-Espinosa (2008) extended the impact of violent crimes on student achievement and reported that a decline in violent crimes was positively associated with an increase in student achievement in the area of mathematics and reading. Creating a safer neighborhood free from violent crimes is paramount as evidence suggests children living communities plagued by violence are academically disadvantaged and have lower attendance (Schwartz et al., 2022); however, children who do not have means to leave may benefit from social support services (Gutowski et al., 2017).

Understanding how children cope with stress caused by violence in their communities is an important aim for my study. Examining the process of trauma sensitivity aligned with the problem of my study, students living in homes with nonresident fathers as Bartlett et al. (2017) stated, "All children benefit from stable, safe, and nurturing relationships and environments. However, these relationships and environments are particularly important for

young children who experience trauma" (p.7). The positive presence of fathers can stabilize and help children cope with past traumatic experiences which call for support (Parson et al., 2018). However, when fathers are not present, determining what steadying influence increases children's ability to cope with the stress is essential.

In this section, I examined a wide-range of literature to provide a holistic overview of the impact nonresident fathers have on the identity, emotional, academic, and social development of their children. The interaction between fathers and their children is reported to have an influence on children's overall growth and development (Allgood et al., 2012; Cabrera et al., 2008; Mandara et al., 2005). Advancing my understanding among fathers and their children does not diminish the role Black mothers play in providing structure and support for children, nor can the positive impact of single mothers be overlooked. However, my research focuses on providing Black families with supports that maximize potential success in place of fathers who do not reside in the home with their children. The following section in this literature review will focus on the school experience for students with nonresident fathers. Investigating these experiences is necessary in determining the influence fathers have on prekindergarten to 12th grade students in urban school settings.

School Experience

Examining the lived school experience of students was accomplished by uncovering meaning within the literature to better understand the factors that affect learning. For individual students, there can be multiple influences that promote a successful experience such as the school climate (Atiles et al., 2017) or the relationships between teachers and students (Gutierrez, & Buckley, 2019). Thus, previous studies have contributed to better understanding these experiences and this framework will be used a guide for my research

(see Gewertz et al., 2020). Specifically, my exploration concentrated on the K-12 school experience of Black children, residing in the urban core. Students spend a significant amount of time at school; therefore, I also investigated studies that include an inside view of their thoughts, feelings, trials and triumphs to determine if participants in my study share similar experiences.

What is known about how Black children learn has been documented from varying perspectives that inform stakeholders of the educational outcomes of students (Anderson, 2015). For example, the label school to prison pipeline has been applied to project the outlook of elementary school age Black boys based off suspension information and test scores (Wilson, 2015). Despite its popularity, the term has proven to cause more harm for students of color such as defiance or loss of self-esteem (Raufu, 2017) while contributing to negative stereotypes that affect how white teachers view Black students (Battle, 2017). Another issue that has been presented concerning Black children's educational success attribute students' struggles with social conditions such as poverty and household demographic (Rothstein, 2014) while neglecting the potential implicit and explicit bias that may exist in educators. Mitigating biases and other barriers that deter instruction can lead to a successful school experience that embodies the vision of everyone involved in the learning process.

To advance my understanding of the phenomenon, Black children living in homes without the presence of their fathers and their school experience, I evaluated four components within the literature: (a) school culture (b) social relationships (c) student achievement (d) student perception. The purpose of this section was to examine each theme comprehensively to report on the experiences of children in their school setting and to

determine if students with nonresident fathers share a different school experience. Including the school experience as part of my research contextualizes immediate and long-term elements that influence learning throughout student's K-12 experience; particularly as the time spent in school is responsible for contributing to postsecondary success. Poverty and SES status are often used to associate with a student's educational outcome; thus, exploring these influences may identify successful and ineffective practices that impact Black students.

School Culture

Establishing a healthy school culture is instrumental in promoting successful achievement for students irrespective of their setting (Dinsdale, 2017; Hierck & Peterson, 2017; Madden, 2017). Described as the shared values, behaviors, and relationships among individuals in the school, culture encompasses the written and unwritten expectations that influence teaching and learning (Kane et al., 2016). In this study, I included a range of influences that impacted school culture, beginning with school climate. Gauging the climate of the school is an active process that involves assessing the collective attitudes and beliefs of students, school personnel, and parents on a consistent basis (National School Climate Council 2007). According to the National Center on Safe and Supportive Learning Environments (2019), school climate can be described as a tenet that contributes to the school culture:

School climate reflects how members of the school community experience the school, including interpersonal relationships, teacher and other staff practices and organized arrangements. School climate includes factors that serve as conditions for learning and that support physical and emotional safety, connection and support, and engagement. (p. 2)

The benefits of creating a positive school climate includes increased student achievement and fewer discipline problems (Payne, 2018; Smith et al., 2014). Conversely, a negative school

climate can also decrease student achievement, learning, and morale (Berkowitz et al., 2017; Perkins, 2005).

Many urban schools are characterized by poor academic performance, violence, and subpar resources such as textbooks and technology (McKinney et al., 2004; Schaffer, White, & Brown, 2018). Hudley (2013) added, "the education that poor, urban students in public schools receive is demonstrably insufficient to make them competitive with their more advantaged, middle-and-upper income peers" (p. 1). Receiving academic instruction in a less affluent school does not guarantee unfavorable outcomes for individual students in urban school; however, it may assert negative perceptions that potentially impact learning (Ahmed et al., 2018; Johnson, 2016). For example, two themes often applied to describe school culture are student achievement and discipline referrals (Gregory et al., 2010; Ma, & Williams, 2004; Rutledge et al., 2012). Research using datasets that control for discipline referrals reported that Black students are suspended or expelled more than any other student demographic (Nishioka, Shigeoka, & Lolich, 2017; Riddle, & Sinclair, 2019; Rudd, 2014). Nationally, despite comprising of approximately 15% of all students K-12, Black boys and girls received disproportionately 39% of all suspensions (Losen, & Martinez, 2020; Smith, & Harper, 2015). Examining previous disaggregated data highlighted infractions that have influenced suspensions. Overwhelmingly, defiant behavior along with inappropriate language were two infractions that prompted disciplinary action for Black students (McIntosh et al., 2017; Osher et al., 2015). School discipline is an integral part of the culture that reflects the actions of students, teachers, and building leaders. Subjective referrals such as defiance of authority can be considered an issue involving interpretation and perception than disrespect (Eden, 2019; Girvan et al., 2017).

For instance, Black girls have been mislabeled as angry, aggressive, or promiscuous, leading to being overly punished for their behaviors (National Women's Law Center, 2017; Rosenthal, & Lobel, 2016). These stereotypes have inappropriately escalated how adults respond to the behavior of Black girls (Epstein et al., 2017). Woods (2016) wrote:

As children or adults, Black girls are treated as if they are supposed to "know better," or at least "act like" they know. The assignment of more adultlike characteristics to the expression of young Black girls is a form of age compression. Along this truncated age continuum, Black girls are likened more to adults than children and are treated as if they are willfully engaging in behaviors typically expected of Black women – sexual involvement, parenting, or primary caregiving...This compression is both a reflection of deeply entrenched biases that have stripped Black girls of their childhood freedoms. (p. 13)

Accelerating the perception of Black children's youth can enable school officials to render harsher punishment for similar behaviors as white students (Annamma et al., 2016; Ferguson, 2020; Wun, 2014). Additionally, hearing what you cannot do, or that your behavior is not appropriate for school can affect the esteem of young and old students (Bratter et al., 2016). For this reason, parents and guardians can disassemble negative stereotypes by reinforcing affirmations. Regularly expressed positive affirmations can offset the misperceptions that society places on Black children (Goodwill, 2021; Successful Black Parenting, 2018; Williams et al., 2017). Positive affirmations relate to the purpose of my study, examining the influences that replace the presence of fathers to determine who or what affirms the innocence, beauty, and brilliance in Black girls. Likewise, recognizing who advocates for Black boys when their behaviors are deemed defiant or inappropriate was also a focal point of my study. In both cases, adults' inaccurate perceptions of Black students can be harmful and detrimental to the school culture (Essien & Wood, 2020; Kunjufu, 2000).

The previous section illustrated the health of the school serves as a trajectory for social growth and achievement as many experiences of students are influenced by human

relationships (Garver, & Noguera, 2012). According to studies involving school culture, the correlation between environmental behaviors and student outcomes are essential (Fluke et al., 2015; Noltemeyer, & Ward, 2015); therefore, the quality of the physical school building along with student's attitude, behaviors, disciplinary actions, and violence all impact the overall climate (Darling-Hammond, & Cook-Harvey, 2018; Kutsyuruba et al., 2015). In urban schools where data were collected for my study, threats to property and persons may contribute to a negative school climate that can impact learning (see Christensen, 2007; Lacoe, 2016). The subsequent section will isolate influences that have impacted and support academic achievement for Black students.

Academic Achievement

Historically, the educational journey for Black scholars in America has produced exceptional teachers, engineers, doctors, and entrepreneurs despite obstacles that have obstructed learning. From anti-literacy laws such as the 1740 Negro Act in South Carolina that prohibited Blacks from legally reading to school segregation, the success of African Americans through education could be described as challenging, and a test of resolve (Robson et al., 2019; Rothstein, 2013). As a result, many African Americans "pre and post" Civil War recognized the indispensable power of literacy (Downs, & Masur, 2017). Washington (1901) wrote:

From the time that I can remember having any thoughts about anything, I recall that I had an intense longing to learn to read. I determined, when quite a small child that, if I accomplished nothing else in life, I would in some way get enough education to enable me to read common books and newspapers... At that time there was not a single member of my race anywhere near us who could read (p. 3).

In pursuit of educational equality, the power of literacy can cultivate skills and abilities that strengthen self-sufficiency (Lacour, & Tissington, 2011; Lawton, & Warren, 2015; Williams,

2009). Principles relating to the significance of literacy remain valuable today as readiness and reading scores are frequently used as a barometer that projects the education outcomes of Black students. Given this association, the relationship between kindergarten readiness and achievement has been examined (Hatcher et al., 2012; Goldstein, McCoach, & HuiHui, 2017) and determined that early academic and behavior issues are readily discernable and reliable indicators for future academic and social failures (Stormont et al., 2014).

In a recent study comprised of 198 African American kindergarteners, Blankston, et al. (2019) used cognitive predictors to measure achievement. Using a variable-centered perspective, the investigators hypothesized fluid intelligence, executive functioning, and crystallized intelligence can be distinguished prior to children entering kindergarten (p. 1276). Improving this understanding can play an important role in how African American children acquire early academic knowledge. To complete this study, participants were recruited from pre-K programs across southeast United States. Measuring fluid intelligence was assessed using the Woodcock-Johnson Test of Cognitive Abilities and Raven's Coloured Progressive Matrices, while executive functioning was measured using hearts and diamonds and fish flanker tasks. For this procedure, children were shown a picture of a heart or flower on either the left or right side of the laptop. When the picture of the heart appeared, they were to press the button on the corresponding side. Conversely, with flower appeared, they were to press the button on the opposite side. The flanker task instructed children to focus on three fish on a computer screen. They were to press a button in the direction that the middle fish was pointing. Finally, crystallized intelligence was measured also using Woodcock-Johnson Test of Cognitive Abilities.

Findings were consistent with other studies that suggests children with higher executive functioning and crystallized intelligence are predictors of academic achievement (Sabol, & Pianta, 2012). Children with enriching early language experiences, have objects labeled for them at a young age, and are exposed to a wide vocabulary perform better in vocabulary development. Blankston et al. (2019) reported that the ability to access verbal and general information through language is important for children's early math and reading abilities. On the other hand, fluid intelligence was not related to early math and reading achievement in this research project. Conclusions correlate with my research by focusing on improving the quality of education for African American. Other studies have examined academic readiness of Black children in that it only included Black students (Welsh et al., 2010). Also, implications from this study relate to my investigation and the need to identify the influences that replace the presence of Black fathers as early language and vocabulary development are associated with achievement (Smith et al., 2017). Determining how these skills are developed in the absence of fathers may be paramount to my study.

Disaggregating reading and math data adds a better understanding of the academic achievement for Black students. According to the Condition of Education (2020), Black fourth grade students scored (204) below their white counterparts (230) in reading proficiency. This trend continued at eight grade as the average reading score for Black students was 244 compared to 272 for white students (p. 7). Exploring the gap in achievement has been documented from multiple investigators who seek to better understand student outcomes and influences that contribute to school success (Blagg, & Luetmer, 2020; Gardner et al., 2014).

Hung et al. (2019) explored the achievement gap across school districts in the United States over a 5–year period. To complete this study, 2,868 Black and white school districts were compared to determine the influences that contribute to the achievement gap. Factors such as the number of students enrolled special education programs, total per pupil expenditure, and household unemployment status were all included to identify achievement for students. The authors reported that the household adult education attainment was the most significant contributor to the gap in achievement between Black and white students (Hung Smith, et al., 2015). The association between poverty and academic achievement revealed that 32% of Black students attended schools that met the poverty threshold scored lower on academic assessments (de Brey et al., 2019). This premise correlated with my study as two-parent families were less likely to live in poverty compared to single mother families (Dalaker, 2019).

One final topic explored to determine its impact on school culture and academic achievement involved postsecondary transition. Generally, schools plagued by poor academic performance are more susceptible to obstacles that reduce student graduates (Ohlson et al., 2016; Tus, 2020). According to Cheeseman Day (2020), the gap between Black graduates is 88% and the national average of 92% continues to narrow. Narrowing the graduation gap is essential as it signifies that students have demonstrated a baseline of skills that can prepare them for postsecondary living (Clark, & Martorell, 2014; Jimenez, & Sargrad, 2018); however, Black students on average scored 17.9 on the ACT in 2018 compared to 23.4 for white students and the national average of 22.2 (ACT Profile Report, 2018). Disaggregating this data further reveals that 15% of Black students met the College

Readiness Benchmarks compared to 57% of white students and 47% for students across the country (ACT Profile Report, 2018).

Research reviewed in this section provides support relating to the acquisition and significances of academic achievement. Overall, these data were included to represent achievement for Black students, while highlighting the complexities associated with successful academic outcomes. The following section will examine the importance of social relationships among children. Relationships are essential and play a valuable role on students' success inside school setting (Aldridge & McCheney, 2018; Aldridge et al., 2018; Dou, Devos, Valcke, 2016).

Social Relationships

The relationships that influence behaviors within the school system will be explored in this section beginning with student to student or peer interactions. Johnson (1981) suggested that peer relationships are essential for academic achievement, socialization, and healthy development. Johnson continued his assertion by suggesting the relationships between students has a greater influence on their attitudes toward school compared to their relationship with teachers due to the frequency and direct interactions with peers. Under this structure, education can be regarded as a social process where children assimilate their norms based on the attitudes, views, and values of their peers. In a more recent study, Busching and Krahe (2020) examined the influence of peers on development. They suggested that during adolescents, primary caregivers become less important in the classrooms as peer interactions promote prosocial behaviors. Literature further proposes that during preschool years through adolescence, social-emotional capabilities are developed and positive peer relationships predict better health (Pepler, & Bierman, 2018; Telzer et al., 2019).

These conclusions are consistent with Maunder and Monks' (2019) work on friendships during middle childhood. Participants in this study were selected via opportunity sampling through personal contacts, yielding a total of 314 7–11-year-olds. Students were given an approximate 20-minute questionnaire that measured self-worth, self-concept, and social identity across 29 items. It was anticipated that the quality of a child's best friend may influence the relationship between self-worth and levels of friendship. Outcomes from this research indicate that peer relationships were positively correlated with self-worth. Also, children with poorer quality friendships tended to score worse on the self-worth assessment if they had less reciprocated friendships. Although the researchers exclusively examined the relationships between white children, I applied similar procedures such as questionnaires to measure the quality of relationships among Black students. Peer information can aid in identifying how parents assist Black children in regulating adverse friendships; hence, one aspect of my study was to determine how parents assist their children in processing negative peer interactions. For example, when measuring the influence of peers in the development of social anxiety, Pickering et al. (2019) indicated that peer acceptance was associated with selfperception (p. 352). Determining how children cope with self-perception in connection friendships was paramount.

Additionally, the relationship between students and teachers is important to students' success due to the frequency of interactions (Dennie et al., 2019; Goetz et al., 2021; Prewett et al., 2018). Classroom relationships can be influenced by teacher characteristics, student characteristics, and factors within the environment (Halladay et al., 2020; Newberry, 2010; Vincent et al., 2017). Positive student-teacher relationships are not only instrumental for student engagement (Martin, & Collie, 2019), but these interactions contribute to reducing

teacher attrition that is a result of stress and burnout (Split et al., 2019). Conversely, negative relationships can impact teacher's perception of students and lead to disciplinary consequences such as referrals or suspensions (Corbin et al., 2019; Longobardi et al., 2018; McGrath, & Bergen, 2015). For example, based on previous studies, teachers may be more inclined to label the behaviors of Black children as "troublemakers," implying that students will repeat this behavior throughout their school experience (Okonofua et al., 2016).

Examining the relationship between classroom climate and student-teacher relationships among at-risk students was measured in a recent study (Moen et al., 2019). Moen et al. (2019) determined that children in classrooms where emotional support was present experienced overall greater improvement. Participants for this study included 93 early childhood educators and 267 children from low backgrounds (Moen et al., 2019). Of the 267 students, 70.5% were white and 4.1% were Black (Moen et al., 2019. The quality of student-teacher was assessed using Student-Teacher Relationship Scale (STRS). Collected data from surveys and 20-30 minute observations produced three themes including: (a) student-teacher conflict, (b) student-teacher closeness, and (c) overall student-teacher relationship (Moen et al., 2019. Findings from this study indicated that the student-teacher relationship among preschool students was impacted by high levels of emotional support. In addition, positive relationships were built through warm interactions and support within the classroom. These social behaviors allowed students to forge closer and less conflicted relationships with teachers and other students.

Despite the difference in the ethnic background and age of participants, Moen et al.'s study outlined an important framework that was used to investigate the relationship among high school students with nonresident fathers and their teachers. In my study, I explored how

urban school teachers influenced learning in their classroom as student-teacher relationships are essential to fostering a positive school culture where students can be socially connected to learning environment (Darling-Hammond et al., 2020; Rubie-Davies, 2010). Also, similar to this study, I focused on how environmental influences such as poverty impact cognitive development and the relationship between students and teachers. I focused on the role teachers play in promoting or suppressing adverse behaviors that may be present in students as a result of their environment.

In summary, relationships between students and adults influence achievement and social growth. Relationships motivate students to perform their best, or they can adversely impact learning (Back & Lee, 2015). The following section will examine student's perception of their academic experiences. Including the voice of students played an instrumental role in my research study.

Student Perception

Incorporating the perceptions of students can added an authentic voice to my research that detailed their school experience. In this study, student perception was described as the thoughts, beliefs, and feelings, relating to the relationships and building climate that make up their school experience. Several investigations of African American students have reported on the conditions and outcomes that are often quantified by statistics and data sets (Bjorklund-Young, & Stratte Plasman, 2020; Cowan Pitre, 2014; Nishioka et al., 2017). However, despite these contributions, there remains a disconnection that includes the voice of Black students (Barnes & Eadens, 2014). As part of my research investigation, understanding the lived academic experiences for 12th grade students with nonresident fathers utilized the voice of students to determine if the literature aligned with the perceptions of my

research participants. For example, in an analysis examining the impact of zero-tolerance policies on Black male students, Canton (2012) included narratives to suggests that punitive measures such as suspensions and reprimands contributed to their school failure. This understanding was also assessed by Billy-Mohamed (2014) who proposed that the attitudes of African American students in grades four through six would impact their achievement. Although implications from Billy-Mohamed's study represented no significant relationship between Black student's school perceptions and achievement, results indicated a positive correlation between self-perception and academic success.

Other findings reported on African American student's perception and the contributions of teachers who help shape their experiences (Gutierrez, & Buckley, 2019; Pringle et al., 2010). For example, in a study that examined the perception of teachers on Black middle class students, Allen (2010) shared one participant's response,

She doesn't know my name, like, just the other day we were having a test review game and like she was throwing popsicle sticks out of the [cup], and I'm like, you know I'm the only Black kid in your class, uh, next to three other Black kids in there, and I'm like one of the goofiest ones in there and so she pulls my name out and she goes 'D-D-Darrell?' And it's her own handwriting and everything and I'm like, 'Come on now, lady. I've been in your class now about four months now and you don't know my name.' She doesn't know me or anything like that. (p. 12)

This student's experience is one example that highlights the relationship between students and teachers and how the unconscious mind can shape teacher's expectations for students (Staats, 2015). Additionally, this study was unique because the researcher examined the perception of Black children in middle class schools, opposed to other studies that regularly focus on children with low SES (Gregory et al., 2011; Nelson, 2016). For my study, I explored similar relationships such as how students' physical appearance is perceived including how they dress and their mannerism.

Additional factors impacting student's perception of their teacher and school have been identified by many writers as racial macroaggression (Allen et al., 2013; Hotchkins, 2016; Morales, 2020). Implicit bias has been documented from scholars who reported on the punitive consequences in response to behaviors of Black students (Jacoby-Senghor et al., 2016; Marcucci, 2019). Racial disparities between white and Black students were measured in a qualitative study that examined the support students receive from their teachers (Bottiani et al., 2016). Data for this study were composed from white (12,662) and Black (7,062) students attending 58 high schools in northeastern United States. Students were given an anonymous online survey to complete that reported their perception of the support they received at school. Data were collected using sample questions such as my teacher's care about me, my teacher's listen when I have something to say, and my teachers believe that I can do well. Results for this study indicated that Black male students were significantly positively associated with perceived caring, but negatively associated with high expectations. Other findings indicate that both Black and white students benefit from supportive adults, however, the equitable treatment among teacher was not equally distributed. Finally, Bottiani et al.'s (2016) study reported that negative interactions with adults can lead to increased disciplinary issues. As it relates to my work, I will also measure elements that involve caring when asking participants to describe their school experience.

One final purpose for including the voice of Black students when examining their experiences is to determine the validity surrounding the notion that Black children do not care about their education. Certain perspectives relating to Black students have been inaccurately reported based on culture indifferences and misinterpretations of behavior and past academic performances (Anderson, 2016; Douglas, et al., 2008). For example, it may be

convenient to characterize urban schools as underperforming and overlook the lack of resources such as high-level math and science courses (Same et al., 2018). This relationship may contribute to teachers' negative perception of Black students. To offset this claim, one could examine the increase in the number of Black students graduating across the United States can serve as an indicator that Black children are in fact cognizant of their educational outcomes (Grunewald & Nath, 2019). According to Anderson (2018), many African American students felt prepared for college despite not knowing how they would pay for it. Despite the opinions surrounding Black children's academic and social goals, my study includes a firsthand account of their school experiences.

In this portion of my literature review, I introduced the experiences that influence the social and academic achievement for Black students. Establishing a positive school culture along with developing positive relationships were essential to students in my study. In the subsequent section, I will examine multiple aspects of education leadership and the responsibility schools play in promoting student success, beginning with the school environment.

Education Leadership

Building leaders share a responsibility in ensuring the safety and academic success for every student under their supervision (Allen et al., 2015; Richard & Rodger, 1987; Sanchez et al., 2020; Sebastian, & Allensworth, 2019; Youngs, & King, 2002). For many outside observers, advancement towards this goal has produced marginal gains for Black children in urban schools that may be plagued by poverty and poor performance (Boschma, & Brownstein, 2016; Fahle et al.., 2020; Lewis, & Hunt, 2019; Marchand et al., 2019). Still, bridging this multifaceted divide is attainable and may implore leaders to apply various

techniques for achievement such as creating a space for parental collaboration, adopting a student-centered approach, or improving the school culture (Adkins-Sharif, 2020; Blagg, 2016; El-Mekki, 2020). Each element can play a distinct role in bolstering achievement for Black students; however, this section of my research proposal will focus on four topics: (a) school environment, (b) instructional leadership, (c) culturally responsive pedagogy, and (d) teacher evaluation.

Historical and current data regarding Black students have delivered a comprehensive representation of the challenges and accomplishments for urban school leaders (Generett, & Olson, 2020; Gehrke, 2005; Hampton, 2014; Rist, 1973). During different periods of this process, stakeholders have focused on accountability and instructional methodologies for principals and teachers alike (Lavigen, 2020). One aspect of this development has placed an emphasis on teacher evaluation and the effective ways of creating a nurturing learning environment (Basileo, & Toth, 2019; Rigby, 2015). Evaluating effective and subpar teaching strategies is instrumental in creating a process of accountability that encourages self-reflection, data assessment, and provides feedback to help differentiate teacher's performance (Aragon, 2018). When applied to the purpose of my study, examining the experiences that replace the presence of Black fathers, it is hypothesized that these strategies will support positive outcomes for students in urban schools.

School Environment

Inside the toolkit of an effective leader are accessible skills that can be used to navigate a variety of academic conditions (Beteille et al., 2009; Farah, 2013; Grissom et al.,

2015; Stronge et al., 2008). At the heart of this phenomenon is the necessity to establish a healthy school culture (Dinsdale, 2017; Doll, 2010; Habegger, 2008) through positive relationship with students, teachers, parents, and staff (Konishhi & Park, 2016; Thapa, & Cohen, 2013). Relationships are indispensable building blocks for principal leaders who seek to improve the success of students through collaboration from teachers and other adults (Fournier et al., 2019). Additionally, there is a clear consensus that creating a nourishing environment advances the vision of the school in varied settings (Baker, & Bloom, 2017; Tschannen-Moran, & Gareis, 2015). Berkowitz et al. (2016) upheld this understanding and reported that positive school culture can mitigate negative contributions of lower socioeconomic schools. In a study that measured the effectiveness of urban principals in turnaround schools, Meyers and Hambrick Hitt (2017) reviewed 18 empirical studies for the purpose of classifying themes. According to Meyers and Hambrick Hitt, the term "turnaround principal" is described as an individual who possess rare talent for leading declining schools to educational progress (p. 39). Collecting literature relating to principal turnaround was achieved using keyword searchers through multiple search engines, yielding 2,883 results. After reading the abstracts, 20 articles were identified as empirical, and based on turnaround schools. Of the 20 articles originally selected, a total of 18 were reviewed throughout this study. Procedurally, sorting the literature prompted investigators to code articles into themes that classified data into small units Meyers and Hambrick Hitt (2017). Results from this project suggest that the goal of turnaround principals is to establish, shape, and implement a vision that is focused on high academic expectations. To accomplish this goal, it was reported that turnaround principals cannot sacrifice cohesiveness among the staff, but demonstrate trust by leveraging stakeholders in pursuit of the "common good." One final

implication that was gleaned from this study was the need to pinpoint the causes of school failure and methods to improve a safe climate that is focused on teaching and learning. The purpose of this goal was to analyze the current situation and determine how leaders can strategically respond to the needs of the school while progressing towards the school's goals.

Similar to this project, my study took place in an urban setting where principal leadership is essential to improving the overall culture within the building. Consistent relationships within the school can support social-emotional development that may or may not be present inside the home (Alzahrani et al., 2019; Mitgang, 2013). Additionally, I found the importance of reestablishing the vision of the school through relationships that enhance achievement. Under the supervision of building leaders, establishing strong relationships for students is valuable (Will, 2019; Wilson, 1999).

An additional element that is important for principal leaders who seek to maintain a positive school culture is trustworthiness. Creating a safe space can support educator's ability to express their voice in order to meet the goals of the school is critical. Researchers suggested trust across the school affects much of the daily functioning (Balyer, 2017; Lasater, 2016). For urban schools, this principle is critical as leaders are under pressure to increase student achievement and prepare scholars for their postsecondary transition (Whiteman et al., 2015). Harris et al. (2013) extended this understanding and suggest that effective school leaders are who are able to build and foster trust inspire and motivate others to improve the educational outcomes by aligning strategies that move toward their goals with trust.

In an investigation that measured relationships among principal leadership, school climate, and student achievement, Tschannen-Moran and Gareis (2015) reported that the

principal's trust was an essential ingredient in high-performing schools. Data were collected from 3,215 teachers across 64 urban and suburban elementary, middle, and high schools to assess the strength of relationships. It was hypothesized that faculty trust in principals will significantly and positively be related to instructional leadership behaviors and student achievement. Electronic and paper surveys were distributed anonymously to garner authentic results. The measure of student achievement was mildly associated with principals who established trust among faculty. However, data further revealed that school climate was strongly associated with academic success. Data were collected from a diverse sample of teachers in urban and suburban schools. I applied aspects of this project by assessing the role school leaders, teachers, and the school culture played on academic achievement for participants in my study. Specifically, one of my goals was to determine how urban schools support the behavior and academic needs for students with nonresident fathers. Investing resources in this area can potentially assist families throughout the academic experience.

To conclude, I focused on two elements that are beneficial to urban school development, school culture and trust. Creating a culture where learning can take place was the goal, and for my study, it was accomplished by examining the relationships within the building including trustworthiness. Trust in school leaders and teachers is an interpersonal component that may provide opportunities for students from diverse backgrounds to excel academically despite circumstances such as poverty (Adams, 2014; Adams, & Forsyth, 2013; Romero, & Gonzales, 2016). Instructional leadership will be explored in the ensuing section of my literature review. Methodology that supports quality instruction for Black children will be included for review.

Instructional Leadership

A well-rounded principal leader is one who not only manages the physical school setting, but also is an instructional leader (Gurley et al., 2016; Searby et al., 2016; Shaked et al., 2017; Vogel, 2018). According to Kafele (2019), principals should consistently grow professionally in the area of instructional leadership and model the expectation of being a continual learner to their staff. Payzant (2011) supported this understanding by writing, "prior to the 1990's, most principals were trained to be good managers who knew how to deal with many operational tasks...With the advent of standards-based reform, the role of the principal expanded" (p.39). The advancement of school accountability has created a greater need for leaders to be familiar instructional skills such as disaggregating data, teacher evaluation, and assessments (Jenkins, 2009). Furthermore, Jenkins contended:

Effective instructional leaders need to be *resource providers*. It is not enough principals to know the strengths and weaknesses of their faculties; they must also recognize teachers' desire to be acknowledged and appreciated for a job well done. Also, effective instructional leaders need to be *instructional resources*. Teachers count on their principal as resources of information on current trends and effective instructional practices. Instructional leaders are tuned into issues relating to curriculum, effective pedagogical strategies, and assessment. (p. 36)

From this understanding, school leaders have the responsibility of being familiar with contemporary practices and competencies that promote student achievement as it relates to the curriculum (Rigby, 2016; Searby et al., 2016). More importantly however, urban principal leaders have the responsibility of being abreast of state standards and policies, along with methodologies that enrich learning for marginalized students (Acton, 2018; Green, 2015). Individualized learning can be accomplished through the prism of a student-centered learning approach that focuses on individual student needs. Unlike, standards-based learning under No Child Left Behind model (NCLB), a democratic education creates

opportunities for authentic learning through collaborative communication (Bennis, 2017; Graves, 2011). Creating an intimate learning environment where students are active participants, problem solvers, and planners, opposed to passive absorbers of information is critical to the learning process (Bates, 2018; Gray & Lewis, 2013). Student-centered instruction may require collaborative planning among teachers and leaders, but the impact can potentially abate the gaps in achievement between students of color and their white counterparts (Brolund, 2016; Jenkins, 2009). Principal leadership is instrumental to my study as students with nonresident fathers may benefit from academic instruction that is tailored to their learning styles, interests, and strengths (Akers et al., 2014; Jaleel, & Thomas, 2019; Willingham, 2018).

Assessment is an additional component of school instruction that is a vital attribute for principal leaders. DiPaola and Hoy underscore the importance of using student data to make informed decisions that lead to performance goals (2014, p. 196-199). For this reason, it is important that leaders understand how to interpret data, as well as collate data in a manner that is digestible for stakeholders (Cai et al., 2018; Hamilton et al., 2009; Quint et al., 2008). Data assessment assists leaders in providing feedback to parents, students, and teachers as it relates to improving the quality of instruction (Conley, 2015; Datnow & Hubbard, 2015; Nation et al., 2020). William (2013) supported this claim by underscoring the importance of using assessments to bridge the gap between teaching and learning. Evidenced-based practice enables leaders to make instructional decisions that are relevant for the students they serve. According to Lekwa et al. (2019), evidence-based instructional practices have a great impact on students in high poverty school communities.

Professional development is the final area of emphasis that will be included in this subsection of instructional leadership. According to the Interstate School Leaders Licensure Consortium (2008) standard 2, effective principal leaders promote the success of students through professional growth. Successful teacher preparation can be supported through the use of formal and informal evaluations and the implementation of curriculum (Cook, 2015; Lazenby et al., 2020; Rowland, 2017). Curriculum execution is essential to the learning process; therefore, it is critical that principal leaders provide consistent support to teachers. Likewise, leaders are encouraged to ensure the successful implementation of the curriculum through the use of walk-throughs, feedback, and developing realistic timeline (Donaldson & Mavrogordato, 2018; Wieczorek et al., 2018). Darling-Hammond et al., (2017) suggested that the principal should be flexible and visible while implementing new policies. Leaders are also encouraged to frequently engage with staff members regarding the execution of academic and social goals, thus, underlining the importance of providing feedback. As in the case with students, providing feedback to teachers creates a dialogue that supports reflection and guides future practice (Jacobs, 2016). Feedback and communication resonated with my study and the need to continually refine the instruction process to provide students in urban schools with adequate information to achieve their goals.

Principal leadership was explored to highlight their academic impact on student achievement. In this study, I focused on principal leader's position in maximizing learning for students with nonresident fathers. Essentially, I aimed to understand the role urban schools and leaders play in supporting students individual learning needs. The subsequent topic that will be examined is teacher evaluation. Evaluating effective instructional methodologies can supported participants in my research.

Teacher Evaluation

Teacher evaluation is designed to provide principal leaders information concerning student achievement (Bergin et al., 2017; Derrington, & Campbell, 2015; Steinberg, & Sartain, 2015). Phillips et al., (2014) described this practice as, "effective teacher evaluation is essential for verifying and maintaining high quality of instruction and student learning, and ensuring that goals and objectives are achieved" (p. 2). Understandably, leaders are required to measure teacher success, in addition to the ability to model creative lessons and instructional methodologies that enhance academic achievement (Looney, 2011). Teacher evaluations creates opportunities for principals to identify strengths and weakness of staff (Derrington, & Campbell, 2017; Donaldson, &Woulfin, 2018; Kersten & Israel, 2005). Assessing the effectiveness of teachers can equally be important as student assessment and is an ongoing process that continues to solicit the attention of leaders (Grissom & Bartanen, 2018; Neumerski et al., 2018).

Inside the framework of NCLB, teacher accountability was dictated by high-stakes demands, directly associated to student's performance on the standardized state exams (Grissom et al., 2014). As a result, the impact created learning environments that were stressful, and pressure-filled. Hanushek et al. (2010) extended this understanding by focusing on the impact NCLB had on teachers by stating:

The main effects of No Child Left Behind on the quality of teaching are likely to come through two provisions of the act. First, NCLB establishes benchmarks based on test score pass rates that the schools must meet in order to remain in good standing and avoid sanctions. Second, NCLB explicitly requires districts to have highly qualified teachers. (p. 134)

Through this lens, teachers were not only responsible for providing students with academic instructions that aligned with standards; teachers also had to be highly qualified in that area.

In addition, schools were impacted by student's success or failure on the test, and often received a corresponding label as a result. Conversely, teachers under the current policy Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) are held to academic standards, but according to state and local district policies (Long 2019; Ujifusa, 2020; Zinskie & Rea, 2016). It is further reported that the difference amongst NLBC and ESSA as it related to teacher assessment within two main ideas. First, when a student falls behind under this policy, states have the autonomy to redirect sources as they see fit to improve instruction (Brown et al., 2016; Mcguinn, 2016). Second, the process of assessment has evolved to individualize learning (Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development, 2015; US Department of Education, 2015).

Both themes play an instrumental role in relieving external pressure within the classroom, creating an authentic assessment opportunity (Heise, 2017). Measuring the effectiveness of teachers plays an impactful role on the success or failure of the school (Hallinger et al., 201); Morgan et al., 2014). For this reason, it may behoove principal leaders to not rely on one snapshot to frame teacher's entire body of work for the year (Dynarski, 2016). Effective evaluation can be accomplished by conducting both informal and formal observations and most importantly providing a detailed explanation of feedback to ensure instructional expectations are clear.

In summary, teacher evaluations are ongoing and an instrumental process involving observation, feedback and communication (Flores & Derrington, 2015). Principal leaders have the responsibility of providing teachers with instructional support to maximize learning. As it relates to my study, creating opportunities to individualized learning for students with nonresident fathers without reprimanding teachers for academic outcomes was instrumental.

The following topic, culturally responsive pedagogy addresses the practices school leaders and teachers implement to maximize learning. Evidence reported in this section will be used as a reference in my research.

Culturally Responsive Pedagogy

Effective teaching can be influenced by a variety of independent variables such as resources, school climate, and instructional efficiency that influence student achievement. Particularly, as American classrooms become more diverse, creating successful opportunities for students to demonstrate learning can be challenging if instruction is delivered in the same manner (Rucinski et al., 2019; Wells et al., 2016). As a result, culturally responsive pedagogy has been embedded in teaching practices to maximize learning (Morrison et al., 2019; Samuels, 2018). Culturally responsive pedagogy can be defined as a pedagogy that crosses disciplines and cultures to engage learners while respecting their cultural integrity (Ladson-Billings, 1995; Wlodkowski, & Ginsberg, 1995). Culturally responsive pedagogy is a student-centered practice that is utilizes that background, learning styles, and prior knowledge to support achievement (Gist et al., 2019; Muñiz, 2019). Culturally responsiveness is the ability to not only recognize the uniqueness of students as it relates to their culture, but to also augment the curriculum in a manner that students can relate to for the purpose of maximizing learning (Aronson, & Laughter, 2016; Milner, 2014).

Validating the practice of culturally responsive pedagogy was performed in a qualitative study by Whitaker and Valtierra (2018). In many cases, ethnic minority children are likely to have white teachers whose cultural background differ from students. This project involved a six-step process including: "(a) item development, (b) expert review of items, (c) exploratory factor analysis, (d) factor interpretation, (e) confirmatory factor analysis, and (f)

analyses for convergent and discriminant validity" (p. 12). Each theme was used to support the objective, to develop and validate teachers' dispositions for culturally responsive pedagogy using a holistic instrument. Findings from this study suggest that teachers with strong cultural identities are less likely to embrace colorblind ideologies and practices that downplay cultural differences to justify teaching everyone the same. Additionally, it was reported that teachers who embraced a color-conscious mindset utilized student's lived experiences in the classroom. Complementary findings advanced my understanding of culturally responsive pedagogy by assessing teacher's willingness to engage and embrace racial differences in their instructional practices. Also, participants in my study may enter the classroom with dissimilar interests and experiences than their teachers. Hence, adopting principles through cultural relevant teaching practices can potentially enhance learning (Kafele, 2019).

Relevant teaching practices are essential to both 21st century teachers and principal leaders in part to students varying sum of knowledge when entering the classroom. As a result, Ryan (2020) suggested that stakeholders reframe their historical consciousness by acknowledging that all students do not experience school in the same manner. This process enables educational leaders to bracket their preconceived knowledge associated with students and focus on individual needs (Murff, 2020; Steinke, & Fitch, 2017; Teaching Tolerance, 2014).

Summary

Findings included in this portion of my literature review highlighted the influence of urban school as it relates to environment, instructional leadership, teacher evaluation, and culturally responsive pedagogy. Previous studies have contributed to better understanding the

problem concerning the living arrangement for Black children growing up in homes without fathers, (Goodrum et al., 2012; Lofquist et al., 2012); and other studies have highlighted their lived experiences (Langa, 2012; Schoppe-Sullivan & Fagan, 2020). Despite many contributions, a gap in the literature exists pertaining to the influences that replace the presence of fathers. My study is noteworthy because I focused on identifying both positive and negative influences that impact children by examining the literature and including the voice of my participants to report on their school experiences. The succeeding section will outline the methods I used to collect, analyze, and report on the findings for my research. It is my aim that each section will provide a concise understanding of the procedures used to measure the influences that replace the presence of nonresident fathers.

CHAPTER 3

METHODOLOGY

Overview

The American family structure has garnered attention from multiple investigators who have contributed to a better understanding of father's influence on children's cognitive and social development (Fleck et al., 2013; Mandara et al., 2005; Murray & Hwang, 2015; Reynolds, 2009). Empirical research has enlarged the problem introduced in Chapter 1, Black children living in homes with nonresident fathers and regularly associated marital status among African Americans with economic achievement (Ozawa et al., 2017; Thomas et al., 2017). According to the U.S. Census Bureau (2020), 12% of children in married families live in poverty, compared to 44% of single parent households. Additionally, an unresolved issue that requires further investigation involves providing families with resources that support the social and academic development of children with nonresident fathers. Investing resources in this research area extends beyond acknowledging social conditions often associated with single mother Black families and focuses on bridging any gap that may be present due to fathers' absence. As a result, the purpose of this ethnographic case study was to identify the influences that replace the presence of nonresidential Black fathers.

One plausible reason for the overwhelming number of Black children living in homes without the presence of their fathers can be attributed to mass incarceration and the disproportionate number of Black men removed from the home for an extended period of time (Cox, 2020; Lopez, 2017; Schnittker et al., 2012). Despite comprising approximately 13% of the total male population in the United States, Black men represent approximately 35% of those incarcerated (Hinton et al., 2018; Morris, 2014). This total does not delineate

between men who are fathers and those without children; however, the overrepresentation of Black men has a significant impact on their families and communities (Becker & Alexander, 2016; Gifford, 2019). Experts suggested when a father goes to prison, the care of his children is abdicated to other relatives such as women, in addition to the potential economic disadvantages created as a result of their absence (Hatter & Smith, 2014; King, 1993; Mauer & King, 2007; Perry & Bright, 2012; Wakefield & Wildeman, 2018).

Performing a comprehensive qualitative study will include the voices of African American children to uncover their experiences living in a home with a nonresident father. Enabling participants to tell their own story can provide a rich description of the phenomenon (Ridder, 2017; Stake, 2006). Moreover, I utilized the theoretical traditions of a case study and ethnography. Case studies can be a valuable tool for answering real-world questions within the context of the phenomenon (Gammelgaard, 2017; Tetnowski, 2015), whereas ethnography is often referred as interpretive and naturalistic (Angrosino, 2016; Ejimabo, 2015). Research questions for my study stemmed from one primary inquiry: What replaces the presence of fathers for African American students living in non-paternal homes? Likewise, four sub questions I answered included: (a) How do students describe their relationship with their resident guardian? (b) What contributes to the social, emotional, and academic development for students with nonresident fathers? (c) What are the lived school experiences for 12th grade students with nonresident fathers? (d) How do urban schools support the academic and behavior needs for students with nonresident fathers? Each inquiry guided my pursuit of making meaning of student's experiences and supported better understanding the problem, Black children living in homes without the presence of their father.

The subsequent content embedded in this chapter are elements that broaden the phenomenon Black children living in homes without the presence of fathers beginning with the rationale for qualitative research, followed by the design of the study. In addition, I will provide a description of the data sources and methods used for analyzing and interpreting data. Finally, I will highlight potential limitations and ethical considerations that promote best practices when engaging student participants. Each theme serves as requisite for qualitative research and contributes to better understanding the lived experience for students with nonresident fathers

Rationale for Qualitative Research

Nestled in the experiences of participants, qualitative research is characterized by its aim to ripen understanding through the development of meaning, rather than statistics (Merriam & Grenier, 2019; Packer, 2017; Patton & Cochran, 2002; Taylor et al., 2015). Throughout this research investigation, my aim was to provide a thick description of the experiences on behalf of African American students living in homes with nonresident fathers. The term "thick description" was pioneered by Ryle in 1971 and extended by Geertz in 1973 (Ponterotto, 2006). Denzin (1989) added:

A thick description ... does more than record what a person is doing. It goes beyond mere fact and surface appearances. It presents detail, context, emotion, and the webs of social relationships that join persons to one another. Thick description evokes emotionality and self-feelings. It inserts history into experience. It establishes the significance of an experience, or the sequence of events, for the person or persons in question. In thick description, the voices, feelings, actions, and meanings of interacting individuals are heard. (p. 83)

Qualitative researchers seek to manufacture findings within a scientific process that is not determined in advance, but through the continuous collection of evidence to better understand the phenomenon (Billups, 2019; Flick, 2017; Ospina, 2004; Maxwell, 2013;

Weller & Romney, 1988). In this respect, my rationale for selecting qualitative research as the exclusive method for making meaning of participants with nonresident father's lived experiences empowered me as researcher to become submerged in the context where I collected data (Pezalla et at., 2012; Stake, 2010; Xu, & Storr, 2012). Human interactions permit researchers to take advantage of access to occurrences as they are happening and become available in a natural setting (Haradhan, 2018; Lichtman, 2014; Morgan, & Smircich, 1980).

Moreover, qualitative research methodologies can be interpretative, and incorporate multiple voices to make meaning of individual perspectives (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Thorne, 2016). Researchers may interact with participants through direct observation, unstructured interviews, and observation to strengthen the validity of findings (Hayashi et al., 2019; Leung, 2015; Rahman, 2016). Essentially, the experiences of participants are unique and personal, therefore; generalization of the results is not a goal, but individualized meaning-making (Mack et al., 2005). The practice of meaning making is guided by open-ended responses given by participants that allow the researcher and audience to better understand the experiences, beliefs, and feelings of the members (LaDonna et al., 2018; Patton, 2002).

In this section, I present my rationale for selecting qualitative research as the method for yielding factual and reliable data. Overall, I sought to broaden my understanding of the problem, Black children living in homes with nonresident fathers by being immersed in the natural context of participants. Qualitative research is also interpretive and was administered in this study to include me as an instrument of supplying a thick description of the phenomenon. In the emerging section, the theoretical traditions ethnography and case study will be described to aid in making meaning of the experiences of Black children living in

homes with nonresident fathers. Ethnography is grounded in the belief that behaviors and social interactions of individuals can produce data that capture aspects of their lives (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011) by encouraging the researcher to be submerged in the culture of the participant over an extended period of time (Naidoo, 2012). Equally, case study research is distinctive in that it relies on multiple sources of evidence to support triangulation of the findings (Yin, 2018). Each tradition and its significance to my study will be detailed in the following section.

Ethnography

The birth of ethnography originates from a complex discipline known as anthropology, and is the study of social interactions (Altamira, 1999; Angrosino, 2007; LeCompte & Preissle, 1993; Reeves et al., 2013; Ugwu, 2016). Characteristics of ethnographic inquiry were outlined by LeCompte and Schensul (2010), expanding the scope within qualitative research: (a) it is carried out in a natural setting, not in a laboratory, (b) involves intimate, face-to-face interaction with participants, (c) it presents an accurate reflection of participant perspectives and behaviors, (d) it uses inductive, interactive, and recursive data collection and analytic strategies to build local cultural theories, (e) it uses multiple data sources, including both quantitative and qualitative data, (f) it frames all human behavior and belief within a sociopolitical and historic context, (g) it uses the concept of culture as a lens through which to interpret results. Each principle contributes to collecting authentic data to make meaning of human behavior.

Additionally, deriving from the Greek ethos (people) and graphei (to write), ethnography is a multi-faceted methodology that describes culture through observations, interviews, discussions, and audio-visuals (Hammersley, 2016; Malinowski 1922;

Sangasubana, 2011a; Shagrir, 2017; Zaharlick, & Green, 1991). One purpose of ethnographic research is to accurately represent reality through the prism of the researcher and participant. This undertaking is regularly executed by ethnographers who become immersed with participants in their natural setting (Baskerville & Myers, 2014; Lewis & Russell, 2011; Schatz, 2013). Researchers consider their position as an insider (emic) or outsider (etic) when collecting data (Jones & Smith, 2017). Emic researchers examine culture from the inside, becoming a part of the norms and customs of their participants (Bergman & Lindgren, 2017; Hammersley & Atkinson, 2007; van Oudenhoven, 2017); while etic researchers view culture theoretically (King, & McInerney, 2019; Li, 2008). Both processes create opportunities for researchers to better understand meaning by comprehensively examining participants (Reeves, Peller, Goldman & Kitto, 2013) when entering the natural context of the phenomenon (Moustakas, 1990). Genzuk (2003) provided a working description of ethnography that I integrated in my study by stating:

Ethnography is a social science research method. It relies heavily on up-close, personal experience and possible participation, not just observation, by researchers trained in the art of ethnography... The ethnographic focal point may include intensive language and culture learning, intensive study of a single field or domain, and a blend of historical, observation, and interview methods. (p. 1)

Applying ethnographic principles will isolated themes within the findings section of my study that avoided minimizing the experiences of participants to merely numbers on a page. In essence, ethnography will bolsters the reader's understanding of the influences that may replace the presence of fathers by making meaning of their academic and social experiences (Jethwani et al., 2014; Tallinn, 2002).

Additionally, ethnography is regarded as a tradition that enables researchers to tell a credible, rigorous, and authentic story by giving voice to individuals in their natural setting

(Fetterman, 2020; Simmons & Smith, 2017). Effective implementation involves preparing prior to entering the setting and initiating data collection (Schensul et al., 2013). Recent evidence has focused on researchers who suspend their beliefs and understandings to ensure they do not inadvertently impose their views on research members (Dodgson, 2019; Mason-Bish, 2018; Palaganas et al., 2017). Being a neutral observer does not change the behavior of the participants but preserves the reliability of the findings (Denzin et al., 2017; Murchison, 2010).

As a firsthand researcher, being immersed in the lives of participant members is essential in fulfilling the ethnographic process (Anderson-Levitt, 2012; Green et al., 2007; Kimball & Turner, 2018; Schatz, 2013). Immersion will be sustained by gaining trust at the onset of my study to provide a detailed representation of students living with nonresident fathers. Likewise, upholding the accuracy and validity of findings within ethnographic research is maintained through triangulating observations, interviews, and documentation data (Farmer et al., 2006; Heale & Forbes, 2013; Thurmond, 2001).

Case Study

Case study research is an empirical investigation of a phenomenon within its natural context across multiple disciplines (Crowe et al., 2011; Dasgupta, 2015; Gerring, 2016; Harrison et al., 2017; Tight, 2017; Yin, 2013). Case studies commence by identifying an instrumental case, issue, or problem that researchers seek to better understand using data analyses such as interviews, documents, archival records, or participant observations (Stake, 1995; Yin, 2006). Each unit of analysis assists in providing meaning of behaviors that represent an individual or multiple cases over an extended period of time. Gillham (2000) added:

A case can be an individual; it can be a group – such as a family, or a class, or an office, or a hospital ward; it can be an institution such as a school or a children's home, or a factory; it can be a large-scale community – a town, an industry, a profession. All of these are single cases; but you can also study multiple cases: a number of single parents; several schools; two different professions. (p. 1)

Yin posited (2018), a case study design should be considered when: (a) the focus of the study is to answer "how" and "why" questions; (b) the behavior of those involved in the study cannot be manipulated; (c) one wants to cover contextual conditions because you believe they are relevant to the phenomenon under study; or (d) the boundaries are not clear between the phenomenon and context. For my research, I investigated multiple cases to better understand the phenomenon of Black children being raised in homes with nonresident fathers. The discovery and understanding of students' experiences with nonresident fathers can aid in gaining a deeper awareness of the influences that impact their social growth and development (Arditti et al., 2018; Hofferth et al., 2010; Hofferth & Pinzon, 2011).

Furthermore, case study research can be characterized by the ability to conform to the purpose of the researcher. Intrinsic, instrumental, and multiple case studies are unique instruments that are used to produce specific data (Bartlett & Vavrus, 2016; Baxter & Jack, 2008). As a method of qualitative inquiry, multiple case study researchers examine the parts of an existing subject by moving beyond the boundaries of the phenomenon and its context to tell a distinct story (Yin, 2009). Stake (2006a) summarized the framework of a multiple case study as:

The multiple case study is a special effort to examine something having lots of cases, parts, or members. We study these parts, perhaps its students, its committees, its projects, or manifestations in diverse settings. One small collection of people, activities, policies, strengths, problems, or relationships is studied in detail. Each case to be studied has its own problems and relationships. The cases have their stories to tell... We seek to understand how this whole operates in different situations. (p. 23)

Generally, multiple case studies begin with recognizing what concept or idea connects the cases together (Stake, 2006b). The case studied regarding my research centered on Black children living in homes without the presences of their fathers. Previous researchers have explored Black families (Hammer, 1997; Magqamfana & Bazana, 2020; Rodney & Mupier, 1999; Zulu, 2018); however, there remains little empirical data that report on the developmental and academic influences that replace the presence of fathers.

Accordingly, observation and interviews are essential tools researchers use to collect data in each case. Patton (2002b) provided a comprehensive analysis of becoming a skilled observer, which included: (a) learning to pay attention: seeing what there is to see, and hearing what there is to hear; (b) writing descriptively; (c) acquiring expertise and discipline in recording field notes; (d) knowing to separate detail from trivia; (e) using systematic methods to validate and triangulate observations; (f) reporting strengths and limitations of one's own perspective, which requires both self-knowledge and self-discourse. The value of direct observation creates firsthand insight of the impact environmental influences have on the phenomenon (Fisher et al., 2011; Kawulich, 2005; Morgan et al., 2017). Gathering information from observations enables researchers to identify what must be observed in order to provide probable answers to the research questions (Fusch et al., 2018; Hancock, & Algozzine, 2017). Throughout my study, I implemented an observational guide of key features (i.eg., time, date, location, persons being observed, activities) to assist in organizing data (Phillippi, & Lauderdale, 2017; Moser, & Korstjens, 2017). Likewise, interviews are common in form of data collection in case study research and are frequently complemented with an interview guide. Interviews allow researchers to listen to case study participants to gain insight of their perspective (Aguinis & Solarino, 2019; McGrath et al., 2018).

In summary, ethnography and case study are two theoretical traditions that play a dominant role in answering my research questions. I used ethnography to examine culture and experiences of each participant over an extended period of time (Sangasubana, 2011b); while I implemented case studies to explore a contemporary phenomenon within its real-world context (see Yin, 2014). Investigating the lives of Black students using qualitative methodologies will included their voice to represent their experiences. In the following section, I will describe my role as the chief investigator during the data collection process.

Role of the Researcher

Denzin and Lincoln (2003) designated the researcher as an instrument that collects data through human experiences. Building relationships by becoming immersed in the lives of participants aids researchers in collecting qualitative data (Goodell et al., 2016; Merriam & Grenier, 2019; Sutton & Austin, 2015; Yin, 2016). Furthermore, qualitative research recognizes a connection between the researcher and what is being researched (Roger et al., 2018); therefore, I embraced my role as an emic researcher, or one who serves as an insider to gain the trust of my case study participants. My eyes and ears were tools used to make meaning and better understand the experiences of Black children living in homes with nonresident fathers.

Finally, my role as researcher was to broaden the problem of my study, Black children with nonresident fathers through the cross-examination of themes from multiple cases. Embodying the voice of students is purposeful in determining the influences that support their growth and development. Additionally, I acted as a neutral researcher and preserve the integrity and reliability of the findings (Hammarberg et al., 2016; Holloway, &

Biley, 2011; Ormston et al., 2013). Maintaining neutrality requires isolating assumptions and biases to collect data through an unbiased lens (Busetto et al., 2020).

The succeeding section will include an outline of the design of my study, beginning with a description of the setting and research participants. Qualitative research design is applicable for my study because it personalizes the relationship between myself and my participants. Using the research questions as a guide, I embraced the researcher-participant relationship to better understand the experiences of each member.

Design of Study

The purpose of this qualitative study was to identify the influences that replace the presence of nonresident Black fathers. Furthermore, the research design included investigating multiple case study participants to collect meaning of their experiences using documents, observations, and interviews (Creswell & Poth, 2018a). Each unit of analysis assisted in addressing my research questions. Performing an ethnographic case study involved communicating with stakeholders to seek their approval for engaging participants (Saldana, 2011; Taylor et al., 2015). In the following section, I will provide an overview of the setting, and outline the criteria to participate in my qualitative analysis.

Setting and Participants

Participants were African American students living in homes with nonresident fathers. Students who met the qualifications for participation resided in one public school districts within the urban core. In order to negotiate an unfamiliar environment, I crafted a letter requesting access to enter schools from superintendents who serve students across the defined demographic (Appendix, Letter to Superintendents). The letter explained my intentions as chief researcher and goals following the completion of the study. I mailed a

letter of consent to the superintendent and enclose a self-addressed return envelope.

Additionally, I followed up with a phone call thanking the superintendent for extending access to complete my research investigation.

In continuance, I composed a letter to principals, requesting permission to enter their school building and administer student surveys (Appendix, Letter to Principals). This letter described my intent as researcher, role of the participants, and request a meeting with each principal to preselect students based on the criteria outlined. Once approval was granted, I requested the counselor to serve as the gatekeeper, an individual at the research site to assist in navigating the contextual setting (Clark, 2011; Creswell & Poth, 2018b; Reeves, 2010; Wanat, 2008). Consulting with district and building leaders prior to engaging environment was essential in gaining trust and acceptance of the participants (Johl & Renganathan, 2010; Wasserman & Clair, 2007).

Students who met the criteria to participate resided in an urban metropolitan city, located in the American Midwest. Urban settings are appropriate and provide convenient access to students in their natural setting (Stake, 2010). Data from previous investigators suggest students living in homes with nonresident fathers are more likely to reside in communities within urban areas (Aerts, 2018; Logan & Burdick-Wil, 2017; Parker, 2013). Exploring the experiences of students with nonresident fathers enabled me to take an in depth look at the influences within the environment that shape their academic and social development. Finally, establishing relationships with case study participants aids in gaining access to their everyday lives (i.e., their home, work, or church).

Identifying a setting that yielded a substantial number of students who meet the criteria for participation was essential; however, sampling techniques were instrumental and

are discussed in the ensuing section. I used sampling strategies to recruit participants who could provide and in-depth and detailed perspective of the phenomenon, Black children living in homes with nonresident fathers.

Sampling Procedures

Participants for this study were selected using criterion and snowball samples.

Purposeful sampling requires investigators to consider three primary tenets: (a) participants the in sample, (b) type of sample, and (c) sample size (Creswell, 2013, p. 156; Emmel, 2013; Palinkas et al., 2015; Sandelowski, 1995; Tuckett, 2004). Each element provides supports in delivering a concise understanding of the research problem and phenomenon. In addition, purposeful sampling is an effective methodology researchers use to isolate specific knowledge of an experience or phenomenon (Bernard, 2002; Etikan et al., 2016; Tongco, 2007). Sampling information was instrumental in verifying qualifications for each participant in my research study.

Criterion Sampling. Criterion sampling involves selecting cases that meet predetermined conditions (Ames et al., 2019; Palinkas et al., 2015; Patton, 2002). The purpose of criterion sampling will be to establish a complete understanding of all members who meet the participation criteria (Suri, 2011). Patton (2002) helped to establish an explanatory model for criterion sampling by sharing:

Criterion sampling can an important qualitative component to a management information system or an ongoing program monitoring system. All cases in the data system that exhibit certain predetermine criterion characteristics are routinely identified for in-depth, qualitative analysis. Criterion sampling also can be used to identify cases from standardized questionnaires for in-depth follow-up, for example. (p. 281)

The rationale behind selecting criterion sampling is to eliminate candidates who do not meet the criteria (Maxwell, 2013). Effective sampling bracketed prospective members, while maximizing my time as the researcher. My final reason for utilizing criterion sampling was to produce a large enough sample to analyze the experiences of students with nonresident fathers.

Administering my survey only included questions related to identifying Black students living in homes with nonresident fathers. Each participant will meet the following criteria: (a) must be 18-years-old at the start of the research study, (b) identify as an African American male or female; and (c) live in a home with a nonresident father. It was my intention that these criteria provide access to candidates whose experiences can be documented and added to the existing body of literature concerning Black families.

Snowball Sampling. Snowball sampling is described as a procedure that refers qualifying and potential participants through the candidate's social network (Baltar & Brunet, 2012; Etikan et al., 2015; Goodman, 1961; Heckathorn, 2011). Snowball procedures are primarily dependent on interviews to identify prospective participants through informants (Atkinson & Flint, 2001). Informants are people who recommend potential research members (Marcus et al., 2016; Palys, 2008). One of the benefits of snowball sampling is it does not rely on a random sample to identify participants, particularly in difficult to reach places (Kirchherr & Charles, 2018). Populations who are hard to reach are accessed when participants who share similar characteristics are involved in the recruiting process (Valerio et al., 2016). Unlike other sampling techniques, snowball samples are not intended to generalize a population, nor ensure diversity among the sample (Etikan et al., 2015b). Instead, snowball sampling specializes in using referrals to build relationships during interviews.

My rationale for selecting snowballing as a method for gaining access to participants hinged on the understanding that informants may have direct contact to the hidden population that may have met the criteria to participate in my study. Additionally, snowball sampling is respondent driven, and permits the researcher to work towards building a relationship at the onset of the study. Together, criterion and snowball sampling play an important role in selecting participants for my study. Choosing candidates who represent the target population described in my problem statement was completed using either sampling technique. In the following section, I will describe the unit of analyses that will be used to collect data.

Data Collection

Qualitative data collection methods provide an overview of how information were collected and analyzed (Clark & Veale, 2018; Gill, Stewart & Chadwick, 2008; Maxwell, 2013; Onwuegbuzie et al., 2010). Methods used to collect data strengthen the research hypothesis by relying on interactive interviews, triangulation, and methodological protocols to support meaning of the phenomenon and authenticity of the results (Paradis et al., 2016). There were three main types of data sources I used in my research study (a) official documents, (b) interviews (c) individual observations. Subsequently, each data tool will be reviewed and detailed in the following section.

Open-ended Surveys

In this study, open-ended surveys were administered to establish initial contact with students. Harlacher (2016) established a five step framework for developing effective questionnaires: (a) determine the goal or goals of the questionnaire, (b) define the information needed to address each goal, (c) write the questions, (d) review the questionnaire for alignment with goals and adherence to research-based guidelines for writing questions, (f)

organize and format the questionnaire. Administering effective survey questions enabled participants to respond in their own words (Popping, 2015). Additionally, open-ended surveys focus on distinguishing candidates who meet the criteria for participation in my study from those who did not. One disadvantage of open-ended surveys is the time it takes to complete the survey. According to Hyman and Sierra (2016), data cannot be quickly coded and analyzed due to the individualized responses from each question. Conversely, an advantage is the opportunity to conduct person-to-person interviews with respondents (Hyman & Sierra, 2016).

Official Documents

Official documents are materials collected by researchers to access culture, persuade, or enlighten the public (Bogdan & Biklen, 2003; Farber, 2006; Flick et al., 2004; Grant, 2018). Patton (2002) offered a reliable understanding, adding, "documents prove valuable not only because of what can be learned directly from them, but also as stimulus for paths of inquiry that can be pursued only through direct observation and interviewing" (p.294). The use of documentary sources can be implemented as a method to investigate, interpret, and identify pertinent information about the phenomenon (Bowen, 2009; Frey, 2018; Mogalakwe, 2006; Owen, 2014). With documents serving as a vital instrument, my goal was to select at least three records from each student to supply an adequate amount of data. I examined educational records such as grade cards, suspension letters, honor roll and academic certificates, and attendance reports to illuminate student's school experience.

The purpose of collecting these specific documents was two-fold. First, documents provided a baseline of students' academic history to categorize their accomplishments and struggles. Next, previous studies have highlighted the academic failures of Black children

living in homes with nonresident fathers (Barajas, 2011; Clark, 2015; Orr, 2003; Paschall, et al., 2018). Therefore, I used documents to pinpoint validity and consistency among previous literature and my participants. Following my initial visit, I requested student's educational records (i.e., grade cards, attendance records, and any discipline related documents). After receiving these documents, data were used to construct a questionnaire, isolating the environmental influences that provide academic support. For example, survey questions were established according to individual participants to identify who contributed to their success during their formative years, as well any hindrances. Also, the development of surveys will be informed by the frequency of discipline documents, to distinguish causes of behaviors.

Semi-Structured Interviews

The art of interviews uncovered intimate knowledge of a phenomenon in qualitative research (DiCicco-Bloom & Crabtree, 2006; Majid et al., 2017; Stewart et al., 2016). I used semi-structured interview questions to assist in initiating the conversation between me and each participant. Edwards and Holland (2013) provided a comprehensive review of semi-structured interviews and suggested interviews create an opportunity for dialogue and interaction between the interviewer and interviewee. Interviewers conducting semi-structured interviews have a set of predetermined questions used to prompt dialog, while the rest of the questions are not planned in advanced (Galleta, 2013; Rabionet, 2011). Similarly, Roulston (2010) added qualitative research interviews seek to describe central themes, with the main task being to understand meaning. Interviewing participants enables researchers to intentionally uncover meaning by finding out what is in and on someone else's mind (Patton, 2015). Essentially, direct and unobtrusive observations do not always uncover thoughts, or metacognitive practices that answer why. Therefore, my intention was to interview and

interact with students until my research questions were satisfied in intervals of 20 minutes to 1 hour, depending on the direction and structure of each interview response. I used the following interview prompts to collect qualitative data:

- 1. Describe a typical day at school?
- 2. What kind of tasks or activities are difficult, rewarding, and enjoyable for you?
- 3. Describe a typical day at home?
- 4. Tell me about your experiences growing up?

Aligning the interview with the research question is essential as facilitators collect and interpret data. In order to capture the interview data accurately, I recorded each interview. Finally, neutral and unbiased interviewers are trained to display no opinion about survey questions to minimize interview related errors that occur when responses are influenced by respondent's perception of what the interviewer indicates as an appropriate answer (Given, 2008).

Observation

Observing subjects within their authentic educational context to uncover meaning according to my research questions is a central component of qualitative research (Baker, 2006; Barrett & Twycross, 2018; Mack & Woodsong, 2006; Walshe et al., 2011). Angrosino (2007) described the process of observation as, "the act of noting a phenomenon in the field setting through the five senses of the observer, often with an instrument, and recording it for scientific purposes" (p. 2). As an ethnographic observer, my intention is to observe students by being immersed in their culture to develop a "thick description" of behaviors within their natural setting (Gray, 2014; Sharma & Sarkar, 2019). Ethnographers look at individuals' way of life as a participant who is both descriptive and interpretive (Conroy, 2017; Fetterman, 2010). The aim of these descriptions is to assist in better understanding attitudes and perspectives by serving as an insider who provides meaning to why.

Lincoln (2002) provided a reliable overview of observations and illuminates the observation method as, "useful data, and can be collected in virtually any public or quasipublic setting without fear of violation of individuals rights to either privacy or informed consent" (p. 6). As a result, the role of the researcher is to gain access to insider views and subjective data (Creswell, 2013). My role was to make observations in participant's natural environment without distorting the results. According to Patton (2015), "regardless of how sensitively observations are made, the possibility always exists that people will behave differently under conditions where an observation or evaluation is taking place" (p. 375). During data collection, observations were deployed 3 days per week for 20 minutes using journaling, field notes, and recordings.

The previous section reported how I composed data within a multistep collection process of surveys, interviews, documents, and observation. Each unit of analysis was connected to my research questions to better understand the experiences of Black children living in homes with nonresident fathers. In the ensuing section, I will describe how I analyzed data for each unit of analysis. Data analysis will inform conclusions relating to the phenomenon and provided a more accurate understanding of the themes associated with the findings.

Data Analysis

In this qualitative study, stages of data analysis will included reducing findings into manageable units to tell a story and provide meaning. Aligned to the research questions, data analysis requires converting field notes, interviews, and documents into trustworthy themes that accurately describe and represent the account of the participants (Babchuk, 2019; Natow, 2019; Owen, 2014; Taylor-Powell, & Renner, 2003). Creswell and Poth (2018) outlined a

step-by-step procedure called The Data Analysis Spiral that I used during the analysis stage. Data generated from qualitative methods were synthesized by (a) managing and organizing the data, (b) reading and memoing emergent ideas, (c) describing and classifying codes into themes, (d) developing and assessing interpretations, (e) representing and visualizing the data" (p. 186). Each principle contributed to processing and representing findings related to the problem of my study.

Managing and Organizing the Data

Initiating data analysis encourages researchers to review the proposal as part of the tidying up process (LeCompte & Preissle, 1993); in addition to organizing and making copies of all materials such as field notes, surveys, transcripts, interviews, and documents.

Researchers will revisit each research question. Reviewing the research questions helps investigators reestablish purpose while organizing each dataset (Holm-Hansen, 2008). Miles et al. (2014) defined this simplifying procedure as data condensation:

Data condensation refers to the process of selecting, focusing, simplifying, abstracting, and/or transforming the data that appear in the full corpus (body) of written-up field notes, interview transcripts, documents, and other empirical materials. By condensing, we're making data stronger... Data condensation is a form of analysis that sharpens, sorts, focuses, discards, and organizes data in such a way that "final" conclusions can be drawn and verified. (p.12)

Overall, data management includes organizing findings into digital files and creating a file naming system to sort research information. For my study, I utilized a computer program to store participant information, data forms, date of collection, and description of files (Creswell & Poth, 2013). Also, I assigned a unique identifier to each participant, ensuring every sample of data will remain specific and confidential to the individual.

Reading and Memoing Emerging Ideas

Memoing procedures are used to compose data into chunks, or manageable units that

help researchers process information. Data interpretation involves writing notes in the margins of field notes, transcripts, or next to images (Birks et al., 2008; Ganapathy, 2016; McGrath, 2021; Stuckey, 2015). Memos are short phrases or key concepts that researchers use to not only process data, but to synthesize themes into analytical meanings (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Maxwell (2018) suggested "Memos are one of the most important techniques you have for developing your ideas. You should, therefore, think of memos as a way to help you understand your topic, setting, or study" (p. 20). The rationale behind performing memoing as part of the analysis process is to rapidly capture thoughts throughout data collection and condensation (Saldaña, 2016); creating opportunities for qualitative researchers to provide a rich analysis of the phenomenon. Miles et a., (2014) reported memoing should be prioritized when emerging idea develop, and researchers should stop what they are doing to record the memo.

Describing and Classifying Codes into Themes

Coding involves organizing data into categories that support the research design. As an ethnographic researcher, creating a quality method for coding data is paramount.

LeCompte and Schensul (2010) wrote:

To begin analysis, rather large categories or conceptual "bins" deriving from the formative model or theoretical framework are created, into which to chunk various elements of the database. The process of clarifying and identifying components within each of the bins leads to a revised and more specific set of items and units and a rough outline of their relationships to one another. (p. 33)

Data coding techniques are implemented to produce a controllable display of data and provide answers to research questions (Grbich, 2013; Linneberg, & Korsgaard, 2019; Mackey, & Gass, 2012; St. Pierre & Jackson, 2014). Raw field notes, transcripts, and documents were be simplified into themes that minimize the complexity of the findings

(Patton, 2002). Coding qualitative data began by reading through all research documents and transforming comments into initial grouping outcomes that conceptualized analytical patterns (Blair, 2015; Elliot, 2018). Next, organizing data into topics or a labeling system for filing is essential. For my study, coding was initially performed in the margins of my field notes and transferred to the coding report. Patton (2002) stated:

The first reading through the data is aimed at developing the coding categories or classification system. Then a new reading is done to actually start the formal coding in a systematic way. Several readings of the data may be necessary before field notes or interviews can be completely indexed and coded. (p. 553)

In summary, understanding the experiences of Black children living in homes with nonresident fathers was achieved by isolating their experiences, along with implementing cross analyzation. According to Stake (2010), triangulation in multiple case studies focus on ensuring meanings are clear. Triangulation also creates opportunities to compare cases after the data have been processed and analyzed to determine patterns, or if the findings are specific to one case.

Developing and Assessing Interpretations

Interpreting data encompasses providing an explanation and meaning of the results.

LeCompte and Schensul (2010, p. 17) suggested that ethnographic researchers ask the following questions to aid in interpretation of the data:

- 1. What is going on?
- 2. What does the data tell me about these people and this site or process?
- 3. What makes sense to me, given my own principles, knowledge, and past experiences?
- 4. How is this related to my research questions?
- 5. How do the local participants explain what is happening?

Interpretive practices begin with the development of codes, but extends beyond labeling themes to expand the meaning (Creswell and Poth, 2018). Overall, interpretations of my

research findings were validated through comparison of existing data and member checking (Marshall & Rossman, 2015). In addition, I compared my findings and interpretations to existing literature and theories to determine if consistencies exist.

Representing and Visualizing the Data

The final phase of the data analysis process I discussed involves visually representing the data. Visual displays represent connectedness between multiple units of organized data (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Verdinelli & Scagnoli, 2013). Descriptive data can be in the form of comparison among cases, or individual themes. For my study, graphic organizers served as a tool to potentially move data beyond words on page. It was my intention that each graph will represent key findings such as demographic, income, and other pertinent information that can advance the reader's understanding of the influences that replace the presence of Black fathers.

Evidence presented in the preceding section establishes protocols for analyzing qualitative data. I used my research questions as an outline to ensure accurate and reliable data would be examined. Also, memoing, classifying codes, and theme interpretation are essential in reporting and analyzing precise data. In the following section, I will present ethical considerations, limitations, and validity. Addressing each component is essential in qualitative investigation as researchers embrace the responsibility of serving as human instruments to collect data.

Ethical Considerations, Limitations, and Validity

Ethical Considerations and Limitations

Interaction between researchers and participants can be challenging at various stages of the research investigation (Eide & Kahn, 2008; Munhall, 1988; Raheim et al., 2016;

Walsh, 2014). In ethnographic studies, researchers function as essential instruments who collect and analyze data, while being immersed in the culture of the participants (Sanjar et al., 2014; Schensul et al., 2013); therefore, upholding ethical integrity regarding the researcher, participants, and confidentiality was vital (Jelsma, 2005; Miller et al., 2012; Orb et al., 2004). For my study, I observed the principles outlined by the Institution Review Board at the University of Missouri-Kansas City to guide my actions as investigator, beginning with understanding informed consent. Furthermore, I completed training and compliance modules through the Collaborative Institutional Training Initiative to bolster my understanding of ethical methodologies. The purpose of upholding ethical tenets was to protect the rights and welfare of human research subjects (Grady, 2015). An early example of ethical malpractice was initiated in 1932 by the U.S. Public Health Service, an experiment to extend the natural course of untreated Black males with syphilis following the availability of penicillin (Alsan & Wanamaker, 2018; Brandt, 1978; Thomas & Quinn, 1991; Wurtzburg et al., 2016). Consequently, the lack of all informed consent contributed to the death of more than 100 Black males (Brandt, 1978).

Succeeding the Tuskegee experiment, one of the most influential overviews of ethical practice was established, the Belmont Report (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavior Research, 1974). According to the Belmont Report, there are three principles that should be upheld throughout the collection of data, including: (a) boundaries between practice and research, (b) basic ethical principles, (c) applications. Distinguishing concise boundaries to test and support hypotheses requires formal protocols that protect and ensure the safety of human subjects. Furthermore, ethical practice was maintained by treating individuals autonomously and protecting members at all

times. Finally, considered the bedrock of ethical research by Denzin and Lincoln (2011), I made sure participants were fully informed of what was asked of them. Each participant and parent gave signed consent. Other aspects of informed consent I ensured were:

- 1 Overview of the researcher
- 2. What the intent of the researcher is
- 3. Ensuring research candidates that their participation is completely voluntary
- 4. What data will be collected from participants
- 5. How data will be collected from the participants
- 6. The level of commitment required for each participant
- 7. How data will be used and reported
- 8. Identify the potential risks of taking part in the research

These safeguards were necessary in ensuring each participant understood their role in how data would be collected and reported. In addition, I preserved the identity and personal information of my members using pseudonyms to guarantee and ensure students cannot be tracked. Ultimately, consent forms, data, and other research materials were stored in a secure data base or locked cabinet. Confidentiality included removing identifying details from datasets and securing field notes and journals. In order to maintain security, I consulted with my committee to designate a secure location on campus.

Any limitation that may influence the results of my study was addressed in detail. The first limitation that can present a possible challenge for my research involved the researcher-participate relationship. The site where research was collected is the school where I am employed as an administrator. This posed as a limitation because two students did not feel comfortable in divulging personal information relating to their experiences right away. To

overcome this issue, building trust was an essential instrument that offset this limitation. As an ethnographic researcher, immersion is described as being an insider to tell the story within the culture (Jones & Smith, 2017). Becoming immersed within the natural context can establish relationships that allow participants to authentically respond throughout this study.

A second limitation involved selecting a large enough sample size to participant in this study. Samples in qualitative research tend to be case-oriented and selected because they provide a rich texture of data as it relates to the phenomenon being studied (Vasileiou et al., 2018). As it involved my research investigation, identifying enough students who meet the criteria, Black children living in homes without the presence of their fathers was key. To overcome this limitation, I utilized surveys and snowball sampling as a tool for recognizing candidates.

Researcher bias is the final limitation that could have impacted my study. This limitation could be in the form of how I selected participants and collected data. According to Smith and Noble (2014), bias exists in all study designs through their own experiences, ideas, and prejudices; however, researchers who outline these biases have greater potential to overcome them. To offset the limitation researcher bias, I concentrated on the design of my study and ways to analyze data objectively.

Validity

The concept of validity in qualitative research is a process for assessing the accuracy of the findings as represented by the researcher (Creswell & Poth, 2018). During the validation process, the appropriateness of research tools such as research questions, design of the study, and data collection are analyzed according to the desired outcome (Leung, 2015). In other words, validity determines whether the researcher measures the findings objectively

(Golafshani, 2003; Maxwell, 2013). For my study, a valid instrument was used to capture the experiences of Black children living in homes with nonresident fathers. This process was evaluated based on my ability as the human instrument to articulate data collection and analysis methodologies (Cypress, 2017). Additionally, the following strategies will be detailed to ensure the credibility of my study including: (a) triangulations, (b) member checking, (c) researcher bias, (d) reliability, and (e) crystallization.

Triangulation. Triangulation involved applying multiple data collection methods to strengthen the validity of the findings during the research process. According to Creswell and Poth (2018), triangulation can be described as researcher's "use of multiple and different sources, methods, investigators, and theories to provide corroborating evidence for validating the accuracy of their study" (p. 34). Triangulation aids in mitigating bias that may surface as part of the researcher's personal observation and interactions with participants (Fusch et al., 2018). Stake (2010) added:

Triangulation for a multicase study serves the same purpose as in a single case study: to assure that we have the picture as clear and suitably meaningful as we can get it, relatively free of our won biases, and not likely to mislead the reader greatly. Triangulation occurs along the way... As a form of validation, triangulation follows a classical strategy – seeing whether the new views are consistent with what is already well know about the case. (p. 12)

Understanding triangulation was essential to the qualitative process as researchers seek to build confidence in their findings (Heale & Fobes, 2013). Data produced from the unit of analyses documents, interviews, and observations combine to increase validity through verification. Therefore, my goal was to confirm findings among the data sets that lead to related conclusions.

Member Checking

Member checking was a validation technique used to confirm the trustworthiness of qualitative data (Birt et al., 2016). Member checking ensures researchers accurately represent the voice of participants by providing an opportunity to confirm or deny the accuracy and interpretation of data (Candela, 2019). Largely, member checking was an opportunity for me to determine whether data analysis was compatible with participant's experiences (Curtin & Fossey, 2007). Questions such as, "am I on the right track and did I understand this the way you meant it?" are sample inquiries that ensure member checking (Carlson, 2010, p. 41). For my study, I presented findings to my participants to clarify and confirm the accuracy of data. The method of ensuring validity of my data was indispensable when collating implications.

Researcher Bias

Avoiding researcher bias was vital in representing meaningful and accurate data. My passion for examining the experiences of students living in homes with nonresident fathers was a result of household trends of Black families and my first-hand experience (Creamer, 2020). During my adolescent years, I lived with my two siblings and mother who at the time was an elementary school teacher in an urban district with a master's degree. For several years, she taught extended mornings and afternoons to compensate for the financial loss left by my father. Throughout middle school, I experienced social and academic hardships due to my father's absence. While my father took my brother and me to football games and attended our practices, a gap was created. Economically, our household was reduced to one income that was responsible for basic necessities such as food, clothes, and shelter. Ancillary funds for vacations were not available. Also, behaviorally, I often acted out in school due to the lack of consequence given at home as my mother worked two jobs.

Despite the circumstances surrounding my upbringing, I am on the precipice of completing my fourth college degree along with being a husband, father, and educator for 16 years. I leaned on my mother's unyielding influence and sports as a means for supporting my growth and development. My coaches and teammates contributed to the installation of core values such as discipline and perseverance that I rely on today. Still, there remained a void left by my father that I did not know existed until my latter school years. In order to not generalize and distort the design of my study for students living in a home with a nonresident father, I suspended my personal experiences to determine the unique influences that support development of each participant. For example, even though my mother-lead family struggled, every student whose household resembled mines may not. Through a neutral lens, strategies used to collect, analyze, and report the findings of my study were essential in offsetting this potential bias. To assist in this process, I incorporated the practice of reflexivity or selfsearching. Reflexivity is meant to ignite reflection and being attentive to one's perspective and personal voice, (Patton, 2002). I implemented the practice of reflecting throughout the duration of the research process. Recording my thoughts and observations in a journal sustained the integrity of my findings by bracketing my experiences. Finally, I ensured the suppression of biases as researcher through member checking.

Reliability

Establishing consistency in my study was performed within the framework of reliability. Methods such as interviews, surveys, and observation protocols were the same for each case study participant to maximize reliability. Yin (2018) suggested:

The objective is to be sure that, if a later researcher follows the same procedures as described by an earlier researcher end conducts the same study over again, the later investigator will arrive at the same findings and conclusions. To follow this procedure in a case study research means studying the same case over again, not just replicating

the results of the original case study... The goal of reliability is to minimize the errors and biases in a study. (p. 46)

This principle informed my role as researcher by applying identical techniques throughout my study. While the findings may vary, it was critical that the procedures used to collect and analyze data did not.

Crystallization

Crystallization in qualitative research offers a deeper understanding of a phenomenon and represents knowledge across multiple points on the qualitative continuum. In addition, researchers must make sense of their data through more than one way of knowing. Finally, crystallization included a significant degree of reflexivity relating to the roles, research design, data collection, and representation (Ellingson, 2008).

Information presented in Chapter 3 introduced methodologies that I used to explore the contextual space of students with nonresidential fathers. As an ethnographic researcher, I investigated social interactions and behaviors of participants in their natural setting (LeCompte & Preissle, 1993). To perform this research inquiry, I collected data from multiple sources of evidence (Yin, 2018) such as documents, interviews, and observations to create opportunities to better understand how father's absence impacts children on a day-to-day basis. Participants for my study identified as Black male or females 18 years old who living in a home without the presence of their father. Finally, the aim in this section was to thoroughly describe the methodologies used to capture each participants' point of view.

Accurately portraying their experiences is critical to the verification process (Denzin & Lincoln, 2018). I carefully analyzed data and meticulously described the behaviors, actions, that emerged from data. I was not able to generalize behavior/actions/activities as replacement behaviors/actions/activities. However, drawing inferences from the data about

behaviors that research generally attributes to behaviors that typically develop or develop best when or with the presence of fathers in the home was essential. Conclusions were specific to the small sample set of my study and not to the overall population of those fitting my study criteria.

In the forthcoming section, I report the findings from the procedures used to collect data. The discussion of Chapter 4 is centered around themes that emerged as a result of analyzing each document, interview transcripts, and observation. Reporting data accurately is the aim of this section.

CHAPTER 4

FINDINGS

Overview

Examining the lived K-12 experiences of African American students with nonresident fathers generated helpful data to more effectively assist educators by incorporating student's voice. Black students living in homes without their fathers was the overarching problem investigated in this dissertation. Shook et al. (2010) suggested Black children from single mother homes, particularly those living in poor communities are at a higher risk of experiencing developmental hardships. Noel et al. (2019) extend this claim and described the uneven access of wealth single Black families possess as a detriment to their social growth in comparison to white families. In either case, Black households investigated have been impacted by the absence of fathers. Consequently, the purpose of this ethnographic case study was to identify influences that fill the gap of nonresident Black fathers. Influence for this dissertation was defined as people and/or experiences and/or activities engaged in positively or negatively. Throughout the research process, I utilized principles embedded in qualitative research and relied on participants' views and perspectives to report on their lived experiences (Hancock et al., 2009). Specifically, ethnography and case study were the two theoretical traditions deployed to better understand meaning of the phenomenon studied and will be detailed in the following paragraph.

Ethnography was fitting for my study as an aspect of culturally based fieldwork, enabling me to be immersed in everyday activities (McGranahan, 2018). I was able to describe the social context, relationships, and other relevant processes by assimilating inside the environment of my participants. Additionally, pattern matching and cross-case synthesis

are principles of case study that were instrumental in uncovering meaning of documents, interviews, and observations in this qualitative study (Shareia, 2016; Yin, 2018). Collected data provided direct access in making meaning of my participant's lived academic and social experiences in comparison to generalized literature that align family outcomes with social conditions and marital status (Akerlof et al., 1996; Hemez & Washington, 2021; Washington, 2010). Implementing principles of ethnography and case study supported the investigation of the phenomenon, Black students living with nonresident fathers and were also aligned with the research questions as described in the subsequent section.

Each research question was interrogated to better understand the experiences of the research participants and the influences that impacted their development. The central research question investigated: What replaces the presence of African American fathers for children living in non-paternal homes? The four sub-questions explored: (a) How do students describe their relationship with their resident guardian? (b) What contributes to the social emotional, and academic development for students with nonresident fathers? (c) What are the lived school experiences for 12th grade students with nonresident fathers? and (d) How do urban schools support the academic and behavior needs for students with nonresident fathers? Correspondingly, qualitative inquiries were executed to produce evidence specific to participants lived experiences (Agee, 2009). These investigative research questions served as a guide for collecting data from multiple sets to fortify the experiences of Black students with nonresident fathers.

Overall, a strength of qualitative research is its ability to provide a multifaceted textual description of how people navigate and experience a given research issue (Mack et al., 2005). During the collection process, I was enlightened by the experiences and issues

facing Black children living in homes without their father's presence. Empirical data were collected by means of official documents, structured and semi-structured interviews, and participant observations. Furthermore, the analysis of data produced critical findings that supplied an overview of participant's perceptions, and the interpretation of these findings yielded conclusions and recommendations based on the population studied.

In addition, the study was conducted in a metropolitan Midwestern urban high school where 83% of the students were reported as Black. An indicator trusted to report the level of concentrated poverty is the number of students who qualify for free and/or reduced lunch, (Greenberg, 2018; The Condition of Education, 2021). Demographic statistics reported 92% of students in the school setting where data were collected qualify for free or reduced lunch based on their family's income status. Accessing and identifying participants in one central location was helpful in maximizing time apportioned for collecting data. Additionally, sampling methods outlined in Chapter 3 identified five African American 12th grade students who provided a robust description of their experiences. Patton (2002) reported information-rich cases can provide an accurate representation of the issues studied. Participants were identified based on the following criterion sample: (a) 18 years old or older, (b) Black/African American, and (c) live in a home without the presence of their father. Originally, snowball sampling procedures were designated to bolster research participants; however, criterion surveys produced a sufficient pool of candidates.

Examining the experience of Black students with nonresident fathers commenced by presenting an overview of the research study to every 12th grade student in the auditorium, followed by the school counselor disseminating participant surveys. Every Black student at the site was not a candidate based on the inclusion criterion; therefore, eligible students were

vetted with permission from the district superintendent and the school's database system. After initiating the research study, participants were asked structured interview questions before pivoting with follow up questions. Using semi-structured interview questions created greater access to the ideas and thoughts of my participants (Blee & Taylor, 2002). As an ethnographic researcher, full immersion in the day-to-day lives of those studied was essential (Pratt & Kim, 2011; Sangasubana, 2011); however, the urban school setting where data were collected and the weekly rate of collections were negatively impacted by the Coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic. At the onset of collection, recommendations for engagement by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2021) restricted the mobility and assembly of non-household members to reduce the transmission of the virus within the community. The plan was to observe, interview, and communicate with participants inside of their home; however, I was not permitted access to research participants outside of school. As a solution, the familiarity within the school setting and knowledge of participants prior to collecting data was valuable. Prior relationships assisted me in navigating the school environment and connecting with participants to establish a mutual rapport throughout the research process.

During the initial meetings with participants, I asked informal questions such as their favorite subject and what type of activities they engage in outside of school. This process formed a relationship between the me and the participants that did not exist prior to collection. There were many points during data collection and analysis that resonated with my personal experience of growing up with in a home without my father's daily presence; thus, alleviating biases through bracketing assumptions and personal beliefs was paramount (Fischer, 2008; Tufford & Newman, 2010). Recognizing and understanding researcher bias

and the influences that distort the results of a study can be neutralized through reflexivity (Galdas, 2017). Throughout data collection, I suspended my perspective and preconceptions associated with the population studied and relied on memos to accurately record behaviors during observations and interviews. Research findings were confirmed throughout the duration of the study by participants and the subsequent section provides an overview of the data collected.

Over a 4-month period, data were collected through observing, gathering and examining official documents, and interviewing participants. Beginning with examining official documents, high school transcripts, attendance records, grade cards, and discipline records were collated for all participants over four school days. These documents are official records from each participant's elementary, middle, and high school years. Moreover, Otter, a transcription software program recoded the dialogue between the researcher and each participant. Research participants were interviewed three times per week for approximately 12 weeks unless school was cancelled or the participant was absent. Cancelled sessions or postponements were rescheduled until all participants were presented with consistent questions. The duration of each interview lasted approximately 50 minutes or one class period. Observational data gathering commenced during the second week of data collection. Participants were observed twice per week across multiple settings including the classroom, hallways, and cafeteria. Classroom observations lasted the entire 50-minute class period, while hallway observations lasted 2 to 3 minutes. Students at this site ate lunch in their classroom, therefore cafeteria observations lasted approximately 4 minutes and the remainder of the lunch period observation was spent in the classroom. Finally, three out of five participants attended an off-site vocational program where 30 to 45 minutes were spent

recording participant's interactions and behaviors in each setting. Overall, observations were performed over 12 weeks and at different times of the school day to record students interacting with multiple teachers and classmates. Interactions among school administrators and participants was captured between the high school building principal and one participant, Ricky. The purpose of this one-on-one interaction was to review Ricky's academic transcript to ensure he remained on track to graduate. Each of the other four participants were not required to meet directly with the high school principal.

In the preceding section, I provide a detailed overview explaining how data were collected, recorded, and evaluated. Altogether, documents, interviews, and observation memos were examined to bolster my understanding of the educational experiences regarding the phenomenon, Black students living in homes with nonresident fathers. Each unit of analysis was instrumental in uncovering themes that advance the academic and social pedagogy for urban educators who serve this precise population. The following section provides an in-depth summary of the methods used to analyze data. Each step in the population studied.

Data Analysis

At the conclusion of examining documents, interview transcripts, and observation memos, four themes emerged from the data gathered from my participants. In this section, I provide definitions of themes to assist in amplifying the stories and voices of African American students living in nonresident father homes. Educational archives such as transcripts, grade cards, and attendance and discipline records were analyzed and instrumental in framing student's scholastic experience. These documents were the first data

sets I constructed into themes, followed by developing individual codes. Coding is the process of labeling and organizing qualitative data to identity and distinguish themes, patterns, and relationships between them (Williams & Moser, 2019). Data coding was performed by reading and adding labels to each document, interview transcription, and observation memo. This process was repeated until all data were identified and sorted into specific codes. As data were condensed, four principal themes emerged, (a) achievement, (b) development, (c) experiences, and (d) school support. The emergence of these themes crystallized, meaning multiple forms of data analysis were implemented to create a coherent and detailed understanding of the phenomenon (Borkan, 2021; Ellingson, 2009).

In this section, I explain four themes that emerged following data analysis. In total, achievement, development, experiences, and school support materialized after data were collected. Understanding the lived experiences of Black students living in homes with nonresident fathers following the analysis of documents produced the overarching theme, *Achievement*. Achievement was supported by the interpretive codes (a) cumulative GPA, (b) class rank, (c) standardized assessment, and (d) senior readiness. Grade cards, disciplinary records, and attendance reports contributed a distinct foundation of information that highlighted participants K-12 academic experience. For example, elementary grade cards were examined and compared to middle and high school grade reports to frame participant's academic performance. In addition, behavior infractions existed for two out of five participants, and I examined their disciplinary records to establish a timeline for misconduct and document the nature of each incident. Finally, attendance records were investigated for all participants, with two case study members having excessive absences. Attendance data and its impact on achievement were corroborated by each case study member during the

interview process. Throughout this process, educational patterns began to emerge and I obtained participant's perspective to construct their perception, attitudes, and beliefs. For instance, after all documents were initially coded, I created interview questions for students to discuss their thoughts, opinions, and beliefs regarding their educational experiences during those years. At the conclusion of data collection and analysis, I triangulated the different data sources to build a robust and comprehensive profile. This form of member checking strengthened the reliability of research methodology. In qualitative research, reliability refers to the replicability of the collection and analysis procedures, along with the consistency of yielded data (Leung, 2015). A margin of variability of the results is tolerated provided the methodology process is consistent (Noble & Smith, 2013).

The next step employed to magnify each participant's voice was to analyze the second dataset, participant interviews. The dominant themes established during the interviews were development and experiences. Development included the following interpretive codes: (a) core values, (b) kindergarten readiness, (c) father presence, (d) father absence, and (e) student perception. Experiences was the next theme and it included (a) parenting style, (b) play & exercise, (c) father separation, (d) family vacation, and (3) financial situation as emergent interpretive codes. With each interview, participants appeared more comfortable sharing previously hidden and disclosed details about their past experiences. As participants began to share, I intentionally did not interrupt, but I listened intently for indicators to insert follow up questions or move to the next question.

Additionally, prior to each interview session, I instructed student participants that at any point if they felt uncomfortable, we could skip the question or table it for later. After each interview, data were vetted by coding data and presenting findings to each participant.

Students were asked if interview memos accurately embodied their thoughts and perspective. This process was repeated until I verified every theme and code. I conducted analysis in this manner in part due to the coding software. Every conversation between participants and me did not record verbatim, therefore; I transcribed my notes and relied on participants to confirm their statements.

The final dataset utilized in my study to support the evaluation of participants were observations. The principal theme emerging from observations was school support. School support encompassed the interpretive codes: (a) teacher's attitude, (b) informed teacher training, (c) teacher influence, (d) leader influence, (e) school climate, and (f) school environment. Participants were observed across multiple settings including the cafeteria, hallway, classroom, and vocational training. Observational data created opportunities to be an external bystander and not interfere with participants daily interactions. On many occasions, my presence was not detected to purposely record authentic exchanges. I collated data using a journal to document student-behavior, teacher-behavior, and the overall environment. After chronicling each observation, I sorted behaviors by themes. These themes were presented to students during a segment of the interview. Students were sought to include their perception, thoughts, and feelings involving the behaviors that occurred during each observation.

I spent weeks examining documents, interview transcripts, and observations prior to member checking data with participants. Understanding my position as an ethnographer prompted daily self-reflection to ensure data were accurately collected and recorded (Morrison, 2015). I utilized a journal to assist in organization and making meaning of data following every observation and interview. Each journal entry included a description of the

environment and participant's overall behaviors, followed by a narrative summarizing data. These transcriptions were often organized into future interview questions or coded for observation and interview codebooks. An additional procedure applied to maintain the accuracy of qualitative research was reflexivity. Reflexivity is described as a set of continuous, collaborative practices through which researchers self-consciously critique and appraise their influence on the research process (Morrison, 2015; Olmos-Vega et al., 2022). Isolating my assumptions and experiences was instrumental in gaining an accurate understanding of my research participants' lived experience. I examined my role as researcher and navigated different layers of self-awareness to ensure my beliefs did not interfere or distort data. After all official documents were assembled and organized, I read them and made notes in the margins. These notes were beneficial in ensuring participant's experiences were at the center of research opposed to literature that generalize the outcomes of students with similar backgrounds (Radel et al., 2016; Sandstrom & Huerta, 2013). Participant's lived educational experiences supplied direct knowledge of their academic history, and the interpretation of findings yielded conclusions based on the population studied. Additionally, their experiences delivered an alternative perspective to the literature that suggest Black students with nonresident fathers will encounter the criminal justice system (Lloyd et al., 2021). Three out of 5 participants lived with their father during childhood and corroborated existing literature that suggest Black fathers are active in development (Jackson et al., 2015; Julion et al., 2021). Each of the three participants shared their father contributed to nurturing them and social development.

Trustworthiness of data is vital in ensuring credibility or confidence of the qualitative researcher's data (Stahl & King, 2020). Determining how congruent the findings were with

participant's reality was also confirmed through member checking and the examination of interview responses. Birt et al. (2016) characterized member checking as the bedrock of high quality qualitative research and is a technique to substantiate credibility. During each interview, the software program recorded and transcribed the dialogue between myself and each participant. The recorded conversations were consistent; however, some words and phrases were omitted, or not transcribed verbatim. In these instances, I read through the transcriptions following each interview to rectify any omissions as soon as they were discovered. I read the interview transcripts twice before verifying the participant's responses during the next interview session. I asked follow up questions to extend the dialogue and activated an initial phase of analysis used to disaggregate data for the codebooks.

Specifically, conclusions were derived with each participant after member checking and sorted into preliminary themes and coded accordingly.

Each analysis procedure described in the previous section utilized documents, interviews, and observations to enlarge the stories and voices of African American students living in homes with nonresident fathers. Attendance records, grade and discipline reports characterized student's academic experiences, while interviews amplified participant's voices. Finally, observational data added meaning of the behaviors and interactions between participants and individuals across multiple environments. These findings were confirmed through member-checking and in the next section, I provide an in depth analysis of each theme and the interpretive codes that transpired from the data.

Data Coding

Data coding is an analysis procedure used in qualitative research to process and prepare field notes, recordings, and documents (Miles, Huberman, & Saldaña, 2014). Saldaña (2013) defined a code as:

Most often a word or short phrase that symbolically assigns a summative, salient, essence-capturing, and/or evocative attribute for a portion of language-based or visual data... In qualitative data analysis, a code is a research-generated construct that symbolizes and thus attributes interpreted meaning to each individual datum for later purposes of pattern detection, categorization, theory building, and other analytical processes. (pp. 3–4)

Principles of data coding characterized as descriptive and interpretive were instrumental in identifying emergent themes and patterns. Descriptive coding assigns labels to data using a word or short phrase (Miles, Huberman, & Saldaña, 2014) while interpretive codes require more elaborate definitions to maximize understanding of the phenomenon (Saldaña, 2016). Documents, interviews, and observation guides were three codebooks implemented to categorize and sort data in preparation for analysis. All codes together strengthen data and aids researchers in constructing a thick description of the phenomenon (LeCompte & Schensul, 2013).

The following four themes emerged from the synthesized and condensed codes in data collection: (a) development, (b) experiences, (c) achievement, and (d) school support. Identifying emergent themes and principal code patterns were supported and created from the data sources. The process of constructing themes is a powerful method in maximizing trustworthiness of data, as well as mitigating assumptions and misinterpretations (Kiger & Varpio, 2020). Following data collection, documents, interviews, and observation memos were verified to record frequency and establish themes. Documents were first coded to categorize participant's educational experiences while interview data were substantiated

between the participants and myself. Finally, observational data were confirmed after categorizing behaviors into codes and presenting findings to participants. Collectively, these data were applied to better understand meaning of the phenomenon studied, specifically Black children living in homes with nonresident fathers. The ensuing section highlights themes that emerged from the datasets beginning with development, followed by experiences, achievement, and school support. Each theme includes interpretive codes that advance the understanding and knowledge of the population studied.

Development

Development was the first theme identified in my study and was defined as the process of learning new and appropriate behaviors through relationships, including acquiring core values, problem solving skills, and how to get along with others throughout children's developmental years (Sanders, 2013; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2018). Five interpretive codes comprise this theme including: (a) core values, (b) kindergarten readiness (c) father presence, (d) father absence, and (e) student perception. Havighurst et al. (2019) reported children's overall development is impacted immensely by father's emotional socialization skills and methodologies. Participants provided a detailed overview of the influences that contributed to their collective development throughout their adolescent years beginning with core values.

Core values are defined as the principles and character qualities instilled in students during development. Identifying how students acquired fundamental qualities that shaped their personality traits were essential to my study, particularly as Mary et al. (2012) wrote:

Parents are a child's first teachers and role models. They are responsible for shaping up the child's behavior and implementing positive values in them. Children listen, observe, and imitate their parents. So, it is important that they should be good role models the kid would want to follow. (p. 2)

Core values emerged from the data and played a significant role in identifying the influences that shaped the character of participant members.

Kindergarten Readiness is described as the academic skills and social support students receive prior to their first day of kindergarten (Hatcher et al., 2012). This construct was significant in multiple studies involving Black children as kindergarten teachers perceived Black children as lagging behind white children academically, along with self-regulatory aspects of school readiness (Iruka et al., 2019; Rouse et al., 2005). Each student investigated in this study felt academically and socially prepared for kindergarten as a result of their resident guardians(s). *Father Presence* is defined as the daily presence of a student's biological father over an extended period (Krampe, & Fairweather, 1993; Thomas et al., 2007). The presence of fathers was documented by each research member in this study. The findings suggest fathers played an important role in academic and social development when living with students. *Father Absence* is defined as the absent presence of a student's biological father over an extended period (Shinn, 1978). Findings suggest, father's social and financial influence decreased when not living with students. Student Perception was defined as the image students hold relating to their physical appearance, intelligence, and overall selfesteem (Dumas, 2018; Jena, 2015). Student perception in this includes how one views certain abilities and character traits that distinguishes one person from another.

In this section, I described the theme development and the supporting codes that emerged from the data. The ensuing section introduces the theme experiences, along with interpretive codes that advance the meaning of the findings.

Experiences

Experiences are described as the positive and negative relationships and childhood events that affect the overall emotional, mental, and physical health and well-being of children (Bethell et al., 2019; Hays-Grudo, & Morris, 2020; Sacks et al., 2014). Student's experiences for my study were better understood following the examination of six descriptive codes including: (a) parenting style, (b) play & exercise (c) father separation, (d) family vacation, (e) financial situation. Recording the experiences of participants provided a better understanding of the events that contributed to their academic development, social growth, and overall health. The initial code that emerged from the data collected was parenting style.

executed to support social development (Kuppens & Ceulemans, 2019). Students investigated provided a first-hand account of their guardian's parenting style and the influence their parents had on development. *Play & exercise* is defined as the structured and unstructured supervised play among parents and their children. Playful interactions occur within the context established by parents who may offer an abundance of nurturance and active development to young children (Roopnarine & Davidson, 2015). Play-like activities can include laughing, rough-and-tumble play, or mental stimulation. In this study, play & exercise represented the relationship participants displayed with their resident guardians during their developmental years. *Father Separation* is defined as the time participants spent with fathers following their parent's separation (Xerxa et al., 2020). Outlining the impact of a father's separation on the social, emotional, and academic development of participants materialized from the data. Generally, the impact of parent-child separation are consistently negative children's social-emotional development, mental health, and academic growth

(Waddoups et al., 2019). Bonds of attachment are developed in children during infancy and further tethered throughout early childhood and adolescence (Garriga & Pennoni, 2020). *Family Vacation* is defined as the events and experiences coordinated by families, exposing children to various cities and recreational activities (Durko & Petrick, 2013). The opportunity to engage in family vacations emerged from the yielded data and represented the social experiences of participants. *Financial Situation* is defined as the monetary flexibility individual households allocate for their bills and disposable income (Kim et al., 2017). Examining how families maneuvered their financial capital to provide for the participants investigated played an impactful role in understanding the types of resources that were available to them.

In the previous section, I described the theme experiences and the supporting codes that emerged from the data. The subsequent section introduces the theme achievement, along with the interpretive codes that add meaning to each of the findings.

Achievement

Investigating student's academic development contributed to better understanding the influences that impacted learning. Achievement was the overarching theme highlighted in this subsection and is defined as the educational outcomes that identify student's performance level on summative and formative assessments throughout their K-12 educational experience (Winne & Nesbit, 2009). The following four themes emerged from the data: (a) student cumulative GPA, (b) class rank, (c) standardized assessment and (d) senior readiness. Measuring the achievement of Black students with nonresident fathers was significant as literature reports African American parents are often perceived as being less

engaged with their children's education compared to parents of other races (Bartz et al., 2017; Bridges et al., 2012).

Student Cumulative GPA is defined as the student's semester grade point average on a 4.0 scale from their freshmen, sophomore, junior, and senior year (Steward et al., 2008). I examined Student's GPAs and included them in this study to provide an overview of their academic performance. Class Rank is defined as student's academic ranking based on their semester GPA in comparison to every senior (Lang, 2007). Class rank was used as a benchmark in this study to compare student's overall academic performance with their peers. **Standardized Assessment** is described as the student's scale performance on the statewide standardized Math and English language arts/reading tests (Fazzaro, 2006). I investigated participant's performance on multiple state assessments to assist in framing their academic experience. Senior Readiness is described as the academic, social, and behavioral support students received from their home environment to prepare them for a postsecondary career or educational program (Ascend at the Aspen Institute, 2018). Gaining access to high-skill employment, soft skills, and academic training is introduced at school and reinforced by parents who are engaged in the learning process. Throughout this process, research participants summarized the influences that contributed to their anticipated graduation date. This included family support, academic tutoring, and social development.

In the previous section, I described the theme achievement and the supporting codes that emerged from the data. The following section introduces the theme, school support along with interpretive codes that enhance meaning of the findings.

School Support is described as the programs, strategies, and educational support used by teachers and building leaders to bolster the academic and social achievement of

students in urban classroom settings (Lam et al., 2009; Rice et al., 2012). The codes that contribute to this theme are: (a) teacher's attitude, (b) informed teacher training (c) teacher influence (d) leader influence (e) school climate, and (f) school environment. School support was influential in not only identifying the academic and social resources participants received in their learning environment, but also how their ability to learn was impacted by the human capital within the school. Across multiple educational systems, leaders have envisioned high-leverage ways to acquire effective teachers who maximize resources that improve learning (Myung et al., 2013).

Teacher's Attitude is defined as the teacher's perspective, energy, and outlook towards teaching, students, and the school environment (Lou & Murray, 2018). Attitude can influence a student's performance positively or negatively. If a teacher appears detached or uninterested, they can create learning barriers that impede students from reaching their academic potential (Omolara & Adebukola, 2015; Sivakumar, 2018; Ulug et al., 2011). Teacher's attitude emerged during data analysis and represented the positive and negative influence teachers had on students.

Informed Teacher Training is defined as the strategies students would implement and endorse if they were the teacher, including how they would motivate, instruct, and keep students engaged (Awla, 2014; Wilson, 2012). This code developed during this study and it exemplified the thoughts and ideas of participants as it related to how to meet their academic needs. Findings from the investigation suggest that as students learn and experience instruction in diverse ways, it is helpful to include their perspective of which instructional strategies are more effective.

Teacher's Influence is the teacher's response to academic and social decisions that impact the classroom environment (Dannetta, 2010; Holden & Rada, 2014). Teacher influence was summarized by participants in my study as a critical element that influenced their academic performance. **Leader's Influence** is the building leader's response to academic and social decisions that impact the classroom environment (Dhuey & Smith, 2014; Goldy, 2016). According to the research participants, leader's influence was not as influential as teacher's influence, however; findings suggest building leaders are significant to student's social and academic development. **School Climate** is defined as the attitudes, mood, and perceptions within the working and learning atmosphere among students, teachers, and building leaders (Thapa et al., 2013). Observation data were confirmed by research participants, suggesting the school climate has a positive and/or negative impact on learning. School Environment is defined as the actions, behaviors, and relationships that procedurally impact safety and learning (Lawrence & Vimala, 2012). Students investigated suggested the learning environment played an important role in shaping their educational potential and academic achievement. Byers et al. (2018) implied there is a positive correlation between learning environments and student-achievement.

In this division of my dissertation study, I introduced the emergent themes and codes that support my research phenomenon, Black children living in homes with nonresident fathers. Overall, participants contributed a robust and personalized snapshot of the academic and social supports they received throughout their childhood and adolescent years. Each pillar was essential in framing their experiences, along with cross-case analysis among other members in this investigation who share similar characteristics. Thus, the succeeding section

is a culmination of the first-hand reflections, stories, and experiences through the lens and voice of my participants.

Participants

Ricky

Ricky is an 18-year-old African American senior who resides in a home with his mother. He described himself as having a passion for cooking and enjoying spending time with his friends. Developmentally, his household experiences have impacted his maturation and will be detailed in this section. The first significant theme that emerged throughout data collection was development. The interpretive codes that supported this theme within the interview datasets were: (a) core values, (b) kindergarten readiness, (c) father absence, and (d) father presence. Core values was the first interpretive code that developed during the interview process. Ricky explained,

Growing up, both of my parents taught me right from wrong. I was not really a kid that got into trouble too much, but when I did, I knew better. I would say my mom and dad made sure I worked hard in school, but mainly my mother focused on the academics. But I would definitely say my mom made sure I treated people the right way.

Throughout the interview procedure, Ricky frequently credited both parents for establishing a foundation of right from wrong. He mentioned that as he has gotten older, the trouble he got into was by his own doing and the decisions he has made.

My parents gave me what I needed in life. Sometimes I don't always do the right thing. I'm working on it. Also, they told me when I was little what it takes to not give up when things don't go my way, and to keep trying. My dad would tell me when I was a kid to be honest, even if it means I would get into trouble. He made sure I would tell the truth.

Kindergarten readiness was the next interpretive code that resonated during data analysis.

Ricky explained during his developmental years, he lived with both parents; however, it was his mother who stressed academics the most.

My dad is really into the arts and is real creative. He would watch me while my mom went to work when I was younger. But my mom is the one who made sure I knew my ABC's and stuff like that. Both my parents read to me when I was little. My mother would make sure I knew how to write my numbers and my name. I would say my mother really made sure I was ready for kindergarten. That was the age when my parents split up so, I had to learn things pretty quick.

Ricky also emphasized he felt as smart as the other kids in his kindergarten classroom and he did not have any problems keeping up academically. School did not become difficult for him until his third or fourth grade years. Ricky reported,

School was not really hard for me. I did my work and I played with the other kids in my class. I did not go to preschool or anything like that since my dad stayed home with me. I would say school became hard in like 3rd or 4th grade. So yeah, I felt pretty ready for school when I was little (kindergarten).

The third code under the development theme was *Father Absence*. Father absence played a role in influencing the development of Ricky following his parent's separation. During multiple interview sessions, he mentioned how he had to grow up faster because his father was no longer there. Additionally, he stated, "I had to be the man of the house with my father gone." Ricky also described how his mother would leave a key under the doormat and he would let himself in after school. Ricky's social development was impacted by his father's absence as he no longer visited the art museums,

When my parents separated, me and my dad did not go to the museums as much. Really we stopped going all together. My dad had an art background and that's something we used to do together. I liked going to art shows and things like that because we used to talk about different pieces of artwork and how creating art was up to your imagination. He would say, "when artist draw, they unlock different parts of the brain."

The final interpretive code that materialized during my research investigation was *Father Presence*. Despite Ricky's parents separating at the age of 6, he still maintained a close relationship with his father. He revealed,

I would go over my dad's house on the weekends and stuff. My parents had joint custody so that was pretty cool. My dad was not on child support or anything like that so I pretty kept a good relationship with him and saw him a lot. Me and my dad don't really talk about personal stuff too much, but I feel like if I had to open up to him I could.

Currently, Ricky explained that he does not spend as much time with his father because he works on the weekends and after school, but explained they still communicate through text messaging. He summarized this conversation by clarifying, "Just because my father was not there, doesn't mean he was there." I asked him to elaborate on this statement, and he stated, "Even though I did not grow up in the house with my dad, doesn't mean he was not a part of my life." Ricky explained the relationship with both his mother and father has played a big role in his development.

The second significant theme that emerged following data collection was school support. School support was highlighted by three interpretive codes including: (a) teacher's attitude (b) student as teachers, and (c) school environment. Ricky first mentions the relationship between teacher's attitude and motivating students.

Teachers play a big role in how much students learn. I think their attitude good or bad can help students want to learn, or it can turn students off from learning. For me, not a lot of my teachers acted like they believed in me. I got in trouble, but not more than the next kid. I wish I had teachers who would try to motivate me more. They pretty much just let me be. Sometimes my teachers in elementary school would act like they didn't care if I got the answer right. They act like they just wanted me to be quite. I honestly think I could have done better in school if they would have taken time to know what was going on with my parents or if they would have talked to me about why I was misbehaving.

Following our initial conversation, Ricky explained that his teacher's perception of him played a role in how they treated him in the classroom. He expressed how often he got in trouble in elementary school in comparison to other students in the class.

Student as teachers was the ensuing interpretive code that materialized following data analysis. Ricky was asked to describe what he would do as a teacher of Black children who share similar experiences as his. Emphatically, he suggested schools should establish programing for Black students with nonresident fathers,

If I was the teacher, I would show kids that I care about more than just their education and whether they learn or not. I care about them as people. I want to make sure kids know they can count on me to go the extra mile when it comes to them learning. Also, kids like me who grow up with a single parent should have a support group after school or something. This would be good to help kids talk about different situations outside of school. Also, kids need role models. A big brother or a big sister. Just a father figure. I would make sure kids have someone to talk to for support. If it was up to me, kids would know that just because they don't live with a father, doesn't mean they don't have someone who cares about them. I would make sure they know I care about them.

Student as teachers as described by Ricky provided transparent insight into his perception of what Black students need to be successful in the event they grow up in a comparable situation as his. When dialoguing with him, he became somewhat emotional about the topic. I asked Ricky if he would like to skip this set of questions and he said no. In fact, he made a point to clarify his responses in greater detail.

I think some schools give up on kids too easy without trying to find out how they can help. Do schools try to go the extra mile to make sure kids, Black kids learn as much as possible? I would definitely put after school programs in place where kids could hang out and talk, or get their homework done. Sometimes kids don't have anybody at home to help them with their homework, especially if they live with just their mother. So I would create a place for kids to get tutoring or something.

The final interpretive code was school environment. He described the school environment a place where students can learn if there are no fights or bullying. Ricky further explained,

I believe teachers and principals are in charge of making sure kids feel safe at school. It's kid's responsibility to make sure we are safe, but I think if teachers keep students safe, they can be more engaged in their school work.

Raleigh

Raleigh is an 18-year-old African American senior who currently resides in a home with her older sister. She described herself as quiet and enjoys creative arts and writing in her journal. Overall, various household experiences have impacted her development and will be detailed in this section. *Experiences* was first significant theme that emerged throughout data collection. Raleigh summarized her experiences as,

My experience growing up was nice until my parent's relationship was messing up. I was raised by my parents, grandparents, aunts/uncles and older cousins. At that point I had an older sister and two younger brothers. My childhood was nice, I experienced a lot, but it helped me make better decisions and helped me shape how I want to live now. When I was little I always went on family cruises every year, or I was going out of town to another state for a family reunion. So my childhood was filled with traveling and being family oriented.

My relationship with my mom is amazing. She was always there for all her children especially when she had to provide and raise us by herself. She's very protective over us and spoils us, but also lets us know when we're wrong and other life lessons. I don't live with my dad, but I talk to him every now and then. He's very supportive in what I want to do with my life. I know I should talk to him more, but sometimes I just don't know how to. My older sister is technically my guardian now because I live with her. Our bond has grown stronger over the years, but she's always been there for me, so it's nothing new.

The interpretive codes that supported this theme within the datasets were: (a) parenting style, (b) family vacation, (c) father separation, and (d) financial situation.

Parenting style was the first interpretive code that appeared following the examination of data. Raleigh described her parent's parenting style as,

My parents' parenting styles are pretty different, but they want the same outcome for us. My mom she's strict, but she also knows that we are eventually going to grow up, so she teaches us ways of life while letting us know it's okay to make mistakes, but learn from them and change. I can say my dad is a bit more chill, but he's strict at the

same time. I'm grateful for having to deal with their parenting styles because I know other people's parenting styles aren't the best.

The next interpretive code highlighted by Raleigh was *Family Vacation*. Raleigh spoke joyfully of her traveling experiences with her family when asked what she liked most about her childhood. She stated, "I liked being able to go on cruises, and go to different states and countries with my family and have fun. I enjoyed being around my siblings." Additionally, Raleigh shared,

I love going to the library. I wish I could go to the museum more. Growing up I went on 14 cruises with my family. Mostly on my dad's side of the family, but we went on a cruise pretty regularly. My granny like she was in charge of like the whole thing (the planning). So yeah, so my grandma and my mom, my brothers would all come with us. After I got older and my parents split up, we stopped going. Then again, the last cruise I went on was in 2017. It was before COVID. We went to the Bahamas.

Raleigh's face glowed when reflecting on her childhood experiences. She made a point during the interview process to recount her many of vacation adventures. Conversely, she also recalled the relationship between her parents. She reported, "I lived with my dad until I was 6 years old and that was around the time my parents got divorced." *Father separation* is the next interpretive code outlined in this section. According to Raleigh, life became more difficult, and her mother was impacted the most,

It was more difficult for my mom because there were four of us and she had to raise a house by herself. I didn't really know what was going on as a child, so I didn't know how to feel about it. But getting older I started understanding and learning how to cope with it.

The relationship between Raleigh's parents and the impact it had on her family was brought up several times throughout data collection. She shared, "What I least liked about my childhood was that my parents couldn't coexist. I didn't like their toxic relationship." She maintained that despite her parent's relationship, other members of the family, particularly

her grandmother helped provide support. Additional support was provided to Raleigh and her siblings by a counselor. Raleigh disclosed,

Most of the time, I held my emotions and feelings in. I really just try to ignore them or I will write in my journal. That's why my mom put me in counseling after my parents got a divorce. My mom put me and my sisters in counseling when I was in elementary school. I stopped going in middle school. I don't remember why. But I go see the counselor once a week now. He's pretty nice. He likes to talk about stuff outside of school. It's pretty helpful.

Financial situation was the final interpretive code under the theme, experiences.

Financially, Raleigh described her family's economic status flourishing prior to her parent's separation and challenging afterwards.

Finances were good, but then dad left. My mom was in school and basically had to quit and get a job. My grandparents helped pick up the slack. They supported us a lot. The breakup caused my family to split. We went to live with my grandparents. To be honest, we were never broke. Even if we couldn't get everything, we never complained about money.

When my dad was there, things were a lot better. My dad worked a General Motors. He was pretty much our provider when I was growing up. After he left, things became more difficult, but my mother and grandparents did a good job of keeping food on our table. I'm not a complainer anyway, so things really didn't bother me too much.

Raleigh talked in detail about the how her family used their family and other resources to make sure everyone had what they needed. She complimented her mother's determination and perseverance, but also mentioned how things were a lot easier financially when her dad was around. Ultimately, although his salary was not replaced inside the home, everyone was still taken care of.

School support was the next dominant theme that transpired as part of the analysis process. Three interpretive codes were emphasized to better understand meaning (a) teacher's attitude, (b) informed teacher training, and (c) leader Influence. Teacher's Attitude was

distinguished by Raleigh as a critical influence that helped determined whether students learned or not. Raleigh suggested,

It absolutely matters if your teachers like you. I have seen students get away with a lot of stuff like misbehavior or being able to receive extra time on their homework. All because the teacher likes them. Then I have seen students who the teacher does not like get in trouble for the smallest thing. It's like once you get a bad reputation at school, you cannot change it. I like teachers who treat kids fair, especially because we are still learning. A lot kids have to grow up and mature. So yes, the teacher's attitude impacts what students learn and how many opportunities they get for learning new skills.

According to Raleigh, a teacher's attitude is not limited to how students are treated in the classroom, but also the type of attention they receive. After engaging in a dialogue involving students and teachers, Raleigh began outlining how classroom teachers overlook specific students.

The biggest thing for me to measure a teacher's attitude is seeing who they believe in. Who do they go the extra mile for? Who do they give extra help to? Who did they tell they can do it, or you got this? These signs say teachers are willing to support certain kids, but not everyone gets this type of positive attention. I believe a teacher's attitude motivates students in a way that they want to do well because the teacher believes in them. But, other students are impacted negatively by teacher's attitude by not believing in them. They may feel like the teacher does not care about me so why should I try.

Informed teacher Training was the next interpretive code that supported the domain, school support. Under this theme includes a detailed overview of the procedures she would implement if she was the teacher of Black students with nonresident fathers. Raleigh stated,

The first thing black kids need are male role models. If students like me don't have a father in the home, they need someone they can look up to. It's not just that they need a role model though, they need a positive role model. Students need to see someone who looks like them is doing well and believes in them. When adults believe in kids, that can motivate them to keep trying or do better. Kids who grow up in the urban area don't always have a positive role model, so if I were the teacher, I would make sure students have one. The next thing I would do is have programs that make kids more comfortable in school. Sometimes it's hard enough not having a parent their everyday to talk to, so I would want to create a space were kids feel safe to talk in the classroom or to a counselor. Sometimes teachers are so worried about teaching and

they don't stop to see how we're doing or did we have a good night. I wouldn't do this. I would let kids know every day that I care about them. One more thing I would do is let kids express themselves. I don't talk a lot, that's just my personality. But I think a lot of kids don't feel they can talk to their teachers, so they hold whatever their dealing with inside. The last thing I would try to do is be more positive around students. Many teachers are always yelling and fussing. Kids don't always need that. I would be happy and positive around them especially if they did not see their mother because she had to work nights.

Raleigh spoke passionately about her position and the steps she would take to ensure students had a champion. Students who share similar experiences as her can be successful in the right environment. This brings me to the final interpretive code, leader influence. Building leaders play an instrumental role in shaping the classroom space as well as what is taught in school. Raleigh added, "Leaders control the behaviors of everyone in the school. Teachers, students, and other adults are impacted by the principal." Raleigh described one of the characteristics of quality leadership as:

A leader is someone who does not give up kids and let them tear up the school. Public schools around here have a reputation of not being well-behaved. A good leader can take control over any school and make sure learning takes place. Another example of leadership is someone who you see in the halls and classroom. I had a principal who sat in the office all day. You never saw them.

Raleigh extended this point by making sure to explain the difference between good leaders and bad ones. Specifically, she explained that good leaders have a presence about them that brings everyone together, while poor leaders are often responding to situations after they happened. Additionally, Raleigh was intentional about pinpointing resources leaders could provide families who grow up in comparable households as her. She stated,

School leaders need to communicate better with families about different programs to help Black kids. Sometimes families don't know the type of resources that exist for them. Also, it is important to me that teachers look like the kids they teach. Kids need to see that their role model looks like them and believes in them. Also, kids need to feel wanted. If they don't feel wanted at home, they should be loved by someone at school. Principals should make sure kids know they have someone who cares enough about them to check on them when they're not in trouble. Last thing. Black kids don't

need to be treated at school like society treats us. We need a place where we can make mistakes but learn from them without getting in too much trouble.

Reggie

Reggie is a 19-year-old African American senior who currently resides in a home with his mother. He described himself as extremely athletic and enjoys playing sports outside of school. Overall, the first significant theme that emerged from analysis and confirmed from the voice of Reggie was achievement. Achievement was accompanied by two interpretive codes (a) class rank, and (b) Standardized Assessments. Academically, Reggie described his school experiences as stressful and he struggled to make academic gains commensurate with his peers. Reggie shared,

I haven't always been the best student. Sometimes I try, other times I don't. My favorite class is English because I like the teacher. The class that I hate the most is math, because me and the teacher don't get along well. The biggest reason I feel like I struggled in school is because I always got in trouble. My teachers made it stressful for me. Also, my teachers in preschool and kindergarten thought I was slow because I didn't talk. We would have circle time and I would sit back and never say anything.

Reggie immediately associated his academic performance and effort with his relationship between his teachers. He further discusses that he was diagnosed with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in middle school and began seeing a therapist for his behavior. Reggie described the therapy sessions as unpleasant, "I hated going to therapy, I would cry and tell my mother not to send me back." To mitigate his academic struggles, his mother would reach out to his teachers, but could not afford to provide him a tutor.

I believe my mother wanted to send me to a tutor to help me with my grades, but we really didn't have money like that. I would try to stay after school and work with my teachers, but that didn't last very long. I just felt like school wasn't really for me.

Reggie's academic performance was further magnified by the interpretive code *Class Rank*. Out of 36 seniors, Reggie rank 34. He was in the 75th quartile. He expressed in his grades

were a lot better in elementary school. After examining his fourth and fifth grade report card, his statement was supported. During both years, his average GPA was between 2.8 and 3.2. By the time he got to eighth grade, his grade point average fell below 2.3. Similarly, Reggie's high school transcript captured his performance on state assessments.

Standardized assessments is the subsequent interpretive code in under the category achievement. Reggie's achievement on the Measures of Academic Progress (MAP) math and reading assessments reveal Reggie performed in the below basic category in sixth and eighth grade. In high school, the trend continued on the End of Course (EOC) state exam where he scored in the below basic category in Biology, English II, and Government. When asked about his performance on standardized exams, Reggie responded,

I can't say I always tried my best on those tests. Sometimes I would just guess and mark any answer just so I could put my head down and go to sleep. I wasn't really motivated to do well. I mean what was the point?

The next theme that developed from collecting data was experiences. There are two interpretive codes that support this category, (a) play & exercise, and (b) financial situation. Reggie described his childhood as:

Growing up most of the time was fun. I spent most of my time with family and friends or playing sports. I spent a lot of time around people from all different types of backgrounds, some judges, some Congressman, some who are just trying to get by day by day. Being around all of these different people molded me into the person I am today. My relationship with my mother I think can be very difficult at times. I say this because we tend to often bud heads but we get over it and are right back talking to each other

What I liked most about my childhood is that I got to experience a lot of different things and was able to play almost any sports that I wanted to. I say this because looking back at my childhood I really hold on to the memories that I will hold onto the most. As far as my dad, I never spent the night at his house but growing up I would spend many days with him going to work with him or just sitting around the house with him.

Play & exercise was the interpretive code that manifested in connection with the theme experiences. Reggie described himself as extremely athletic and that he really enjoys playing sports. In fact, he would like to be a professional baseball player following high school. He is working to get accepted into a community college to play baseball. Reggie shared,

Growing up playing football I was taught to be a quarterback so that was the first time that I remember being taught how to really throw a ball. My Uncle taught me how to ride a bike. I learned how to ride on a bike that was way too big for me and I was on a hill. When I was a kid well I spent a lot of time with teammates and family so I would always be with them. My coaches pretty much took me in and made sure I had what I needed.

Reggie's source of development came from organized sports and he credited his coaches for providing opportunities to play. During his developmental years, Reggie's uncle showed him how to ride a bike and would often play catch with the football or baseball with him. One final topic Reggie explained was what his father didn't teach him, he picked up on. Financial situation was the final interpretive code under the experience theme. Reggie summarized his financial capital in his household by stating,

My mom struggled to make ends meet. I guess you can say it was difficult growing up without my father because it felt like we never had enough money when I was younger. Sometimes we would go to the store on a budget and get a couple of things for the week. This would last us for a few days. As I got older, it got a better. At one time, my father owned about 14 rental properties. Today, I would say he has about 5 or 6. He made some bad choices a lost a few. My father's income would have definitely helped my mom when I was younger.

He further explained his mother leaned on the church to help them financially if necessary.

School support was the finally critical domain that was highlighted during the analysis process of Reggie's datasets. This theme was supported by two interpretive codes (a) teacher's attitude, and (b) student as teachers. Reggie described his teacher's attitude by stating,

Sometimes I believe that my teachers care about me, but then again, only one or two. I can't really say I had teachers go the extra mile for me. Most of the time they have a bad attitude when I walk in class. I don't really do anything for them to be mad at me. I can read their body language and I know how they feel about me. I just put my head down and I can't wait till the bell rings. My teachers make me just want to get the day over.

Reggie's position on his teacher's attitude was cemented by the idea that he believes if his teachers showed that they cared more about him, maybe he would try harder in the classroom.

The final interpretive code that emerged from the data was *Student as Teachers*. Included in this code is Reggie's outline for supporting Black children with nonresident fathers. He shared,

Schools should take the responsibility of reaching out to mothers and grandparents for kids who grow up without their father. I mean really, they should be more vocal and let parents know what type of help is out there for them. If I were the teacher, I would make sure kids know how to access certain programs within the community to help with their homework if they can't afford a tutor. Another thing I would do is just check in on students. Not every kid is going to look like they have a problem or something is wrong. Teachers should really stop and just talk to kids and make sure they are okay. In my classroom, I would be so cool, I would teach kids about life outside of school.

Reggie maintained this perspective at several points during the investigation. He made it a point to document the struggles kids with both parents go through and how much more kids who don't live with both parents have to find other ways to persevere by using the resources within the school.

Ronnie

Ronnie is an 18-year-old African American senior who currently resides in a home with his grandmother, grandfather, and mother. He works weekends and enjoys spending his free time with his friends. Ronnie has been accepted to multiple colleges and has a passion for working in the construction field. Overall, the first significant theme that emerged and

was confirmed by Ronnie was achievement. This theme included three interpretive codes (a) class rank, (b) standardized assessment, and (c) senior readiness. Academically, Ronnie is a student who was placed on an Individualized Education Program (IEP) when he was in elementary school for having a learning disability in reading. Since that time, he was dismissed from the program and attributes his academic foundation to his mother and grandparents.

Growing up I was always pushed by my mother and grandparents to do well in school because I live in a fatherless home, I believe that it was less of a strict household. I was just required to do a few chores around the house and finish any school work before I did anything else, like going outside and playing with my neighbor's kids or watching a little t.v. Then it was off to bed. Growing up, education was the most important thing to my mother and grandparents, so living in a three parent household I had multiple educational resources available to me, which is why I focus so much on education now. Although I enjoyed school it got a little stressful knowing that once you leave school you had to come home and basically go back to school. Even though I know that education is very important and I know that I feel like it was shoved down my throat for so long that I only try enough to be considered a good student.

My grandparents really helped me with my homework after school, since my mother worked pretty late into the night. She would help when she could but it was mainly my grandparents.

Ronnie's academic achievement was further supported by his class rank. He is ranked eighth out of 36, placing him in the 25th percentile for his class. His high school transcript revealed that he did not enroll in any credit recovery classes, bolstering his high school GPA.

Standardized assessments was the next interpretive code, and Ronnie's assessment data reports from fifth grade throughout high school, he earned proficient or advanced in math and English language arts/reading. This timeline coincides with his dismissal from special education. Ronnie credits his mother and grandparents for not allowing him to dismiss his academics.

Senior readiness is the final code under achievement. Ronnie mentioned his academic performance during his early high school years gave him the flexibility to participant in a vocational learning program that he attends daily during the school day. He is earning his certification in auto body collision. Ronnie's teacher wrote,

Ronnie is an excellent student who does things the right way. He absolutely is a pleasure to have in class. I wish I could keep him for one more year. Ronnie picks up on things well and does a great job of following directions.

Ronnie explained he always worked hard in school to get out of special education and this set the foundation for him being prepared for life after high school.

I had an IEP so reading was one of the biggest challenges for me throughout elementary school but once I hit my fifth grade year, I soon worked my way off of it and was more aware of the benefits of school. I made sure that I pushed myself to ask questions and ask the right questions to the right people who were already there to help me succeed. I did not want to be looked at for being in that program, but for how smart I was. I always knew I could do something positive with my life if I tried hard enough. Now I am able to attend the vocational program and learn a trade that will help me to make money. In addition, I'm in English 110, which is a college level class.

Development was the subsequent theme harvested following rigorous analysis and confirmed by Reggie. This theme was supported by three codes, (a) father presence, (b) father absence, and (c) student perception. Father presence manifested as part of Ronnie's expressed that he would spend summers visiting his father. He shared,

Since I can remember I would go and visit my dad during the summers in Louisiana. My mom and grandmother would send be down there and I pretty much hung out at his house. Things were different because my dad had a different set of rules than I had up here. When I got to middle school, I pretty much stopped going. I would talk to him every now and then on the phone, but I pretty much be too busy working or in school. I can't really say we have a super close relationship, but if I needed something I sure he would try to get it. Then I again, I wouldn't ask him, I would talk to my mom or grandparents.

Despite not living with his father, Ronnie mentioned how well taken care of he is by his grandparents. Father absence is the next interpretive code that supported data analysis.

Ronnie explained,

I didn't have a rough life at all without my dad. We always had food on the table and basically it was like three incomes in the house. My grandparents always made sure me and my sister finished our homework and we chores around the house. Most of the time, my parents did everything for us financially. I don't remember going without things I need growing up.

Student perception was the final code that emerged from the data. In this section,
Ronnie described his overall mental health and his perception of personality. He reported that
multiple people have influence his personality, however, he believed he acts like his
grandmother mostly. Ronnie elaborated,

I've always been a pretty outgoing kid. I never had a hard time making friends or being liked in school. The biggest challenge for me was staying out of trouble and not talking too much. I can remember participating in school performances and stuff like that. Also, I've always been pretty active in the church. I have been able to make some good connections from there. When it comes to my personality, I would say I'm like a couple of people, sometimes like my mom or grandpa, but mostly my grandmother. She's pretty laid back and chill. I would say I handle things like her.

For the most part I try to not overreact about things. I got this from my grandmother as well. If I have a problem, I try to talk things out the person or I just talk to my boys. We have a good relationship. I've been knowing them for a long time. Rarely do I just hold how I'm feeling in. If there was something I would like to do better is being a better putting forth better effort during my last year of school. I kind of got lazy.

Overall, Ronnie was able to explain how he handles specific situations and the area he would like to improve in.

Experiences is the final theme that developed from the data. This theme is sustained by the following interpretive codes, (a) parenting style and (b) family vacation. Ronnie summarized his relationship with his parents as,

We are a close family but we are never all in the same place at the same time. They say I can tell them anything or ask for anything but I like to keep to myself which is pretty common in my house. I would rather just go out with my friend. Everyone gets along well and we all know we can talk to anyone in the house without being judged, and we can ask each other for anything at any time and we will do it to the best of our ability.

For the most part, their parenting style is relaxed or semi strict as long as you get stuff done, and follow the very few rules they have set for us, because they don't want me to make similar mistakes as theirs. My mother isn't really a disciplinarian; she looks at the mistakes she has made, and she tries to help us avoid them. If we do break a rule she doesn't overreact, she just expects me not to do it again.

It was interesting that when talking about his parents, Ronnie included his mother, grandmother, and grandfather. Each person played significant role in nurturing and providing academic and social support.

Family vacation was the final code under this theme. Ronnie talked at length about his experiences of traveling with his family to different amusement parks or camping sites with his church.

When it comes to going to trips, other than visiting my dad, I would go to Missouri. It seemed like we would go there once a year to hang out as a family. Sometimes we would go to the theme park and ride the rides. I really enjoyed those road trips. Another trip I remember taking a lot was with the church. We would drive a couple of hours to this camping ground and stay overnight. That was the only time I've been camping. It was fun. We stayed up all night telling jokes and eating. A lot of kids like me don't get exposed to camping so that was pretty cool. My last vacation memory was with the chess team. We traveled to the state tournament and I did pretty well. I've been playing chess since elementary school.

Ronnie commended his family for exposing him to a variety of activities during his childhood. He believes, without those experiences, he would not have the financial resources to go until after he finishes college.

Rian

Rian is an 18-year-old African American senior who currently resides in a home with her mother. She has been accepted into college and has been an honor roll student every year of high school. Rian's household influence has played an important role in her development and the first significant theme that emerged was experiences. This theme included two interpretive codes (a) parenting style, and (b) father separation. Better understanding both codes required an examination of the events that impacted her childhood.

Growing up it was me, my two twin sisters, and my mom and dad. I have other siblings on my dad's side of the family, but due to the fact that they live out of state I never really got to have a relationship with them like I have with my two sisters. My mom and dad tried to make the whole family thing work for a while, but once I turned three, they split and it's just been me and my sisters and my mom ever since. But at the same time, I spent most of my time with my mom. It was always me and her and my sisters. So, once they split it didn't really change much. I still see my dad every other weekend. They co-parent really well. But as I got older, he stopped coming around and stopped calling so I grew up not really talking to him or having a conversation as much with him. And it just kind of felt like I didn't have a father but I had one if that makes sense.

Once my mom started noticing my dad coming around less, she began to bring me and my sisters to church a lot. We first started going a couple months after I was born and that is where I met my grandparents that are like my parents. I love those two to death. My mom knew from her own personal experience how important it is to have a father figure in your child's life. And she made sure I had one, my grandpa. He and my nana are my adoptive grandparents since my biological ones don't live in town. But they have given me a second home, they have taught me what love should look like. What a marriage should look like. What a relationship with God can be if you want one etc. They have shown me what old school love is like and more. My grandpa has shown me how a man should treat me and respect, everything that a young girl should learn and know about life and boys and self-respect he has taught me. Ever since then life has been full of memories and life lessons.

Rian described her mother's parenting style as "old school" in terms of promoting discipline and respect. Rian stated,

My relationship with my mom is good when it wants to be and other times not good. In my opinion my mom has a lot of toxic traits like her mom which is my grandma and I don't have a good relationship with my grandma on my mom's side due to the simple fact I wasn't raised in Arkansas like my sisters were. So, my grandma shows favoritism and that's why me and her don't get along. But anyways me and my mom have issues because she can be very hypocritical and controlling like her mother. And I feel like I can't express myself or my feelings without her finding it disrespectful. Because I was raised around the saying that "if you speak back to your parents that's disrespectful "that you're just supposed to say "yes ma'am or yes sir" no matter what.

Don't get me wrong I think everyone should be raised to use their manners but as I got older, I realized that some of the things parents say or do is hypocritical. And that if I just agree to everything and say yes ma'am and no sir that I'm allowing you to say whatever or be disrespectful to me. And then I grow up and let other people do it or a grown man do it. I'm just letting people walk all over me which isn't okay. So as I got older, I began to speak up for myself and express my feelings in a respectful manner but yet she still finds it

Father separation was the next code that manifested from the data. Rian expressed relationship between her parents played a key role on her development.

I lived with my mother, father, and sisters until around 5. After my parents separated, it was just my mom and my sisters. I still remember going to visit my dad regularly on the weekends. When I got older, not so much. Sometimes I wouldn't speak to him or take his calls. For the most part I got used to him not being around. He still is a great dad. I'm 18 now and I know he tries to make an effort. He brings me gifts for my birthday. I try to have a good relationship with him.

At this stage in development, Rian expressed how her mother worked harder to make sure she had what she needed. Growing up witnessing the relationship between her parents was challenging, but she is grateful for both parents. Rian added,

My mother is extremely independent so not have my dad around did impact her, but she did not give up. My mom did everything on her own and she always found a way to provide when I needed money or something. Overall, it was very difficult without my father because we had a lot of support. My mom made it look easy. We didn't know we didn't have what everyone else had.

The next theme that emerged was development. Development included two interpretive codes (a) core values, and (b) kindergarten readiness. Core values played an essential role throughout Rian's development and were an expectation growing up with her mother.

My mom is a disciplinarian. She is big on discipline. I would honestly say it depends because growing up we would get whooping if we disobeyed my mom or things like that. But as we got older she didn't whoop us as much she talked to us instead. She made sure I showed respect and did the right thing.

In addition, Rian described her church family as an extended family, making sure she understood principles that pertained to her decision-making and relationships. She is a

student who did not have any disciplinary issues at according to the school's information system. Disciplinary findings were verified by the documents and confirmed via member-checking. Additionally, I observed her as interactions with her teachers and peers, and I gleaned similar conclusions.

Kindergarten readiness was the final interpretive code detected during data analysis.

Rian described her process for acquiring skills that propelled her for kindergarten. She highlighted the time spent with her mother and sisters writing name, numbers, and shapes.

Rian shared.

When I was younger, my mother used to read to me. I remember sitting on her lap and we would scribble and stuff like that. She would buy me crayons and markers and I would have fun. Even though my dad was with us, my mother was my primary teacher at home. As a I got older, probably 3 years old, I went to preschool. At preschool, I continued to develop just like my classmates. When I finally did reach kindergarten, there wasn't a lot of things that I couldn't do. I don't think I struggled in school until I got to 2nd or 3rd grade. That's when school became a little harder.

Rian spent her developmental years with both parents, but her academic foundation was established with her mother. My initial thoughts after examining her academic records was that Rian excelled in school. She maintained a GPA of 3.5 in high school.

School support was the concluding theme that emerged from the data. There were two themes that supported meaning-making as it related to school support, which included: (a) students as teachers, and (b) school climate. Both codes delivered a comprehensive overview of Rian's school experiences.

Informed teacher training magnified ideas and concepts Rian would implement to better serve Black students with nonresident fathers. She explained,

If I was a teacher, I would do a better job at being more patient with students. Especially Black students who may need extra support. I would show them that I care about them by allowing them to have a voice in the classroom. A lot times, teachers don't include students in the decision making. Another thing I would do is establish

support groups after school. A lot of times kids don't know that there is someone who has the same situation as them. I would create this space so kids could have someone to connect with

Rian emphasized the importance of creating a space where students could get to know each other and listen. Also, she identified the need to encourage students to stay after school to get tutoring or simply hangout, opposed to going home by themselves.

Lastly, *School Climate* was the final interpretive code that emerged from the data. According to Rian, the climate of the school plays a big role in student disruptions or learning. Rian explained,

I think our school is safe overall. Teachers and principals do a good job of controlling the mood of the school. For the most part, we don't have fights, bullying, or stuff like that. I believe the school climate creates opportunities for students to be themselves and not afraid to make a mistake. This helps get kids out of their comfort zone when they know they can mess up and no one will make fun of them.

Another reason school climate is important is because a lot of kids are learning who they are. When students feel comfortable, they can learn better and may be more willing to accept people who do not look like them or share the same experiences.

Rian conclude the dialogue by explaining what should be done to encourage identify differences in the school. She believed that teachers and principals should have honest conversations with parents and community organizations to educate students on gender, racial, and other biases that may exist.

Evidence presented in this section confirm findings following an intense examination of multiple data sources and member-checking. This process involved examining academic test scores, and attendance and discipline records to create a robust overview of each participant's school experience. Additionally, interviews, and observations were condensed and confirmed by the population studied. Subsequently, the ensuing section will detail how

findings from my study were synthesized along with the identification of commonalities among participants. Data will be represented in a table to connect themes visually.

Synthesis of Findings

At the conclusion of all data collection methods and the analysis portion of my research study, the cross case analysis revealed several commonalities among the participants and the following themes: (a) development, (b) experiences, (c) achievement, and (d) school support. In total, 44 descriptive codes and 15 interpretive codes were present in each case study. Table 1 represents the frequency of themes that emerged from documents, interviews, and observations and were confirmed by the participants. Precisely, development and school support were two dominant themes present in all case studies. Additionally, the leading interpretive codes were teacher's attitude and student as teacher. Each code was verified by the population studied and is included to visually represent their voice pertaining to their academic and social experiences.

Table 1
Frequency Count

Theme	Interpretive Code	Total Frequency Across Cases
Development	Core Values	39
Development	Kindergarten Readiness	38
Development	Father Presence	31
Development	Father Absence	32
Experiences	Parenting Style	23
Experiences	Play & Exercise	17
Experiences	Financial Situation	32
Achievement	Cumulative GPA	19
Achievement	Class Rank	20
Achievement	Standardized Assessment	24
Achievement	Senior Readiness	18
School Support	Teacher's Attitude	86
School Support	Informed Teacher Training	73
School Support	School Climate	43
School Support	School Environment	49
	Total	544

Source: Cases Studies

Each theme contributed to better understanding participant's academic and social experiences. In the following section, I will content will connect my research questions with data collection procedures.

The principal inquiry investigated was: What replaces the presence of African American fathers for students living in non-paternal homes? The sub questions were: (a) How do students describe their relationship with their resident guardian? (b) What contributes to the academic and social development for students with nonresident fathers? (c) What are the lived academic experiences for 12th grade students with nonresident fathers? (d) How do urban schools support the academic and behavior needs for students with nonresident fathers? Collectively, each sub-question was confirmed in the literature and encapsulates better understanding household and educational experience of the population studied.

The first sub-question investigated was "How do students describe their relationship with their resident guardian?" Findings from the interviews were tethered with other data sets to provide a transparent understanding of this inquiry. Despite slight variations in their personal experiences, five conclusions emerged throughout the examination of attendance reports, academic and discipline records, interviews, and observations, which included: (a) strong bond that developed over the years, (b) guardian worked hard to provide, (c) parenting style is strict, but fair (d) house rules are straight forward, and (e) comfortable to share most things with guardian.

Findings from the data collection and analysis process suggested that the bond between resident guardians and research participants can be summarized as an attachment that influences social and academic development. For example, Ricky summarized this

relationship as, "The relationship between me and my mother is very good, I feel like there's a strong bond. We really only have each other in life." Interview data further corroborated his statement and indicated his mother was the primary educator, provider, and disciplinarian throughout his elementary and high school years. Extending the meaning of the bond between resident guardians and research participants can be better understood through the lens of Rian. Rian reported,

Growing up in a house with my mother had its moments. Sometimes everything was good, sometimes, not so good. But in the end, I love my mother for doing everything she could to keep our family together. She could have gave up, but she didn't. Seeing her sacrifice and determination helped us grow closer to each other.

The findings further suggested, the bond among guardians and student participants was instrumental in helping students achieve their academic goals. Raleigh described, "Without my mother pushing me to do my best in school, I don't know how I would be graduating." She added, "This bond was established over the years and partly based out of necessity because all I had was my mother." In total, each participant described their relationship with their resident guardian as mutually respectful despite any disagreements or disputes along the way. Ronnie described his relationship with his guardian as, "My grandmother is the backbone of our family and she scarified personal gains to make sure our family functioned successfully."

Additional interview findings revealed students guardian's worked hard to provide for their family. The resilience of resident guardians resonated during data analysis and is described in this study as parent's determination to ensure student's social and financial needs are met. For example, Raleigh reported, "My mother did not show any signs of not providing what other families had. Even though we only one income in the house, our basic needs such as were always met." This theme was common among the other participants who

described their parent's work ethic as unwavering. According to participants in the study, resident guardians high expectations for behavior and academic were maintained regardless of their financial status. Reggie detailed, "When I was younger, we struggled not having a lot of money, but my mother didn't make any excuses. She made sure I acted like I had sense wherever I went and that I was clean." Other similarities among participants emerged from the findings as they described their guardian's efforts to provide. Ronnie confirmed, "My grandmother, and really my grandfather and mother are the best. They did everything they could to make sure my sister and I had clothes, food, and a roof over our head."

Supplementary findings addressing the research sub-question: How do students describe their relationship with their resident guardian will be explained in the next section. Participant members reported that resident guardians established behavior expectations at an early age and disrespectful behavior was not tolerated.

Establishing household expectations is explained in this study as resident guardians governing practices that held participant members accountable. When house rules such as misbehavior or curfew were broken, it was not uncommon for their mother or grandmother to respond with a disciplinary action. This was a significant finding that emerged from the yielded data following the analysis process. Reggie stated, "My mom is big on discipline, she would whoop me as a child for getting in trouble at school or church." As students got older, they were given more freedom because of the expectations established at an early age. Rian added,

My mother didn't play. I hated getting in trouble because I knew she would lecture me and I would be on punishment. As I got older, I pretty much knew how to act and really didn't get in trouble because she was hard on me as a kid.

Student accountability and meeting the household expectations was also summarized by Ricky. He detailed, "In a way you can say she was my mother and father when it came to discipline. She did not cut me any slack when I was a kid. As I got older, I didn't get in trouble much." Examining the household expectations for students investigated in this study identified the parental influences who held students accountable as it related to their behavior. Additional findings indicated that resident guardians were instrumental in creating and enforcing expectations. Raleigh explained,

Before my parents separated, both of my parents made sure my siblings and I did the right thing and stayed out of trouble. After they separated when I was about 6 years old, my mother was the main person who made sure we did our chores and that rules were followed. Anytime we needed to be disciplined, she was the one who did.

Household expectations were not the only theme involving the relationship between student-participants and their guardians. The communication between guardians and children emerged from the findings and played an essential role in social development. Students reported that the communication with their guardians was open, but there were conversations and topics they withheld from them. For example, all five participants reported having a conversation about drugs and alcohol with their guardian, but only two out of 5 spoke about sexual relationships. Ricky summarized his communication with his mother. He shared,

Me and my mother can talk about anything, it really does not matter. We had the talk about the not giving into peer pressure or doing dumb stuff like drugs or alcohol. The main thing I can say about my mom is that she never just told me what I shouldn't or can't do, but she explained why I. This helped me understand how my choices can cause me to have negative consequences.

Raleigh defined the communication between her mother as also candid and honest. She reported "Growing up, I could always talk to my mother about anything. My mother is a really good listener. I wasn't a kid that got into a lot of trouble, so the things we talked about like boys and stuff were cool." Including the communication between students and their

resident guardians emerged following the data analysis and was instrumental in identifying who students communicated with. Rian described her communication with her mother as honest, but states there are conversations that she does not discuss. Rian stated, "I know my mother would be tripping if I told her about my boyfriends, so I just don't say anything.

Other things like school and work we talk about all the time."

Ronnie explained his communication with his grandmother as authentic; however, he stated that he does not talk much. He reported, "I only talk to my friends, but I know if I needed to talk about something personal, my grandmother would be there. I haven't talked to her about girls or anything like that. I'm not sure why." Reggie's conversation with his mother was recorded as, "I never really talked about my feelings much, but if I did, I would talk to her."

In summary, the relationship between students was investigated among the data sets and confirmed by research members in this section. Overall findings suggest students had a healthy relationship with their resident guardians and they were instrumental in supporting them financially and socially. Data presented in the following section will examine the influences that contributed to the social, emotional, and academic development for the research participants.

The second sub-question investigated in my study was: "What contributes to the social, emotional, and academic development for students with nonresident fathers?" There were three consistent opinions shared among my research participants that clarified their academic and social development including: (a) initial academic and social development, (b) secondary academic development (c) father figures. The initial interview process revealed that Ricky, Raleigh, and Rian lived with their father from birth to 6 years old. During this

time, participants indicated that both parents took responsibility in developing them socially and/or academically. According to participants, family time was spent reading or playing outside. Ricky reported, "My father would take me to the museum regularly and we would have discussions around different art exhibits, but my mother was the main one big on getting good grades in school." Raleigh added, "When my dad lived with me, my mother helped me with my schoolwork, but my dad made sure we traveled. I went on a lot of cruises with my dad." Research members also indicated that their guardians created impactful academic experiences. Rian disclosed,

I lived with both of my parents up until around six or so. Both of my parents would take me and my sisters to the library. It was fun checking out new books and hanging out. After they separated, my mother continued to make sure I had good grades. She was big on school.

The other two participants, Reggie and Ronnie did not live with their father; however, they reported their resident guardian made sure they were academically stimulated by reviewing letters, shapes, and numbers weekly. Reggie stated, "Since it was just me and my mother, she made sure I spent time working on my homework. She did her part; I just didn't like school." Ronnie's childhood experience was described as, "Living with my grandparents seemed like normal, they worked and made sure I did well in school. Academically, I had everything I needed to do well in school." In total, interview findings revealed each student was prepared for kindergarten when comparing their academic performance to their grade level peers. However, by age 7, every case study participant lived in their home without their father, and 4 out 5 students reported as having academic difficulties following the transition of not living with their father. Ricky, Raleigh, Reggie, and Rian each implied their grades were subpar during their latter elementary years, but improved significantly in middle school. Ricky discussed, "At some point, I stopped caring about my grades after my parents split up. I don't

think it was on purpose, I just didn't do good in school." Raleigh reported that she attended counseling at her elementary school to assist dealing with her parent's separation. She expressed, "When my parents separated, my mother signed my up to see the school counselor to help me since my grades began to drop." Rian's perspective of her academic development added richness to this discussion. She described, "When I lived with my mother and father, I was on the right track, after my dad moved out, school became more challenging. I wasn't focused." Reggie did not live with his father at any point in his life, however, interview data documenting his academic performance recommend he could have benefited from additional academic support from his father. Reggie explained, "Honestly, if I lived with my dad, I think I would have done better in elementary school. I think he would have made sure I studied a little bit more and did my homework." Only Ronnie reported not having any academic struggles as a result of not having the presence of his father. He attributed his struggles to effort and a lack of focus, not his household living arrangement. Ronnie explained,

My grandparents were supportive parents who always made sure me and my sister did good in school. I've always liked school when I was younger, but I did not try very hard. My teachers said I had a learning disability, but to me, I was lazy. I did not give my best effort until I got to middle school and eventually, I got dismissed from my IEP.

Investigating the influences that contributed to each case study participant's academic development in middle school also emerged from the findings. Rian credited her mother and church family for being instrumental her academic improvement. She explained,

Getting over my parent's separation was hard, but I turned to my church and my mother helped me in school. She checked my homework and made sure I didn't rush my work. On Wednesdays at church, we had tutoring before Bible study. I liked going because a lot of kids did their homework during church and I could ask questions if I needed it. This helped me a lot.

Raleigh asserted, "Working with the counselor in fifth grade helped me adjust to my parents separation. It still hurt, but my grades began to improve. My mother also helped me with school by going over my math facts and flash cards." Reggie did not live with his father at any point of his life; therefore, he did not experience academic improvement stemming from his parent's separation but he stated, "In middle school, my grades improved a little. My football coaches said I couldn't play ball unless I had good grades. From there, I worked harder to complete my assignments. My coaches motivated me to do well in school. Findings from interview data also documented Ricky's academic experiences and he reported, "I give my mother credit for not giving up on me. In elementary, my grades struggled, but in middle school I can say they got better. It was my mother who talked to my teachers and stayed on me."

Data included in this section identified the influences that contributed to participant's academic development. Four out of five case study members conveyed that their resident guardian checked their homework and made sure their grades were good. Ronnie was the only participated who reported having no academic impact as a result of his father's absence. The social influences that contributed to student's development are documented below in the following sections.

Examining participant's household status revealed 3 out of 5 research members described the initial result of their family's separation as emotionally turbulent. Life as they knew no longer included their father's daily presence, and to compensate their new family structure, supplementary influences emerged. Ricky emphasized, "After my father and mother split up, I had to grow up faster with my mother working nights. At first, I was scared of staying home by myself, but I had to get over it." Raleigh stated, "My parents both played

a role in helping me and my siblings, but after my father left, it was emotionally stressful in the house. My mom did the best she could." Rian shared, "Growing up with my father and mother was good. We did a lot together, but after my parents split up, my mother became moody and I started to act like her."

When asked to describe the development of their personality and specific character traits, study participants named their resident guardians and household influences as the primary factors. Ronnie described his personality as, "My demeanor is passive and non-confrontational. I really think I act like my grandparents. You can say that I'm old school, and it takes a lot for me to get upset." Raleigh described her personality as, "My personality is stable, I'm in a good place. I'm not too down on myself when I make a mistake. I get that from my mother. She tells me to move on and do better next time." Rian added, "I'm happy person who likes to be around other people. My mother is outgoing, and I'm like her. Every time we go out, she's always speaking to people. I make friends easy as well." The final two students reported their personality was like their mother and father, depending on the issue at the time. Ricky expressed, "My dad is chill and so is my mom. I act like both of my parents." Reggie adds, "When things don't go my way, I handle it like my mother. We work hard and try to get through it. We have always been determined to get things done." In all, students identified their personality was shaped by household and environmental experiences.

Father figures emerged from the data, and that theme was equally vital in bolstering the academic and social development for participant members. To varying degrees, each participant continues to have an amicable relationship with their biological father, however, 3 out of 5 participants indicated that they received paternal support from individuals outside of the home. According to Reggie, "My athletic coaches provided social and financial resources

when I was growing up. For real, my mom made it work, but we got extra help from my coaches who were like family."

Raleigh referenced the school guidance counselor was beneficial in helping her to socially process her thoughts and emotions, "Going to counseling helped me deal with my emotions better. I wouldn't call my counselor a father figure, but he was there for me to talk. I would say my mother was like my mother and father." Rian's experience was similar, "Without question, my church family was my father figure. My pastor, I call him grandpa even though we are not related. He should and taught me things a father would." Ronnie credited his grandparents for being great role models. Ronnie stated, "My grandparents are like my mom and dad even though I have both my parents. They showed me what hard work looks like."

Identifying the influences that contributed to the emotional, social, and academic development was document in this section. Overall, resident guardians were overwhelmingly instrumental in social and academic development for each case study. Three out of five students also recognized the influence of social factors outside of the home. Rian described the impact the church played in contributing to her social development, while Ronnie highlighted the influence of his coach and playing sports. Raleigh referenced writing and meeting with the school counselor to help overcome the social difficulties of her parent's divorce. The following section examines the lived academic experiences and provides a detailed overview of the findings associated with the third sub-question: What are the lived school experiences for 12th grade students with nonresident fathers?

There were three dominant themes reported by participants: (a) teacher's attitude, (b) school environment, and (c) achievement. Participants were asked to describe their school

experience, and overwhelmingly they pinpointed the impact teachers had on learning and academic success inside the classroom. Students reported that teachers play an instrumental role in not only how learning is implemented, but also who becomes motivated to learn.

Reggie stated,

My teachers never took time to do anything other than correct my behavior in class. Even though I can be mischievous, I felt that little attention would have helped me do better in school. Really, only a handful of students received positive feedback from the classroom teacher.

Raleigh described the impact a teacher's attitude has on the classroom as contagious. She stated, "When teachers are excited about learning and teacher, so are students. I believe that student's mood is easily shaped by teachers good or bad... Also, teacher's attitude can also negatively affect students by their comments, body language, and actions." Ricky's perspective added meaning in better understanding the sub-question. He explained, "Kids know when teachers have bad attitudes and don't care if we learn. I've been around those teachers. I can say though, when they do care, we all try a little harder." Rian summarized her experience by stating,

Teachers can have a positive influence on learning. Sometimes we come to school unmotivated and all it takes is for that teacher to brighten our day. Other times, teachers can tear us down by being negative and not thinking we amount to anything. That's how I've been treated before. I hate that feeling.

In addition to teacher's attitude, the school environment emerged from the data when describing participant's learning experiences. Participants defined the learning environment as a safety net and an extension of their home according to the interview data set. Case study members reported that the time spent at school equaled or extended beyond the time at home. Ricky detailed, "I'm at school so much, it's like my home away from home." Reggie added,

"Since I spend most of my time at school, it's important that school is a place where I feel safe and respected. If I didn't feel safe, I would stop coming."

Data from the interviews characterized issues inside the school such as bullying and fighting as threats to creating a safe environment. Ronnie mentioned, "My current school does a good job of making sure bullying is not tolerated and that students are safe. When students don't feel safe, they either stop coming or they are not learning because they can be distracted." During the interview, I asked participants to describe the benefit of a having a safe learning environment, and consistently they referenced safe spaces creates opportunities for students to be themselves and to be free to make mistakes without being judged. Raleigh described her perspective as, "Having a safe learning environment is important because kids don't have to worry about fights. When that happens, teachers can teach without a lot of distractions." Ricky added, "I love my school for being safe. If I went to another school that had a lot of fights or bullying, I would probably not do as well and maybe I wouldn't be about to graduate."

Students were also asked their opinion on how to create a positive learning environment. Ronnie referenced leadership and teachers' promoting diversity in the classroom. He stated, "Principals should make sure teachers know how to teach kids that look like me. In elementary school, I didn't have many Black teachers and I felt the school didn't teach me about successful Black people." Reggie also explained, "If principals and teachers talk to students more to see what is important to them when it comes to learning, I think that would help students like me."

Achievement was the third theme to manifest as an outcome of students when describing their school experiences. This theme presented the most variation in terms of the

impact on students. According to the findings, three students were self-motivated or had a desire to learn, while two were not. Rian summarized her academic experience as, "I was very motivated to learn at an early age. I did everything the teacher asked me to do." Ronnie added, "My grandparents made sure I did good in school, but sometimes I was lazy. Still, I felt as smart as the other kids in my class. Raleigh's experience was slightly different as she reports, "I always enjoyed reading and writing in my journal. I remember when mother would put my spelling test on the refrigerator." Conversely, Ricky stated, "I never really liked school. I just made sure I did basics to get by." Reggie explained, "School was hard for me, I'm not gone lie. I can't say I was motivated; I just didn't like getting in trouble with my mother."

Combining participants' lived school experience with the separation of parents reduced the academic achievement for 2 students. Raleigh and Rian expressed how their grades struggled in elementary school following the separation of their parents. Raleigh explained,

When I was in elementary school and I lived with my mom and dad, I felt my grades were good and I was just as smart as other kids in school. After the divorce, my grades began to struggle and my mom signed me up to see the guidance counselor at school.

Rian added, "I like school, I always have. But when my parents separated, I had a hard time adjusting. It took me a couple of years to get back on track. Now my grades are good." It was reported during the interview that parents played distinct roles in supporting learning prior to their separation. Ricky stated, "Even though my mother was the main person to help me read, my dad would look over my homework with me." Raleigh revealed, "My mother helped me the most during school, but I can remember my father reading to me every now and then."

Ronnie mentioned he did not experience any academic effects of not living with his father because his support system was in place. According to Ronnie,

I was a student with an IEP in elementary school and I had to work hard to get out of that program. I hated getting pulled out of class because of my IEP, so I made sure I asked more questions and worked harder. I knew if I performed well in school, I would not need to get pulled out of my regular classes anymore.

This portion of my study addressed the research sub-question: What are the lived school experiences for 12th grade students with nonresident fathers? Findings from the data identified Teacher's Attitude, School Environment, and Achievement as essential themes. In the following section, I identify how schools can support Black students with nonresident fathers.

The final research question that was investigated in my study was: "How could urban schools support the academic and behavior needs for students with nonresident fathers? There were two dominate themes reported by participants included: (a) academic and social programming, (b) informed teacher training. Black students with nonresident fathers used their voice to identify procedures for improving academic and social instruction. Similar to other findings, there was a consensus among each participant in terms of improvement. In this area, students highlighted programming as an essential function that would not only support students in similar circumstances, but also create opportunities to thrive regardless of their household status. For example, Ronnie discussed, "There's a lot of ideas that could be enforced to help others with similar backgrounds as mine, but the biggest is creating academic and social supports like mentors program such as big brothers inside the school to help students."

Reggie suggested, "I think schools should designate a common space where students could connect with other students who share similar household experiences like growing up

with just your mother." According to Rian, "A support group could provide students with before or after school tutoring in the event students cannot receive the help they need at home because their mother or guardian works." An additional type of programming suggested by participants recommended providing resources to single mothers. Ronnie cited, "I think schools have connections and resources that could help single mother families if they knew they existed." Ricky also added, "Schools should work with families in helping them outside of school. Life outside school is important for students who go to environments that lack resources and funding. When it's just your mother working two jobs, it's hard getting by."

An academic program that emerged from the data as a scholastic support for students was informed teacher training. Students suggested teachers are instrumental in the academic process for Black children and should learn specific strategies for instruction. Rian explained, "Teachers have to understand that not every Black student is going to come to class and look excited to learn. But that doesn't mean we're not trying. Sometimes we have a lot on our mind." Reggie reported, "Principals should do a better job of training teachers to be more sensitive to student's needs. With everything that is going on in the world, sometimes kids don't have a clear mind. Teachers should be more sensitive."

Raleigh mentioned, "I don't think many teachers care about us outside of school, but just their classroom. The ones that do care about me mentally and outside of school, I try my best for." Ronnie highlighted, "Principals should make sure teachers are trained to work specifically with Black students like me who do not have a father. They should be trained on how to read different body languages." Ricky suggested, "Teacher training means leaders should invest in social development throughout high school. Core values that may or may not

have been taught at home should be taught at school along with teaching strategies that teach Black kids."

Findings substantiated in this portion of my qualitative study were directly aligned to my research questions and magnified through the voice of my students. Research participant's voices were sought to better understand their individual experiences and to confirm commonalities among the data. Data were analyzed first by coding each dataset and developed into themes. Throughout the coding process, participants' voices described emergent themes and illustrate the accuracy of the findings. This process lasted over three weeks until I condensed the data down to four themes. Additionally, worked to ensure the research questions were interrogated throughout the data analysis process. I relied on my research questions to confirm all research inquiries were sufficiently addressed. In concluding this chapter, I summarize Chapter 4 and provide an outline for my research implications.

Conclusion

Examining the experiences of Black students with nonresident fathers was the overarching theme discussed in this chapter. Data were collected and analyzed from documents, interviews, and observations to represent the voice and perceptions of participants. Although each case study was uniquely different, there were consistencies among research members that informed my conclusions as a qualitative researcher. According to findings from the datasets and confirmed by the population studied, the primary influences that replaced the presence of fathers were resident guardians. Each participant described the responsibility their resident guardian took in ensuring that basic needs were met. Participants attributed their parents for not only instilling core values such as hard work,

but also for providing for them financially. Overall, students reported participating in various activities with their fathers in addition to the financial stability they provided; however, mothers/grandparents were the primary individual who established academic expectations regardless of father residency. One student described how she and her mother do not always agree, but she knows the sacrifices her mother made to support her. In addition, church organizations, counselors, and coaches were identified as key figures whose influence was irreplaceable in meeting their paternal needs. In total, the findings suggest, the absent presence of fathers was replaced by a combination of resources such as resident guardians, community organization such as churches, and athletics that supported development.

The final chapter of my qualitative study introduces implications and recommendations, which will culminate my research process and present next steps for future investigation.

Chapter 5

Implications and Recommendations

Overview

Qualitative research functioned as a conduit to examine the phenomenon of Black children living in homes with nonresident fathers. The journey of exploring Black students with nonresident fathers was near and dear to my heart as I share similar, but not equal experiences. Various experts have examined the problem of Black students living in nonresident homes and associated their household status with negative social conditions (Ritter, 2015; National School Boards Association, 2020; National Student Clearinghouse, 2017). With this study, I sought to investigate student's opinions, feelings, and beliefs about the experiences that occurred throughout their formative and high school years. Ultimately, the purpose of this ethnographic case study was to pinpoint the influences that replaced the presence of Black fathers by the confirmation of students' voice and the triangulation of multiple data sources to build a robust and comprehensive profile. Additionally, an emerging theme that resonated from the findings addressed the research sub-question: "How could urban schools support the academic and behavior needs for students with nonresident fathers?" Providing educators with a transparent and detailed overview of instructional methodologies specific to their learning modalities and needs of students who share similar household characteristics as the population studied will be expounded below.

Literature reports Black students are more susceptible to external influences that impact their ability to flourish academically based on social economic status (Hanks et al., 2018; Noël, 2018; Simms et al., 2007). Factors such as poverty have been linked to the academic gaps between white and Black students (Vannemand et al., 2009). In fact, Barton

and Coley (2007) suggested student achievement correlates with the following home factors:

(a) the presence of two parents in the home, (b) the total hours parents spend reading to children, and (c) frequency of absence from school. Compared to the economic state of white children, Black children were less likely to come from two-parent families, minimizing literacy development for children at the start of kindergarten. Kindergarteners of high socioeconomic status (SES) are read to more frequent (66%) compared to 36% of kindergarteners in the lowest SES group (Barton and Coley, 2007). Dixon-Román, et al. (2013) added, state standardized assessments and discipline records have been used as a benchmark to forecast the probability that Black children will enter the penal system (Same, Guarino, Pardo, Benson, Fagan, & Lindsay, 2018). The school-to-prison-pipeline can be described as an antiquated philosophy that predicts the potential of students, neglecting influences such as teachers, building leaders, and student-efficacy (Heitzeg, 2009; Mallet, 2017; Morgan, 2021; Wilson, 2014).

These ideas were tested in my study and findings suggest students and their families should be commended for overcoming what society would deem as social hardships. For example, Carnoy and García (2017) measured the academic achievement of the lowest SES and reported Black eighth graders scored 0.71 standard deviations lower than white counterparts in mathematics and 0.55 SDs lower in reading. Data further reported the test score gap between poor students (i.e., eligible for free or reduced lunch) and nonpoor students (i.e., those who are ineligible and do not qualify for free and reduced lunch) remained consistent. High achieving students with superior economic capital outperformed poorer students on standardized assessments. Conversely, students investigated in my research performed adequately on various state assessments with 3 out 5 achieving proficient

or advanced. Examining the lived experiences of Black children created opportunities to identify commonalities and differences among the literature, and as an ethnographer, I was fortunate to detail a fraction of the daily interactions and exchanges through immersion and relying on participants' voice to enlarge their story.

Making meaning of students' experiences began with the reexamination of the research questions followed by a discussion of major findings outlined in the literature involving Black students with nonresident fathers and their educational and social experiences. Pinpointing the purpose of my study, what replaces the presence of Black fathers for students in nonresident homes was corroborated within the literature and will be summarized below. Finally, this chapter concludes with a discussion of the limitations of the study, implications, and recommendations.

Research Questions

What replaces the presence of African American fathers for students living in nonpaternal homes was the inspiration and overarching research question investigated. In addition, the following sub-questions contributed to supplying a thick description of the phenomenon:

- (1) How do students describe their relationship with their resident guardian?
- (2) What contributes to the social, emotional, and academic development for students with nonresident fathers?
- (3) What are the lived school experiences for 12th grade students with nonresident fathers?
- (4) How could urban schools support the academic and behavioral needs for students with nonresident fathers?

Exploring each sub-question provided a diverse perspective of the problem studied, Black students living in nonresident father homes. A review of the literature isolated how students advance academically and socially irrespective of their household status (2013; Jackson et al., 2015; Julion et al., 2021; Sams-Abiodun, & Rattler). Overall, an aim of the study was to identify what replaces Black fathers and findings were comprised of four themes including:

(a) development, (b) experiences, (c) achievement, and (d) school support and multiple codes. An analysis of which influences replaced the presence of fathers related primarily to the individual case members, while other codes such as how schools can support Black students with nonresident fathers and senior readiness connected across all cases and will be explained in the following section. Altogether, aggregate findings including kindergarten readiness, parenting style, and teacher's attitude contributed to better understanding student's experiences by pinpointing the influences that shaped development.

Interpretation of the Findings

Students with nonresident fathers were explored to better understand their developmental and k-12 academic experiences. Although all five case study participants shared distinctive qualities: personality, academic achievement, and experiences, descriptive and interpretive codes were present across all cases. Descriptive codes assign labels to data using a word or short phrase while interpretive codes require intricate definitions to enlarge and maximize meaning (Miles et al., 2014). All participant members felt prepared for kindergarten and attributed their academic readiness to parental support inside the home. School support was an additional theme that resonated among all cases following data analysis. Participants indicated the school environment, teachers, and building leaders play an instrumental role in promoting academic achievement along with supporting students

emotionally. Each theme enlarged personal experiences of participants and provided insight of what contributed to their development and will be described in detail in the following section.

Development

Development was the first theme that emerged from the data and played an important role in understanding the experiences of the phenomenon, Black students living in homes with nonresident fathers. There were three major themes that will be highlighted throughout this section: (a) social development, (b) academic development, and (c) financial situation. Empirical evidence in this study reports students with nonresident fathers develop similarly to their peers despite differing experts reporting students with nonresident fathers are susceptible to academic and social developmental barriers as a byproduct of their family's economic status (Barbarin, 1993; Barton, & Coley, 2010; Nam et al., 2015). Contrary to contemporary and historical literature (Nichols-Casebolt, 1988; Mandara et al., 2005; Rambert, 2021), participants investigated developed academically and socially at a rate commensurate with other students. Additionally, although financial and academic hardships may have existed for two out of the five participant members, each student implied their upbringing prepared them for future success and how to overcome possible obstacles. Enlarging the theme financial situation will be detailed in ensuing section.

All five case study members recognized the financial contribution of their resident guardian as instrumental in economically providing resources for their family. Parental income is a criterion frequently used to determine which students qualify for free and reduced lunch (Gupta et al., 2020). Black students participating in the National School Lunch Program (1946) regularly associate economics with lower academic achievement,

disciplinary infractions, and reduced financial capital (Karnaze, 2018; Leos-Urbel et al., 2014). Despite these findings, students investigated in this study consistently did not align with the narrative. In fact, all five participating students have been accepted to college and three out five are National Honor Society members. Overcoming any potential financial challenge to prepare students for graduation was instrumental and will be discussed in detailed in the subsequent section.

Educationally, three out of five participants identified two stages during their academic development including (a) time spent living with their mother and father, birth to approximately 6-years-old, and (b) time spent without their father, approximately 7 years old to the present. During both phases, participants attributed their scholastic development to their resident guardian. Fathers who lived with participants supported learning by assisting with homework and attending parent teacher conferences, confirming recent data that suggests Black fathers are involved in their children's lives academically (Jones, & Mosher, 2013; Perry et al., 2011; Wilson, & Thompson, 2020). Father involvement was confirmed by three out of five participants who reported receiving academic and social support from their father prior to their parent's separation. Following the separation, all case study members established that their resident guardian was the primary champion who read to them as a child and helped with homework.

Parental involvement was a reoccurring theme that bolstered various literary ideas that advocate the importance of parents as teachers (Ceka & Murati, 2016; Pirchio et al., 2013). Each student credited the accumulation of their academic knowledge during their formative years was a product of instruction instilled by their guardian resident. Overall, academic development described in this section acknowledged the importance parents played

in scholastic intelligence. The following paragraph outlines social development related to this research investigation.

Socially, experts propose identity development is shaped by parents, community, and social influences that are routinely present in their daily lives (Rodgers et al., 2020; Stanford et al., 2021). In particular, social and emotional learning (SEL) research refers to life skills that foster interpersonal relationships (Simmons et al., 2018) and parental interactions that not only provide support, but positive parent-child relationships foster emotional expressiveness (Humphries et al., 2014). Children first learn social and emotional competence through socialization inside the home. In this study, research participants reinforced this philosophy and attributed their social development to their parents. In total, each case member described attributes such as temperament, emotional expressiveness, and problem solving with one or more of their parents.

Developmentally, three out of five students in this study reported their fathers played a key role in their social maturity at an early age, but eventually their personality was molded or most influenced by their resident guardian. Additional literature described behavior development for Black children as resilient despite risk factors such as poverty (Aratani et al., 2011; Johnson-Staub, 2017). Behavioral outcomes revealed guardians of students investigated not only emphasized perseverance, but core values such as integrity and commitment were integral in influencing development. Further, four out of five participants reported a key factor relating to behavior development was influenced by their mother's resolve. The final participant attributed her behavior development to her older sisters because they were close in age. She communicated how much she would immolate their behaviors, both positive and negative.

In summary, this section of my study introduced the theme development, along with the subcategories of social development, achievement development, and financial situation. Additional data compared empirical findings such as family's economic status and social development following the analysis process to document student's experiences. Finally, historical and contemporary literature pertaining to student development was examined to identify commonalities and differences among each participant. In the following section, participants' experiences will be examined and corroborated among the research to strengthen and/or fill the gap in the literature.

Experiences

The next theme that emerged following data collection was experiences. There were three common themes present in each case study that will be documented within this section including: (a) parenting style, (b) play & exercise, and (c) financial status. Parenting style was the first significant focus area that resonated during participants' developmental and adolescent years. The relationship between parenting style and the positive and negative responses students receive influences the emotional climate inside the home (Kuppens & Ceulemans, 2018; Leung & Man, 2014; Smetana, 2017). Diana Baumrind (1966) pioneered a prototypical description of parenting style and categorized three pillars as: (a) authoritative, (b) authoritarian, and (c) permissive. Each category isolates specific interactions between parents and their children. Students in this study described their relationship with parents as both authoritarian and authoritative. Authoritarian parenting is described as a one-way mode of communication where parents establish strict rules, while authoritative parenting is defined as a nurturing relationship with clear boundaries and guidelines (Estlein, 2016; Idrees et al., 2021). Parent-child relationships were essential to the development of participants and

assisted in shaping meaningful experiences. All five participants described their resident guardian's parenting style during their formative years as authoritarian. As case study members matured, authoritative parenting styles were routinely implemented. Participants were given flexibility to make their own decisions with the understanding of being responsible. The influence of resident guardians was recorded in this section to isolate their social contributions. Next, I will introduce the code play & exercise and its correlation between student development and guardians.

During data analysis, play & exercise emerged as an interpretive code under the theme experiences. Students who resided with their father recalled spending quality time with their dad playing and attending social events. This observation aligns with literature that report Black fathers are active in their child's social development (Cooper et al., 2019; Ransaw, 2014). Active fathers are essential to creating experiences that promote healthy development (Azuine, & Singh, 2019; Livingston, & McAdoo, 2017). Participants who did not live with their father indicated they shared similar active experiences with other family members or athletic coaches. In total, students reported play & exercise was beneficial to participant's social development. One final code under the theme experience involved student's financial status and will be described in the succeeding paragraph.

Previous studies examined economic capital among Black families and align poverty with social status (Damaske et al., 2017; Fins, 2020). Financial flexibility had varying results following data analysis. On one hand, three out of five students indicated that the loss of their father's monetary contribution abated their financial freedom, while the other two participants reported minimal effect of the loss of their father's monetary contribution.

Similar to the literature (Berube, 2019; Moss et al., Broady, 2020), families investigated

benefited from father's financial support. Nevertheless, each student indicated their resident guardian or support system provided necessary resources to support development. The wealth gap was also a common theme among the literature and also in my study. Overall, four out of five participant students indicated that despite their resident guardian providing for them financially, there were times when they struggled. Weller and Roberts (2021) reported Black single parent households face obstacles in building wealth despite innovative policies to reduce systemic barriers (Hernández Kent, & Ricketts, 2021). Tax abatements and housing vouchers were introduced to offset housing polices such as redlining (Sard & Rice, 2016); however, the accumulation of wealth for single Black households is significantly less than Black married couples (Raley et al., 2015; Tamir et al., 2021).

Each theme presented in this section contributed to better understand the phenomenon Black students living in homes with nonresident fathers. Together, parenting style, play and exercise, and financial status emerged within the findings as sub-categories of the theme, experiences. Additional findings following this investigation revealed resident guardians adequately provided for their family financially; however, two-parent households provided greater financial flexibility. The following section provides and overview of achievement and examines literature to specific to understanding the experiences of the research participants.

Achievement

In this section, I will highlight two codes that emerged from data collection (a) senior readiness and (b) standardized assessment. Examining official documents such as academic transcripts, discipline, and attendance records revealed the study participants K-12 school experience was similar in many areas. For example, each student met the academic requirement to graduate high school with their diploma. Educational studies indicate Black

students with nonresident fathers are inclined to experience academic hardships (Fantuzzo et al. 2012; Same et al., 2018). However, academic transcripts disclosed four out of five students met adequate academic expectations throughout their high school career. At no point during the study participants' high school experiences were they enrolled in a credit recovery class. The remaining participant was on the cusp of not graduating with his class and was enrolled in multiple credit recovery classes. Additionally, three out of five students participated in a vocational trade program. Meeting all academic criteria prior to the student participants' senior year was the school's requirement for enrolling in a vocational program.

Upon examination, literature reported the graduation rate for Black students was inferior to white students despite the gap diminishing (National School Board Association, 2020). Compared to my study, this theme was not prevalent as each participant had met the academic requirements to graduate. Other findings report, the educational attainment for Black students on standardized tests are generally lower than white students (Bucknor, 2015; Dixon-Román, Everson, & McArdle, 2013; Knoester, & Au, 2015). This theme was present in my findings as one out of five students performed in the top quartile on high school standardized assessments. The remaining four students scored in the below basic or basic category across all standardized assessments. Despite their performance on state assessments, three students are members of National Honor Society and have remained on the honor roll all 4 years. These findings juxtapose literature that correlate academic testing with achievement (Peterson et al., 2016).

Finally, achievement literature measures student's college readiness following high school. According to reports, African American students are enrolled in fewer advance placement high school courses and are least likely to meet benchmarks in math and science

(ACT, 2016; Jeffery, & Jimenez, 2021). Although three out of five case study members did not know specifically know what they wanted to do after high school, their academic transcripts revealed the completion of dual credit coursework. These students earned passing grades in one or more college level courses. The remaining two students did not participate in advanced coursework; however, all students have been accepted into college. Academically, students in the investigation have minimal scholastic traits that correlate with the literature. Overall, the majority of my case study members have exceeded educational expectations and feel academically prepared for life after high school. School support is the final interpretative code outlined in this chapter and will be examined to better understand student's experiences in conjunction to the literature.

School Support

School support was one the most common themes that existed throughout each participant's conclusions and is described as the influences that promote achievement for Black students with nonresident fathers. First, teacher attitude and the impact it has on learning was consistent throughout the investigation. Quinn and Stewart (2019) reported white educators hold more negative racial stereotypes towards African Americans. Teachers' implicit attitudes towards Black students have a significant impact on educational outcomes (Costa et al., 2021). Students investigated in this study reinforced this principle and expressed teachers who show concern not only for their academic success, but care about them individually are most effective. Conversely, teachers whose attitude is dismissive of student's individual academic needs are less effective. Cultural diversity also plays an important role in maximizing achievement for students with nonresident fathers by dismantling negative stereotypes (Glock et al., 2018). Culturally relevant pedagogy compels

teachers to become familiar with students learning style and identify strategies and techniques to better serve and connect with them (Griffin & Tackie, 2016). Students reported that when teachers show they care, students feel inspired to work harder and meet the academic expectations.

An additional theme presented by students was educational and social programming. This outcome was in response to the question, "What should be implemented to support Black students with nonresident fathers?" Overall, students reported social programming would be beneficial in creating opportunities to receive additional support after or during school. Students shared a common belief that if fathers are not inside the home to support students academically, the school has a responsibility to help meet children's learning needs. Schools are encouraged to create opportunities for Black students to access various academic programs that support learning and development (King et al., 2021). Specifically, if students with nonresident fathers lack academic or social support, schools are encouraged to assist in meeting those needs. Further, students indicated that teachers should be trained on how to interpret body language, particularly of those who may not have fathers in homes to teach children different soft skills (Goodspeed, 2016). Participants believed a lot of behaviors are misread, and interpreted wrongly, and taken out of context, causing teachers to overreact and/or escalate a situation. One final theme that contributed to School Support was School climate.

School climate was represented throughout the findings section of this study, and research participants suggested school climate or the overall attitudes and behaviors inside the school play a significant role in learning. Previous studies support this idea and suggest climate not only impacts engagement, but influences learning opportunities (Kane et al.,

2016). Students' feelings about school and their classroom experience have a critical impact on their daily lives. Likewise, in relation to school support, climate involves keeping students safe and connected to principles and ideas that do not distract staff and students from maximizing learning (McGiboney, 2016; Rapheal, 2017). Study participants reported that climate is essential to bridging the gap between their ability and potential. Ultimately students described how safe learning environments enable students engage without fear of being rejected or bullied.

One area that was not prevalent among my participants but existed in the literature was their perception of disciplinary infractions involving Black students. According to previous studies, Black students are more likely to be suspended or face corrective consequences for their actions (Losen & Martinez, 2020; Rudd, 2014; Smith, & Harper, 2015). Based on student's experiences, they believe Black students are not overdisciplined and the disproportionate rate Black students are disciplined was not an issue.

In summary, included in this chapter was a discussion of major findings associated with the literature on Black students with nonresident fathers and their educational and social experiences. Development was the first theme that emerged from the data and played an important role in understanding the experiences of the phenomenon, while (a) parenting style, (c) play and exercise, and (c) financial status supported the second theme, experience. The final two themes outlined in this section were Achievement and School Support.

Altogether, each topic added meaning to the experiences of participant. These findings were examined to strengthen connections throughout the literature or to isolate dissimilarities. The following section will summarize of the limitations that resonated during this investigation.

Limitations

Qualitative research requires gathering personal opinions, perspective, and experiences from multiple data sources over an extended period of time (Atieno, 2009; Lincoln & Guba, 1985). This labor-intensive data collection technique involves fieldwork and connecting with participants to satisfy research questions (Patton, 2015). Ultimately, the COVID-19 pandemic and researcher-participant relationship were two primary limitations that surfaced during my research investigation. First, the COVID-19 pandemic impacted my schedule for collecting and analyzing data. On multiple occasions, the school was closed as a result of contact tracing, quarantining, or as a result of a school wide outbreak. In instances where school was cancelled, students were rescheduled based on their availability until all data were collected. Additionally, I was unable to enter the home of participants to collect data.

The COVID-19 policies made it difficult to observe and connect with students in their natural environment outside of school. Despite this challenge, I was able to conduct my research investigation during and after the school day. Students were interviewed and observed at school and during their vocational learning program. The second limitation present in my study involved the relationship with participants. The relationship between the researcher and participant requires a deep level of trust (Algeo, 2013; Mack et al., 2011). Prior to collecting data, I was familiar with students as an administrator inside the school. This capacity enabled immediate access to students, however, a different relationship was required to maximize student's comfortability. An example of this, two students were apprehensive in terms of divulging specific information regarding their home-life experiences outside of school. Overcoming this limitation required patience and honesty. To

accomplish this, I engaged participants in casual, unscripted conversation to establish rapport. By the second week into the investigation, case study members began to open up. Finally, I created boundaries within my study and informed participants that communication discussed during data collection would be confidential unless it involved harm to themselves or others.

In the previous discussion of limitations, I highlight threats to my research study. Although my original schedule for collecting data was altered due to COVID-related absences or school closures, I was able to connect with students to fulfill my research questions. Another important factor discussed was the relationship between the researcher and participants predicated on patience and trust. I intentionally did not rush the research process in a deliberate effort to maximize the quality of data. The section that follows will focus on a discussion of important implications and recommendations for future research.

Implications and Recommendations

The phenomenon investigated in this ethnographic case study was Black students living in homes with nonresident fathers. Today, approximately 51% of Black students reside in homes without the presence of their father (Lloyd et al., 2021). However, many statistical calculations involving Black families do not include cohabitating or co-parents (Gonzalez et al., 2014; Shook et al., 2010). This variation to nuclear household status augments the narrative that Black fathers are not present. Similarly, results from this study suggests that fathers who lived with their child for any extended period of time were socially, academically, or financial involved in their development. However, when regularly detached from the home, students described that a parental void existed. For example, three out of five study members identified social hardships of reduced income and fewer vacation experiences

following the separation of their parents. A second element outlined in the finding suggests the principal influence that replaced the presence of fathers was participant's resident guardian.

Varying studies report Black students with non-nuclear households are more likely to experience harmful social conditions that impede their academic and social success (Haider, 2021; Lin & Harris, 2009; Ratcliffe, 2015). This premise was squelched, and research members confirmed social and emotional influence was promoted within and outside the home. Although resident guardians consumed the majority of responsibility for nurturing students, church members and coaches played a significant role in development.

Economically, findings from my study report families did not have the financial capital that existed prior to the separation of parents. According to students, economic flexibility was one of the greatest challenges growing up; however, other family members and organizations assisted in meeting their family's needs. Another important factor that will be discussed in the subsequent section involves the school personnel's role in supporting the phenomenon Black children living in homes with nonresident fathers.

Data yielded from the findings imply schools play a significant role in not only meeting the academic needs of students, but providing social support for students with nonresident fathers is essential. Participants reported schools could better serve students with similar characteristics by creating programs that specialize in identifying resources for students and families. When fathers are not present daily, students could benefit from receiving assistance with homework or talking within a peer group. This outcome resonated throughout the investigation and is important to creating a school climate where students are supported regardless of household status. A final implication that emerged from this

investigation involves informative teacher training. Students investigated consistently suggested teachers need to learn how to better instruct students who may not have access to resources that promote achievement. This recommendation encapsulated the role school personnel play in supporting learning and served a primary framework for conducting qualitative research.

Overall, qualitative research was the appropriate methodology for this study, however interviews and observations are not necessarily designed to capture hard facts. Additional credibility could be given to my study if coupled with quantitative research. For example, statistical analysis may offer evidence to strengthen and enlighten data discovered using quantitative research tools that measure the frequency and statistical impact of nonresident fathers. Another area where quantitative research could bolster my study is financial representation. Family income data could be charted to specifically measure and chart economic income prior to parent's separation and following father's relocation. Each recommendation could be applied that could future research to broaden the findings of this study.

Nevertheless, results from this study were exclusive to the population and sample study size. Findings from this small qualitative study are not generalized, nor do they represent the entire body of Black students living in homes with nonresident fathers. As a result, I recommend future studies focus on enhancing the reliability across a larger sample size. Increasing the sample size creates a wider participant pool that can aid researchers in better understanding the influences that replace the presence of fathers. Finally, qualitative methods included in this portion of my dissertation summarize implications and recommendations for research. Findings recommend, fathers who lived with their children

for any extended period of time were socially, academically, or financially involved in their development. However, when regularly detached from the home, students implied that a parental void existed as it related to social development and financial capital. Data presented in the ensuing section will highlight key findings and bring closure to my research investigation.

Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative study was to identify influences that replace the presence of Black fathers for children living in non-paternal homes. The principal research question investigated was: What replaces the presence of African American fathers for students living in non-paternal homes? In addition, the following sub-questions supported data collection methodologies: (a) How do students describe their relationship with their resident guardian? (b) What contributes to the academic and social development for students with nonresident guardians? (c) What are the lived academic experiences for 12th grade students with nonresident fathers? (d) How do urban schools support the academic and behavior needs for students with nonresident fathers? Overwhelmingly, all five case study participants indicated that their resident guardian made the developmental and academic difference. Students reported that growing up with a single parent or with grandparents did not prevent them from achieving academic success. Likewise, students attributed their academic and social development to their resident guardian along with community organizations such as school counselors, church members, and sports. According to the research participants, outside resources made impactful contributions in supporting their social and educational needs. Ultimately, these influences replaced the void created by father's absence.

Implications from this study further suggest school personnel and social programs are vital in creating a learning environment that intentionally supports this population. Student participants suggested designating a common space where students could connect with other students who share similar household experiences would be beneficial. A second type of programming suggested by members recommended providing resources to single mothers. Students implied that schools may have connections and resources that could aid families with bridging the financial and academic gap when fathers are not present. Finally, identifying who and/or what contributes to a student's social, emotional, and academic development when fathers are not present on a consistent basis was implied in this study. Findings from this qualitative study involving Black families can help students thrive regardless of their household status by relying on community and educational stakeholders to fill the gap of nonresident fathers.

Appendix A

Introductory Recruitment Letter

November 16, 2021

Dear students,

Mr. Shelby is writing to invite you to participate in a research study involving Black children. Below, you will find an overview of the study:

The purpose of the study is to identify influences that replace the presence of Black fathers with children living in non-paternal homes. Influence is defined as people and/or experiences and/or activities engaged in positively or negatively. When fathers are not present on a consistent basis, identifying what contributes to children's social, emotional, and academic development is essential.

To ensure no harm will be done, aliases will be used to protect your identity along with storing confidential information in a secure filing system throughout the study. Confidential records will be secured through the use of password protected files, encryption if sending information over the internet, and any non-digital information will be locked in doors and drawers.

Finally, if you elect to participate, you have the option forgoing your involvement at any point throughout the investigation. Your choice to participate or not is completely voluntary and neither selection will have any educational or behavioral benefit at Allen Village School.

(Counselor will say) I will now distribute a questionnaire for you to complete. Once complete, I will collect the questionnaires and you can return to class.

Appendix B

Consent for Participation in Research Study

Study Title: Examining the Experiences of African American Students with Nonresident Fathers

Principal Investigator: Shirley McCarther, Ed.D. Office: (816) 235-2451

Secondary Investigator: Zackary Shelby, Ed.S. Office (816) 931-0177

KEY INFORMATION

You are being asked to take part in this research study because you are a: [Twelfth grade African American male or female, age 18 or 19 years old, living in a nonresident father home]. Research studies are voluntary and only include people who choose to take part. [The purpose of the study is to identify influences that replace the presence of Black fathers with children living in non-paternal homes. Influence is defined as people and/or experiences and/or activities engaged in positively or negatively]. The total amount of time you would be in this study is [20-30 minutes intervals for no more than 60 days]. During your participation you will be involved in [Responding to interview questions related to your household and family unit; describing your educational and developmental experiences along with factors that have contributed to your maturation throughout school]. There are no benefits to you for taking part in this study. You have the alternative of not taking part in this study.

Please read this consent form carefully and take your time making your decision. As the researcher(s) discusses this consent form with you, please ask him/her to explain any words or information you do not clearly understand. Please talk with your family and friends before you decide to take part in this research study. The nature of the study, risks, inconveniences, discomforts, and other important information about the study are listed below.

WHY IS THIS STUDY BEING DONE?

The purpose of the study is to identify influences that replace the presence of Black fathers with children living in non-paternal homes. Influence is defined as people and/or experiences and/or activities engaged in positively or negatively. When fathers are not present on a consistent basis, identifying what contributes to children's social, emotional, and academic development is essential.

Explain succinctly and simplistically why the prospective subject is eligible to participate. As appropriate, major eligibility criteria may be included in this section.

You are being asked to be in this study because you are an African American student age 18 or 19 years old, living in a nonresident father home.

HOW MANY PEOPLE WILL TAKE PART IN THIS STUDY?

Approximately 4-6 people will take part in this study at Allen Village School.

WHAT IS INVOLVED IN THE STUDY?

Describe the procedures and their duration chronologically using simplistic language, short sentences or short paragraphs. The use of subheadings may help organize this section and increase readability for studies with a large number of procedures.

You will be asked to complete 6 surveys using an internet-based questionnaire. Each survey will take 25 minutes to complete, and you may complete the surveys from your home computer, one each week for 6 weeks. In addition to the surveys, you will be asked to complete short writing prompts relating to your educational and household experiences. The writing prompts will also be distributed twice a week for 6 weeks. After the surveys and prompts are collected, you will be presented with the data and asked to verify the accuracy of the findings.

HOW LONG WILL I BE IN THIS STUDY?

This study last 3 months

WHAT ARE THE RISKS OF THE STUDY?

Identify each procedure with a subheading and then state the associated risk(s) using simplistic language.

Please note: <u>For minimal risk studies (such as questionnaires/surveys) where loss of</u> confidentiality or psychological stress is the only risk; these need to be listed.

There are no physical risks associated with this study. However, some of the questions I will ask you as part of this study may make you feel uncomfortable. You may refuse to answer any of the questions and you may take a break at any time during the study. You may stop your participation in this study at any time.

ARE THERE BENEFITS TO TAKING PART IN THE STUDY?

There are no benefits from being in this research study.

WILL MY INFORMATION BE KEPT CONFIDENTIAL?

The data will be stored in a locked cabinet in the investigator's office and will only be seen by the research team during the study and for 7 years after the study is complete.

For projects that collect electronic records use this standard clause. Describe the security in detail so the participant can understand what protections are in place.

The data will be stored electronically through a secure server and will only be seen by the research team during the study and for 7 years after the study is complete.

The Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) has issued a Certificate of Confidentiality to further protect the confidentiality of the information we will collect from you. With this Certificate, the researcher(s) may not disclose research information that may identify you in any Federal, State, or local civil, criminal, administrative, legislative, or other proceedings, unless you have consented for this use. Research information protected by this Certificate cannot be disclosed to anyone else who is not connected with the research unless:

- 1) there is a law that requires disclosure (such as to report child abuse or communicable diseases but not for legal proceedings);
- 2) you have consented to the disclosure, including for your medical treatment; or
- 3) the research information is used for other scientific research, as allowed by federal regulations protecting research subjects.

Disclosure is required, however, for audit or program evaluation requested by the agency that is funding this project or for information that is required by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA).

You should understand that a Certificate of Confidentiality does not prevent you or a member of your family from voluntarily releasing information about yourself or your involvement in this research. If you want your research information released to an insurer, medical care provider, or any other person not connected with the research, you must provide consent to allow the researchers to release it.

Finally, you should understand that the investigator is not prevented from taking steps, including reporting to authorities, to prevent serious harm to yourself or others.

Finally, for all protocols, conclude with the following standard clause.

The only persons who will have access to your research records are the study personnel, the Institutional Review Board (IRB), and any other person, agency, or sponsor as required by law. The information from this study may be published in scientific journals or presented at scientific meetings but the data will be reported as group or summarized data and your identity will be kept strictly confidential.

WHAT ARE THE COSTS TO YOU?

This section should state the financial obligations the subject may incur as a result of participating in the study. If there are no financial obligations to the subject, then use the following standard clause.

There is no cost to you to be in this research study.

WHAT ABOUT COMPENSATION?

The will be no compensation for participating in this study.

WHAT SHOULD YOU DO IF YOU HAVE A PROBLEM DURING THIS RESEARCH STUDY?

Your estimation of risk determines what additional information you will include in this section. For studies classified as minimal risk, use the following standard clause.

Your well-being is a concern of every member of the research team. If you have a problem as a direct result of being in this study, you should immediately contact one of the people listed at the beginning of this consent form.

WHAT ABOUT MY RIGHTS TO DECLINE PARTICIPATION OR WITHDRAW FROM THE STUDY?

Use the following standard clause.

You can choose to stop participating at any time without penalty or loss of any benefits to which you are entitled. However, if you decide to stop participating in the study, we encourage you to talk to the researcher first to make sure it is safe to do so.

You can decide not to be in this research study, or you can stop being in this research study ("withdraw") at any time before, during, or after the research begins for any reason. Deciding not to be in this research study or deciding to withdraw will not affect your relationship with the researcher(s) or with the University of Missouri Kansas City.

WHOM DO I CALL IF I HAVE QUESTIONS OR PROBLEMS?

You may ask any questions concerning this research and have those questions answered before agreeing to participate in or during the study.

For study related questions, please contact the researcher(s) listed at the beginning of this form.

For questions about your rights as a research participant, or to discuss problems, concerns or suggestions related to your participation in the research, or to obtain information about research participant's rights, contact the UMKC Institutional Review Board (IRB) Office

• Phone: (816) 235-5927

• Email: umkcirb@umkc.edu

STATEMENT OF CONSENT

The purpose of this study, procedures to be followed, risks and benefits have been explained to me. I have been allowed to ask questions, and my questions have been answered to my satisfaction. I have been told whom to contact if I have questions, to discuss problems, concerns, or suggestions related to the research, or to obtain information. I have read or had read to me this consent form and agree to be in this study, with the understanding that I may withdraw at any time. I have been told that I will be given a signed copy of this consent form.

Printed Name of Subject	_		
Signature of Subject	Date	Time	
Printed Name of Person Obtaining Consent	_		
Signature of Person Obtaining Consent	Date	Time	

Appendix C

Participant Questionnaire

Grade	Age	School		
Contact Infor	mation			
Name				
Email				
Phone #				
Ethnicity (Sel	ect all that apply))		
Black	White	Latinx	Other	
Describe your	home setting			
I live with:				
Both parents	Mother (Only Father (Only Guardian	

Appendix D

Parent/Guardian Consent Form

December 1, 2021

Dear Parents,

My name is Zackary Shelby. I am a graduate student in the Department of Education at the University of Missouri-Kansas City and I would like your child to take part in my research investigation. During the second week of December, I will be surveying twelfth grade students at Allen Village School to learn about students with nonresident fathers. If you and your child agree that your child may participate in the study, I will ask them to complete a questionnaire. Completion of the questionnaire should take no more than fifteen minutes to complete.

All of the information I obtain from your child will be kept confidential. Your child's name will not be used on any of the forms they complete, and no information about your child will ever leave school premises with a name attached. The survey that your child completes will be marked with a number I select but no one who works in the school will ever know this number or the responses of your child.

The information collected from this study will be complied into a report that will be available for everyone to see at the Allen Village High School office. The report will not contain any INDIVIDUAL information about children. It will describe what groups of students said. For example, I might describe what "12th graders said" but I will NOT report what an individual student disclosed. I will also use the information from this study to publish articles in professional publications, so that teachers can learn more about youth aggression. Once again, I will never report individual information.

The school principal and the school board have approved the survey. However, your child does not have to participate in the survey and participation or non-participation will not affect your child's grades. If your child does not want to do the survey, or wants to quit after starting, other work will be given to do in the classroom. A school official must be present in the classroom during the survey because of district policy. However, they will not be involved in the student survey process and will not be told who does and does not participate.

There are no direct benefits to you or your child for participating in this study. The information from the survey should help us learn more about the factors that contribute to aggressive behaviors in adolescents. There are no known risks associated with participation in this study, and most students enjoy the opportunity to express their opinions. However, if your child becomes upset, he/she will be able to stop the survey and may choose to talk to one of the school counseling staff.

While every effort will be made to keep confidential all of the information you complete and share, it cannot be absolutely guaranteed. Individuals from the University of Missouri-Kansas City Institutional Review Board (a committee that reviews and approves research studies), Research Protections Program, and Federal regulatory agencies may look at records related to this study for quality improvement and regulatory functions.

The school's superintendent and principal have both approved this study, and below you will find the overview of my research:

The University of Missouri-Kansas City appreciates the participation of people who help it carry out its function of developing knowledge through research. If you have any questions about the study that you are participating in you are encouraged to call (Zackary Shelby), the investigator, at (816-931-0177).

Although it is not the University's policy to compensate or provide medical treatment for persons who participate in studies, if you think you have been injured as a result of participating in this study, please call the IRB Administrator of UMKC's Social Sciences Institutional Review Board at 816-235-1764.

If you and your child agree that your child may take part in the research, please return a signed copy of this form to me in the enclosed envelope. You may keep the other copy for future reference.

You have read this permission form and agree to have your child take part in the research.

Name of Student	
Printed Name of Parent	

Date

Signature of Parent

Appendix E

Interview Guide

Household Related Questions

- 1. Describe your home environment.
- 2. What kind of tasks or activities are difficult, rewarding, and enjoyable for you?
- 3. Describe a typical day at home.
- 4. Tell me about your experiences growing up.
- 5. Who taught you how to throw a ball, ride a bike, played with you as a child?
- 6. Who helped you with your homework as a child?
- 7. What did you like most about your childhood?
- 8. What did you least like about your childhood?

School Related Questions

- 1. Describe a typical day at school.
- 2. Describe your interactions with your teachers.
- 3. Describe your interaction with your peers.
- 4. Do you make friends easily?
- 5. Does whether your teacher likes you impact your effort in their class?
- 6. How do your teachers provide feedback in terms of learning?
- 7. Are you motivated to learn by your teachers?
- 8. How do you learn best?

References:

- Adams, W. C. (2015). Conducting semi-structured interviews. *Handbook of Practical Program Evaluation*. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119171386.ch19
- Adom, D., Hussein, E., Agyem, J. A. (2018). Theoretical and conceptual framework:

 Mandatory ingredients of a quality research. *International Journal of Scientific*Research. 7(1), 6-8. https://doi.org/10.36106/IJSR
- Aja, A., Bustillo, D., Darity, W. Jr., & Hamilton, D. (2014). From a tangle of pathology to a race-fair America. *Dissent*, 61(3), 39-43. https://doi.org/10.1353/dss.2014.0065
- Akerlof, G. A., Yellen, J. L., Katz, M. L. (1996). An Analysis of Out-of-wedlock childbearing in the United States. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*. 111(2), 277-300.
- Allen, Q. (2010). Racial microaggressions: The schooling experiences of Black middleclass males in Arizona's secondary schools. *Journal of African American Males in Education*, 1(2), 126-138. https://jaamejournal.scholasticahq.com/article/18400.pdf
- Allen, S., & Daly, K. (2007). The effects of father involvement. *An Updated Research Sum*, 603, 1-27.
 - $https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5f31005d60d8203846b53362/t/5f3f1372004bb2\\062bbeb685/1597969319224/The\%2Beffects\%2Bof\%2BFather\%2Binvolvement.pdf$
- Allgood, S. M., Becker, T. E., & Peterson, C. (2012). The role of father involvement in the perceived psychological well-being of young adult daughters: A retrospective study. *North American Journal of Psychology*, 14(1), 95-107. https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2012-07703-008

- Alexander, M. (2012). The new Jim Crow: Mass incarceration in the age of colorblindness. *The New Press, New York*. P. 23-24.
- Amato, P. R., Patterson, S., & Beattie, B. (2015). Single-parent households and children's educational achievement: A state-level analysis. *Social Science Research*, 53, 191-198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2015.05.012
- Anderson, M. B. (2018). A seat at the table: African American youth's perceptions of K-12 education. *Frederick D. Patterson Research Institute, UNCF*. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED588907.pdf
- Aratani, Y., Wright, V., & Cooper, J. L. (2011). Racial gaps in early childhood: Socio-emotional health, developmental, and educational outcomes among African American boys. *National Center for Children in Poverty*.

 https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED522681.pdf
- Armstrong, J. (2020). Too many Black babies are born out of wedlock. An antiviolence activist wants to change that. *The Philadelphia Inquirer*.

 https://www.inquirer.com/news/marriabe-black-wedding-philly-jenice-armstrong-20200304.html
- Armstrong, M., & Carlson, J. (2019). Speaking of trauma: the race talk, the gun violence talk, and the racialization of gun trauma. *Palgrave Communication*, 5(112), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41599-019-0320-z
- Aronson, B., & Laughter, J. (2016). The theory and practice of culturally relevant education: A synthesis of research across content areas. *Review of Educational Research*, 86(1), 163-183. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654315582066
- Ashiabi, G. S., & O'Neal, K. K. (2015). Child social development in context: An

- examination of some propositions in Bronfenbrenner's bioecological theory. *Sage Open*, 5(2), 2158244015590840. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244015590840
- Assari, S. (2018). Parental education better helps white than black families escape poverty: National survey of children's health. *Economies*, 6(2), 30. https://doi.org/10.3390/economies6020030
- Astone, N. M., Karas, A., & Stolte, A. (2016). Father's time with children. *Urban Institute*.
 - https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/86341/fathers_time_with_children_0.pdf
- Atiles, J. T., Gresham, T. M., & Washburn, I. (2017). Values and beliefs regarding discipline practices: How school culture impacts teacher responses to students misbehavior. *Educational Research Quarterly*, 40(3), 3-24. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1166647.pdf
- Avellar, S., Covington, R., Moore, Q., Patnaik, A., & Wu, A. (2018). Parents and children together: Effects of four responsible fatherhood programs for low-income fathers. *Mathematica Policy Research*.

 https://EconPapers.repec.org/RePEc:mpr:mprres:a402e2e5debd413fbd90a22aaa9282
- Bailey, M. J., & Duquette, N. J. (2014). How Johnson fought the war on poverty: The economics and politics of funding at the office of economics opportunity. *The Journal of History*, 74(2), 351-388. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0022050714000291
- Bagley, B. (1988). US foreign policy and the war on drugs: Analysis of a policy failure.

- Journal of Interamerican and World Affairs, 30(2-3), 189-212. https://doi.org/10.2307/165986
- Baker, C. (2018). When daddy comes to school: father-school involvement and children's academic and social-emotional skills. *Early Child Development Care*. 188(2), 208-219. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2016.1211118
- Ball, J., Moselle, K., & Pederson, S. (2007). Father's involvement as a determinant of child health. *Father Involvement Research Alliance*.

 https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?
 doi=10.1.1.524.7533&rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Barnes, J. A., & Eadens, D. (2014). A study into the perceptions of students of color and their ninth-grade academic experience. *Education Leadership Review of Doctoral Research*, 1(1), 25-38. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1105679.pdf
- Barton, P. E., & Coley, R. J. (2010). The Black-White achievement gap: When progress stopped. Policy information report. *Educational Testing Service*. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED511548.pdf
- Basileo, L. D., & Toth, M. (2019). A state level analysis of the Marzano teacher evaluation model: Predicting teacher value-added measures with observation scores. *Practical Assessment, Research, and Evaluation,* 24(1), 6.

 https://doi.org/10.7275/cc5b-6j43
- Battle, S. (2017). White teachers' reactions to the racial treatment of middle-school Black boys. *IAFOR Journal of Education*, 5(2), 197-217. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1156337.pdf
- Bell, E. (2014). Graduating Black males: A generic qualitative study. The Qualitative

- Report, 19, 13. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1043551.pdf
- Bempechat, J., & Shernoff, D. J., (2012). Parental influences on achievement motivation and student engagement. *Handbook of Research on Student Engagement* (pp. 315-342). Doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-2018-7_15
- Berger, A. S., & Simon, W. (1974). Black families and the Moynihan Report: A research evaluation. *Social Problems*, 22(2), 145-161. https://doi.org/10.2307/799756
- Berryhill, M. B., & Durtschi, J. A. (2016). Understanding single mothers' parenting stress trajectories. *Marriage & Family Review*, 53(3), 227-245. https://doi.org/10.1080/01494929.2016.1204406
- Bertera, E. M., & Edmonds Crew, S. (2013). Parenthood in the Twenty-First Century:

 African American grandparents as surrogate parents. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 2:178-192. https://doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2013.747348.
- Bhoite, S., & Shinde, L. (2019). An overview on personality development. International Journal of Trend in Scientific Research and Development. https://doi.org/10.31142/ijtsrd23085.
- Billy-Mohamed, R. (2014). The lost boys: Academic achievement and school attitude of African American male students' in an urban elementary school. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 5(6), 33-40.

 https://www.iiste.org/Journals/index.php/JEP/article/viewFile/11203/11561
- Bireda, S. & Moses, J. (2010). Reducing student poverty in the classroom: School-based antipoverty strategies the federal government can learn from and act on. *Center for American Progress*. https://www.americanprogress.org/article/reducing-student-poverty-in-the-classroom/

- Black, S., & Hausman, A. (2008). Adolescents' view of guns in a high-violence community. *Journal of Adolescent Research*. 23(5), 592-604. Doi: 10.1177/0743558408322142.
- Blagg, K., & Luetmer, G. (2020). Measuring and assessing student achievement in urban school districts. *Urban Institute*. p. 1-11
- Blatto, A. (2018). A city divided: A brief history of segregation in Buffalo. *Partnership*For The Public Good. https://ppgbuffalo.org/files/documents/data-demographics-history/a_city_divided_a_brief_history_of_segregation_in_the_city_of_buffalo.pdf
- Bjorklund-Young, A., & Plasman, J. S. (2020). Reducing the achievement gap:

 Middle grades mathematics performance and improvement. *RMLE Online*, 43(10),

 25-45. https://doi.org/10.1080/19404476.2020.1836467
- Bloome, D., & Muller, C. (2015). Tenancy and African American marriage in the postbellum south. *Demography*, 52(5), 1409-1427. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13524-015-0414-1.
- Boller, K., Bradley, R., Cabrera, N., Raikes, H., Pan, B., Shears J., & Roggman, L. (2006). The early head start father studies: Design, data, collection, and summary of father presence in the lives of infants and toddlers. *Parenting*, 6(2-3), 117-134.
- Bolton, C. C. (2004). Farmers without land: The plight of White tenant farmers and sharecroppers. *Mississippi History Now*.

 https://www.mshistorynow.mdah.ms.gov/issue/farmers-without-land-the-plight-of-white-tenant-farmers-and-sharecroppers
- Boschma, J., & Brownstein, R. (2016). The concentration of poverty in American schools.

- The Atlantic. https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2016/02/concentration-poverty-american-schools/471414/
- Bottiani, J. H., Bradshaw, C. P., & Mendelson, T. (2016). Inequity in Black and White high school students' perceptions of school support: An examination of race in context.

 **Journal of Youth Adolescence*, 45(6), 1176-1191. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-015-0411-0
- Bowen, E., & Redmond, H. (Teaching note—no peace without justice: Addressing the United States' war on drugs in social work education. *Journal of Social Work Education*, 52(4), 503-508. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1116731
- Bowen, G. A. (2009). Document Analysis as a Qualitative Research Method. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 9(2), 27-40. https://doi.org/10.3316/qrj0902027
- Bowling, J. S., Boyland, L. G., & Kirkeby, K. M. (2019). Property tax cap policy in Indiana and implications for public school funding equity. *International Journal of Education Policy & Leadership*, 15(9), 1-17. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1225644.pdf
- Bowly Jr., D. (2012). The poorhouse subsidized housing in Chicago. *Southern Illinois University* Press.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1994). Ecological models of human behavior. *International Encyclopedia of Education*, Volume 3, 2nd edition (pp. 1643-1646). Elsevier Sciences.
 - https://impactofspecialneeds.weebly.com/uploads/3/4/1/9/3419723/ecologial_models of human development.pdf
- Bronson, J., & Carson, E. A., (2019). Prisoners in 2017. *Age*, 500, 400. https://bjs.ojp.gov/content/pub/pdf/p17.pdf

- Broussard, A. C., Joseph, L. A., & Thompson, M. (2012). Stressors and coping strategies used by single mothers living in poverty. *Journal of Women & Social Work*, 27(2), 190-200. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886109912443884
- Brown, G. L., Mangelsdorf, S. C., & Neff, C. (2012). Father involvement, paternal sensitivity, and father-child attachment security in the first 3 years. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 26(3), 421-430. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027836.
- Bryant, R. (2013). Taking aim at gun violence. *Clasp.* p. 1-9. https://search.issuelab.org/resources/15101/15101.pdf
- Burton, L. M., Mattingly, M., Pedroza, J., & Welsh, W. (2017). State of the union 2017:

 Poverty. *Pathways: The Stanford Center on Poverty and Inequality Poverty and Inequality Report*. https://inequality.stanford.edu/publications/pathway/state-union-2017
- Cabrera, N., Tamis-LeMonda, C. S., Bradley, R. H., Hofferth, S. L., & Lamb, M. E. (2000). Fatherhood in the twenty-first century. *Child Development*, 71(1), 127-136. https://doi.org/10111/1467-8624.00126
- Cabrera, N. J., Fagan, J., & Farrie, D. (2008). Explaining the long reach of fathers' prenatal involvement on later paternal engagement. *Journal of Marriage and Family*. 70(5), 1094-1107. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2008.00551.x
- Cabrera, N. J., Fitzgerald, H. E., Bradley, R. H., & Roggman L. (2014). The ecology of father-child relationships: an expanded model. *Journal of Family Theory & Review*, 6(4), 336-354. https://doi.org/10.1111/jftr.12054
- Cabrera, N. J., Ryan, R. M., Mitchell, S. J., Shannon, J. D., & Tamis-LeMonda, C. S.

- (2008). Low-income nonresident father involvement with their toddlers: variation by fathers' race and ethnicity. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 22(4), 643-647. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.22.3.643
- Cabrera, N. J., Shannon, J. D., & Tamis-LeMonda, C. S. (2007). Fathers' influence on their children's cognitive and emotional development: From toddlers to pre-K.

 Applied Development Science, 11(4), 208-210.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10888690701762100
- Cabrera, N. J., Shannon, J. D., Vogel, C., Ryan, R. M., Brooks-Gun, J., Raikes, H., & Cohen, R. (2004). Low-income fathers' involvement in their toddlers' lives:

 Biological fathers from the early head start research and evaluation study. *Fathering*.

 2(1), 5-18.

 https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.651.6990&rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Caldwell, C. H., Bell, L., Brooks, C. L., Ward, J. D., & Jennings, C. (2011). Engaging nonresident African American fathers in intervention research: What practitioners should know about parental monitoring in nonresident families. *Research on Social Work Practice*. 21(3), 298-303. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049731510382923
- Caldwell, C. H., Antonakos, C. L., Assari, S., Kruger, D., DeLoney, E. H., & Njai, R. (2014). Pathways to prevention: Improving nonresident African American fathers' parenting skills and behaviors to reduce sons' aggression. Child Development, 85(1), 308-320. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12127
- Cancian, M., & Haskins, R. (2014). Changes in family composition: Implications for

- income, poverty, and public policy. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 654(1), 31-47. https://www.jstor.org/stable/24541731
- Candido, M. P., & Oliveira, V. S. (2021). The status of enslaved women in west central Africa, 1800-1830. *African Economic History*, 49(1), 127-153. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3368/aeh.49.1.127
- Carlson, J., Kendall, A., & Edleson, J. L. (2016). Becoming a good father: The developmental engine of first-time fatherhood. *Fathering: A Journal of Theory Research & Practice about Men as Fathers*, 13(3). https://doi.org/10.3149/fth.1303.182
- Carlson, M., & Magnuson, K. (2011). Low-income men and fathers' influences on Children. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Policy Social Sci*ence, 635(1), 95-116. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716210393853
- Carson, E. A., & Sabol, W. J. (2012). Prisoners in 2011. *NCJ*, 239808(11). https://www.ebony.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/p12tar9112.pdf
- Carson, E. A. (2020). Prisoners in 2018. *U.S. Department of Justice*. p. 1-4. https://bjs.ojp.gov/content/pub/pdf/p18.pdf
- Cartwright, A. D., & Henriksen Jr. (2012). The lived experience of Black collegiate males with absent fathers: Another generation. *Journal of Professional Counseling, Practice, Theory, & Research*, 39(2), 29. https://doi.org/10.1080/15566382.2012.12033885
- Caton, M. T. (2012). Black male perspectives on their educational experiences in high school. *Urban Education*. 47(6), 1055-1079. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085912454442

- Caucutt, E. M., Guner, N., & Rauh, C. (2018). Is marriage for white people?

 Incarceration, unemployment, and the racial marriage divide. *Incarceration, unemployment, and the racial marriage divide* (October 2018).

 https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3274616
- Caughy, M. O., Brinkley, D. Y., Smith, E. P., & Owen, M. T. (2020). Fathering quality in early childhood and kindergarten achievement in low-income racial-ethnic minority children. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 34(2), 215-225. https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000611
- Chaudry, A., Wimer, C., Macartney, S., Frohlich, L., Campbell, C., Swenson, K.,

 Oellerich, D., & Hauan, S. (2016). Poverty in the United States: 50-Year trends and safety net impacts. *Office of the Assistant Secretary of Planning and evaluation*.

 https://alliancetoendhunger.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/50YearTrends.pdf
- Cheadle J. E., Amato, P. R., & King, V. (2010). Patterns of nonresident father contact.

 *Demography, 47(1), 205-225. https://doi.org/10.1353/dem.0.0084
- Chetty, R., Hendren, N., Jones, M. R., & Porter, S. R. (2020). Race and economic opportunity in the United States: An intergenerational perspective. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 135(2), 711-784. https://doi.org/10.1093/qje/qjz042
- Choi, J. K. (2010). Nonresident fathers' parenting, family processes, and children's development in urban poor, single-mother families. *Social Service Review*, 84(4), 655-677. https://doi.org/10.1086/657422
- Choi, J., Zhu, J., & Goodman, L. (2018). Intergenerational homeownership. Urban

Institute.

- https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/99251/intergenerational_homeownership.pdf
- Christensen, J. (2007). School safety in urban charter and traditional schools. NCSRP Working Paper# 2007-1. *Center on Reinventing Public Education*. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED495844.pdf
- Coates, E. E., & Phares, V. (2014). Predictors of paternal involvement among nonresidential, Black fathers from low-income neighborhoods. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 15(2), 138-151. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0032790
- Coates, E. E., & Phares, V. (2019). Pathways linking nonresident father involvement and child outcomes. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 28(6), 1681-1689. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-019-01389-6
- Coates, T. (2015). The Black family in the age of mass incarceration. *The Atlantic*, 316(3), 82. http://uuwhiteness.us/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/READING-OPTIONAL The Black Family in the Age of Mass Incarceration.pdf
- Coles, R., Coles, R. L., & Green, C. S. C. (Eds.). (2010). The myth of the missing Black father. *Columbia University Press*. p. 472.
- Collins, C., Asante-Muhammed, D., Hoxie, J., & Terry, S. (2019). Dreams Deferred:

 How enriching the 1% widens the racial wealth divide. *Institute for Policy Studies*. http://staging.community-wealth.org/sites/clone.community-wealth.org/files/downloads/IPS_RWD-Report_FINAL-1.15.19%20%281%29.pdf
- Collins, C. S., & Stockton, C. M. (2018). The central role of theory in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17(1), 1609406918797475.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918797475

- Cooper, A., & Smith, E. L. (2011). Homicide trends in the United States, 1980-2008. *Bureau of Justice Statistics*. https://bjs.ojp.gov/content/pub/pdf/htus8008.pdf
- Cooper, S. M. (2015, August). Reframing the discussion on African-American fathers:

 Implications for positive development of African American boys. *American Psychological Association*, 1-2.
 - https://www.apa.org/pi/families/resources/newsletter/2015/08/african-american-fathers
- Cowan Pitre, C. (2014). Improving African American student outcomes: Understanding educational achievement and strategies to close opportunity gaps. *The Western Journal of Black Studies*, 38(4), 209-215.

 https://static1.squarespace.com/static/52cf1070e4b048ae22d972b2/t/58b82d46a5790a

 60fdfce8eb/1488465244758/Improving+African+American+Student+Outcomes+%2
 82014%29.pdf
- Coyne, C. J., & Hall, A. R. (2017). Four decades and counting: The continued failure of the war on drugs. *Cato Institute*, 811, 1-28.

 https://www.cato.org/sites/cato.org/files/pubs/pdf/pa-811-updated.pdf
- Craigie, T., Pratt, E., & McDaniel, M. (2018). Father reentry and child outcomes. *Urban Institute*.
 - https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/99370/father_reentry_and_childr en_outcomes_2.pdf
- Crawford, L. M. (2019). Conceptual and theoretical frameworks in research. Research design and methods: an applied guide for the scholar-practitioner. Sage Publishing.

- Crawford, C., Goodman, A., & Greaves, E. (2013). Cohabitation, marriage, relationship stability and child outcomes: Final report: Institute for Fiscal Studies report R87. https://dera.ioe.ac.uk/33085/1/r87.pdf
- Crowe, S., Cresswell, K., Robertson, A., Huby, G., Avery, A., & Sheikh, A. (2011). The case study approach. *BMC Medical Resource Methodology*, 11(100), 2-9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-11-100
- Damaske, S., Bratter, J., & Frech, A. (2017). Single mother families and employment, race, and poverty changing economic times. *Social Science. Res*earch, 62, 120-133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2016.08.008
- Darling-Churchill, K. E., & Lippman, L. (2016). Early childhood social and emotional development: Advancing the field of measurement. *Journal of Applied Development Psychology*, 45, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2016.02.002.
- Davis-Kean, P. E. (2005). The influence of parent education and family income on child achievement: The indirect role of parental expectations and the home environment. *Journal of Family Psychology*. 19(2), 294-301. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.19.2.294.
- de Brey, C., Musu, L., & McFarland, J., Wilkinson-Flicker, S., Diliberti, M., Zhang, A., Branstetter, C., & Wang, X. (2019). Status and trends in the education of racial and ethnic groups 2018. NCES 2019-038. *National Center for Education Statistics*. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED592833.pdf
- DeFina, R., & Hannon, L. (2013). The impact of mass incarceration on poverty. *Crime & Delinquency*, 59(4), 562-586. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011128708328864
- DeGruy, J. (2017). Post traumatic slave syndrome: America's legacy of enduring injury and

- healing. Joy DeGruy Publication.
- Delaney-Black, V., Covington, C., Ondersma, S. J., Nordstrom-Klee, B., Templin, T.,

 Ager, J., Janisse, J., & Sokol, R. J. (2002). Violence exposure, trauma, and IQ and/or
 reading deficits among urban children. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*,
 156(3), 280-285. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpedi.156.3.280
- Denham, S. A., Blair, K. A., DeMulder, E., Levitas, J., Sawyer, K., Auerbach-Major, S., & Queenan, P. (2003). Preschool emotional competence: Pathway to social competence? *Child Development*, 74(1), 238-250. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00533
- Dennie, D., Acharya, P. Greer, D., & Bryant, C. (2018). The impact of teacher-student relationships and classroom engagement on student growth percentiles of 7th and 8th grade students. *Psychology in the Schools*, 56(5), 765-780. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22238
- Dettlaff, A., & Boyd, R. (2020). Racial Disproportionality and disparities in the child welfare system: Why do they exist, and what can be done to address them? *ANNALS* of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 692(1), 253-274. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716220980329
- Dinsdale, R. (2017). The role of leaders in developing a positive culture. *BU Journal of Graduate Studies in Education*, 9(1), 42-45.

 https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1230431.pdf
- Dixon-Román, E. J., Everson, H. T., McArdle, J. J. (2013). Race, poverty, and SAT scores:

- Modeling the influences of family income on Black and White high school students' SAT performance. *Teachers College Record*, 115(4), 1-33. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1018120
- Domitrovich, C. E., Durlak, J. A., Staley, K. C., & Weissberg, R. P. (2017). Social-emotional competence: An essential factor from promoting positive adjustment and reducing risk in school children. *Child Development*, 88(2), 408-416.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12739.
- Donaldson, M., & Mavrogordato, M. (2018). Principals and teacher evaluation: The cognitive, relational, and organizational dimensions of working with low-performing teachers. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 56(6), 586-598. https://doi.org.10.1108/JEA-08-2017-0100
- Douglas, B., Lewis, C. W., Douglas, A., Earl Scott, M. E., & Garrison-Wade, D. (2008). The impact of whiter teachers on the academic achievement of Black students: An exploratory qualitative analysis. *Educational Foundations*, 22, 47-57. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ839497.pdf
- Drake, B., & Rank, M. R. (2009). The racial divide among American children in poverty:

 Reassessing the importance of neighborhood. *Children and Youth Services Review*,

 31(12), 1264-1268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2009.05.012
- Du Bois, W. E. B. (1908). The negro American family. *The Atlanta University Publications*, 13, 20-50.
- Du Bois, W. E. B. (1910). Reconstruction and its benefits. *The American Historical Review*, 15(4), 781-790.
- Dubow, E. F., Boxer, P., & Huesmann, L. R. (2010). Long-term effects of parents' education

- on children's educational and occupational success: Mediation by family interactions, child aggression, and teenage aspirations. *Merrill Palmer Q (Wayne State University Press)*, 55(3), 224-249. https://doi.org/10.1353/mpq.0.0030.
- Duncan, G. J., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (2000). Family poverty, welfare reform, and child development. *Child Development*, 71(1), 188-196.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/14678624.00133
- Dunn, J., Cheng, H., O'Connor, T., & Bridges, L. (2004). Children's perspectives on their relationships with their nonresident fathers: influences, outcomes and implications. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*. 45(3), 553-560.
- Dyer, W. J., Kauffman, R., Fagan, J., Pearson, J., & Cabrera, N. (2018). Measures of father engagement for nonresident fathers. *Family Relations*, 67(3), 381-398. https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12317
- Dwyer Emory, A., Nepomnyaschy, L., Waller, M., Miller, D., & Haralampoudis, A. (2020). *Russell Sage Foundation*. 6(1), 84-107.
- Early, D.W., Carrillo, P. E., & Olsen, E.O. (2018). Racial rent differences in U.S. housing markets. *Journal of Reginal Science*, 59(4), 669-700. https://10.1111/jors.12422
- East, L., O'Brien, L., & Jackson, D. (2007). Father absence and adolescent development:

 A review of literature. *Journal of Child Health Care*. 10(4), 283-295.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1367493506067869
- Eden, M. (2019). Safe and orderly schools: Updated guidance on school discipline report.

 Manhattan Institute for Policy Research.

 https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED594263.pdf
- Eggleston, J. & Munk, R. (2018). Net worth of Households: 2014. US Census

Bureau.

https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2018/demo/P70BR 155.pdf

- Eichner, A, & Robbins, K. G., (2015). National snapshot: Poverty among women & families, 2014. *National Women's Law Center Report*.
- Ellerbe, C. Z., Jones, J. B., & Carlson, M. J. (2018). Race/ethnic differences in nonresident fathers' involvement after a nonmarital birth. *Social Science Quarterly*, 99(3), 1158-1182. https://doi.org/10.1111/ssqu.12482
- Elliott, S., & Reid, S. (2016). The superstrong Black mother. *Contexts*, 15(1), 48-53 https://doi.org/10.1177/1536504216628840
- Elliott, S., & Reid, S. (2019). Low-Income Black mothers parenting adolescents in the mass incarceration era: The long reach of criminalization. *American Sociological Review*, 84(2), 197-219. https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122419833386
- Elias, M., & Buzelli, C. (2013). The school-to-prison pipeline: In K. A. Ackley, *Perspectives on contemporary issues* (pp. 289-303). Cengage Learning.
- Enns, P., Yi, Y., Comfort, M., Goldman, A.W., Lee, H., Muller, C., Wakefield, S., Wang, E. A., & Wildeman, C. (2019). What percentage of Americans have ever had a family member incarcerated?: Evidence from the family history of incarceration survey (FamHis). *Socius*, 5, https://doi.org/10.1177/2378023119829332
- Epstein, R., Blake, J., & Gonzales, T. (2017). Girlhood interrupted: The erasure of Black girls' childhood. *Center on Poverty and Inequity*.

 https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3000695
- Fagan, P. F., & Hadford, C. (2015). The fifth annual index of family belonging and rejection.

- Marriage & Religion Research Institute. https://downloads.frc.org/EF/EF15B28.pdf
- Fagan, J., & Palkovitz, R. (2007). Unmarried, nonresident fathers' involvement with their infants: A risk and resilience perspective. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 21(3), 479-483. https://doi.org/10.1037/0839-3200.21.3.479
- Fagan, J., Levine, E. C., Kaufman, R., & Hammar, C. (2016). Low-income, nonresident fathers' coparenting with multiple mothers and relatives: Effects on fathers. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 30(6), 665-670. https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000231
- Farrugia, P., Petrisor, B. A., Farrokhyar, F., & Bhandari, M. (2010). Practical tips for surgical research: Research questions, hypotheses and objectives. *Canadian Journal of Surgery*, 53(4), 278-80. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2912019/
- Flouri, E., Narayanan, M. K., & Midouhas, E. (2015). The cross-lagged relationship between father absence and child problem behaviour in the early years. *Child: Care, Health and Development,* 41(6), 1090-1097. https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.12236
- Fornili-Smith, K. (2018). Racialized mass incarceration and the war on drugs: A critical race theory appraisal. *Journal of Addictions Nursing*, 29(1), 65-72. https://doi.org/10.1097/jan.000000000000015.
- Fournier, R., Cervera, M. S., Buckley, K., & Gutierrez, A. (2019). Stories from the field:

 Cultivating, relationships through administrator actions. *Transforming Education*.

 https://files.eric.gov/fulltext/ED601210.pdf
- Frazer, E., Mitchell., R. A., Jr., Nesbitt, L. S., Williams, M., Mitchell, E. P., Williams, R. A., & Browne, D. (2018). The violence epidemic in the African American community: A call by the national medical association for comprehensive reform.

- Journal of the National Medical Association, 110(1), 4-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnma.2017.08.009
- Frazier, E. F. (1948). Ethnic family patterns: The negro family in the United States.

 *American Journal of Sociology, 53(6), 435-438. https://doi.org/10.1086/220236
- Freeman, L. M. (2016). Commentary: 21st Century Gentrification. *Cityscape: A Journal of Policy Development and Research*, 18(3), 168.

 https://www.huduser.gov/portal/periodicals/cityscpe/vol18num3/ch8.pdf
- Frey, W. H. (1979). Central City White flight: Racial and nonracial causes. *American Sociological Review*, 44(3), 425-448. https://doi.org/10.2307/2094885
- Galster, G. C. (1990). White flight from racially integrated neighborhoods in the 1970s: the Cleveland experience. *Urban Studies*, 27(3), 385-399. https://doi.org/10.1080/00420989020080341
- Gardner, R., III., Rizzi, G., & Council, M., III. (2014). Improving educational outcomes for minority males in our schools. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Teaching and Learning*, 4(2), 81-89. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fultext/EJ1063221.pdf
- Gaskin, D., Headen, A. E., & White-Means, S. I. (2005). Racial disparities in health and wealth: The effects of slavery and past discrimination. *Review of Black Political Economy*. 32(3-4), 95-105. Doi:10.1007/s12114-005-1007-9
- Gaskin-Butler, V. T., Engert, T., Markievitz, M., Swenson, C., & McHale, J. (2012).

 Prenatal representations of coparenting among unmarried first-time African American mothers. *Family Process*, 51(3), 360-375. https://doi.org10.1111/j.1545-5300.2012.01409.x
- Geller, A., Cooper, C., Garfinkel, I., Schwartz-Soicher, O., & Mincy, R. (2012). Beyond

- absenteeism: Father incarceration and child development. *Demography*, 49(1), 49-76. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13524-011-0081-9
- Generett, G. G., & Olson, A. M. (2020). The stories we tell: How merit narratives undermine success for urban youth. *Urban Education*, 55(3), 394-423. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085918817342
- George, S., Hendley, A., Macnamara, J., Perez, J., & Vaca-Loyola, A. (2019). The plunder of Black wealth in Chicago: New findings on the lasting toll of predatory housing contracts. *Duke University, The Samuel DuBois Cook Center on Social Equity*. https://socialequality.duke.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Plunder-of-Black-Wealth-in-Chicago.pdf
- Gewertz, C., Schwartz, S., & Will, M. (2020, July 31). Classroom discussion on race: Hear what 5 Black students say they need. *Education Week*.

 https://www.edweek.org/leadership/classroom-discussions-on-race-hear-what-5-black-students-say-they-need/2020/07
- Gifford, E. J. (2019). How incarceration affects the health of communities and families.

 North Carolina Medical Journal, 80(6), 372-375.

 https://doi.org/10.18043/ncm.80.6.372
- Girvan, E., Gion, C., McIntosh, K., & Smolkowski, K. (2017). The relative contributions of subjective office referrals to racial disproportionality in school discipline. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 32(3), 392-402. https://www.apa.org/pubs/journals/features/spq-spq0000178.pdf
- Glaze, L. E. & Maruschak, L. (2010). Parents in prison and their minor children. *Bureau of Justice Statistics*.

- https://biblioteca.cejamericas.org/bitstream/handle/2015/2976/Parents_Prison_Minor Children.pdf
- Gold, M. E., & Sagalyn, L. B. (2010). The use and abuse of blight in eminent domain.

 Fordham Urban Law Journal, 38(4), 1119-1173.

 https://www0.gsb.columbia.edu/mygsb/faculty/research/pubfiles/4629/Gold%20&%2

 0Sagalyn_Final.pdf
- Goldberg, J. S. (2015). Coparenting and nonresident fathers' monetary contributions to their children. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 77(3), 612-621. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12191
- Goldstein, I., & Urevick-Ackelsberg. (2008). Subprime lending, mortgage foreclosures and race: How far we have come and how far we have to go. *Philadelphia: The Reinvestment Fund*.

 https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.531.395&rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Gonzales, M., Jones, D., & Parent, J. (2014). Coparenting experiences in African American families: An examination of single mothers and their non-marital coparents. *Family Process*, *53*(1), 33-54. https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12063
- Goodman, L., & Mayer, C. (2018). Homeownership and the American dream. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 32(1), 31-58.
 - https://pubs.aeaweb.org/doi/pdfplus/10.1257/jep.32.1.31
- Goodrum, N. M., Jones, D. J., Kincaid, C. Y., Cuellar, J., Parent, J. M., (2012). Youth

- externalizing problems in African American single-mother families: A culturally relevant model. *Couple and Family Psychology. Research and Practice*, 1(4), 294-298. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0029421
- Gradín, C. (2012). Poverty among minorities in the United States: Explaining the racial poverty gap for Blacks and Latinos. *Applied Economics*, *44*(29), 3793-3804. https://doi.org/10.1080/00036846.2011.581219
- Grant, C., & Osanloo, A. (2014). Understanding, selecting, and integrating a theoretical framework in dissertation research: Creating the blueprint for your "house."

 *Administrative Issues Journal: Connecting Education, Practice, and Research, 4(2),
 https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1058505
- Grantham, T. C., & Henfield, M. S. (2011). Black father involvement in gifted education:

 Thoughts from Black fathers on increasing/improving Black father-gifted teacher perceptions. *Gifted Child Today*, 34(4), 47-53.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1076217511415382
- Gray, P. B., & Anderson, K. G. (2015). The impact of fathers on children. *Encyclopedia* on *Early Childhood Development*. https://www.child-encyclopedia.com/father-paternity/according-experts/impact-fathers-children
- Graziano, P. A., Reavis, R. D., Keane, S. P., & Calkins, S. D. (2007). The role of emotion regulation in children's early academic success. *Journal or School Psychology*, 45(1), 3-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2006.09.002.
- Green, C., Kalvaitis, D., & Worster, A. (2016). Recontexualizing psychosocial

- development in young children: A model of environmental identity development. *Environmental Education Research*, 22(7), 1025-1040.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2015.1072136
- Greenbaum, S. D. (2015). Blaming the poor: The long shadow of the Moynihan report on cruel images about poverty. *Rutgers University Press*. P. 29-35.
- Gretchen, L., & Parker, K. (2011). A tale of two fathers. Pew Research Center. p. 1-24.
- Grunewald, R., & Nath, A. (2019). A state in crisis: Minnesota's education achievement gaps. *Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis*.

 https://www.minneapolisfed.org/~/media/assets/pages/education-acheivement-gaps/achievement-gaps-mn-report.pdf
- Gutierrez, A. S, & Buckley, K. H. (2019). Stories from the field: Building strong teacher-student relationships in the classroom. *Transforming Education*. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED601206.pdf
- Gutman, G. H., & Sims, S. A. (1978). The Black family in slavery and freedom, 1750-1925.

 Journal of Black Psychology, 4(1-2), 161-168.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/009579847800400113
- Gutowski, E., White, A. E., Liang, B., Diamonti, A. J., & Berado, D. (2018). How stress influences purpose development: The importance of social support. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 33(5), 571-597. https://doi.org/10.1177/0743558417737754.
- Hairston, G. (2012). Multi-Generational cycles of poverty and prosperity (Publication No. 1512890) [Master's thesis, Wake Forest University]. ProQuest Dissertation and Theses Global.
- Hamilton, B. E., Martin, J. A., Ventura, S. J. (2012). Births: preliminary data for 2011.

- National Vital Statistics Report, 61(5), 1-18. PMID:24979973.
- Hanks, A., Solomon, D., & Weller, C. E. (2018). Systematic Inequality: How America's structural racism helped create the Black-White wealth gap. *Center for American Progress*. https://www.americanprogress.org/article/systematic-inequality/
- Hardy, B. L., Logan, T. D., & Parman, J. (2018). The historical role of race and policy for regional inequality. *The Hamilton Project*.
 https://www.hamiltonproject.org/assets/files/PBP_HardyLoganParman_1009.pdf
- Harper, S. E., & Fine, M. A. (2006). The effects of involved nonresidential fathers' distress, parenting, behaviors, inter-parental conflict, and the quality of father-child relationships on children's well-being. *Fathering*, 4(3), 286-301. https://doi.org/10.3149/fth.0403.286
- Harrell, E. (2007). *Black victims of violent crimes*. DIANE Publishing. https://bjs.ojp.gov/content/pub/pdf/bvvc.pdf
- Harshbarger, D., & Perry, A. M. (2019, February 26). The rise of Black-majority cities:

 Migration patterns since 1970 created new majorities in U.S. cities. *Brookings Institute*. https://www.brookings.edu/research/the-rise-of-black-majority-cities/
- Hemez, P. & Washington, C. (2021). Percentage and number of children living with two parents has dropped since 1968. *United States Census Bureau*.
- Henry, D. A., Cortés, L., & Votruba-Drzal, E. (2020). Black-White achievement gaps differ by family socioeconomic status from early childhood through early adolescence. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 112(8), 1471-1489. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000439
- Herbert, C. E., McCue, D. T., & Sanchez-Moyano, R. (2013). Is homeownership still an

- effective means of building wealth for low-income and minority households? (Was it ever?). *Homeownership Built to Last, 10*(2), 5-59. https://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/hbtl-06.pdf
- https://www.jens.narvara.edu/sites/aeraur/mes/noti-oo.pur
- Hernandez, J. (2014). Race, market constraints, and the housing crisis. *Kalfou*, 1(2), 30-45. https://doi.org/10.15367/kf.v1i2.31
- Herndon, M. K., & Hirt, J. B. (2004). Black students and their families: What leads to success in college. *Journal of Black Studies*, 34(4), 204-210. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021934703258762
- Hierck, T., & Peterson, K. (2017). The positive school culture inventory (PSCI): Purpose, rationale, and development. *Kickboard*.

 https://www.azed.gov/sites/default/files/2018/02/The%20Positive%20School%20Culture%20Inventory.pdf?id=5a8c9d213217e10904f24ea0
- Hinton, E., Henderson, L., & Reed, C. (2018). An unjust burden: The disparate treatment of Black Americans in the criminal justice system. *Vera Institute of Justice*, 1-20. https://www.vera.org/publications/for-the-record-unjust-burden
- Hitchens, B. K., & Payne, Y. A. "Brenda's got a baby": Black single motherhood and street life as a site of resilience in Wilmington, Delaware. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 43(1), 50-70. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095798415619260
- Hofferth, S. L., Forry, N. D., & Peters, H. E. (2010). Child support, father-child contact, and preteens' involvement with nonresident fathers: Racial/ethnic differences. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 31(1), 14-32. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10834-009-9172-9
- Hofferth, S. L., & Pinzon, A. M. (2011). Do nonresidential fathers' financial support and

- contact improve children's health? *Journal of Family Economics Issues*. 32(2). 280-289. Doi: 10.1007/s10834-010-9237-9.
- Hopwood, C. J., Donnellan, M. B., Blonigen, D. M., Krueger, R. F., Iacono, W. G., & Burt, S. A. (2011). Genetic and environmental influences on personality trait stability and growth during the transition to adulthood: a three-way wave longitudinal study.

 Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 100(3), 545-56.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022409.
- Horowitz, J., Graf, N., & Livingston, G. (2019). Marriage and cohabitation in the U.S.

 Pew Research Center. https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2019/11/06/marriage-and-cohabitation-in-the-u-s/
- Howard Caldwell, C., Bell, L., Brooks, C. L., Ward, J. D., & Jennings, C. (2011). Engaging nonresident African American fathers in intervention research: What practitioners should know about parental monitoring in nonresident families. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 21(3), 298-307. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049731510382923
- Hoynes, H. W., Schanzenbach, D. W. (2012). Work incentives and the food stamp program. \

 Journal of Public Economics, 96(1-2), 151-162.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2011.08.006
- Hughes, J. (2019). *Historical context of racist planning: A history of how planning segregated Portland*. Bureau of Planning and Sustainability, City of Portland, Oregon. https://www.portland.gov/sites/default/files/2019-12/portland-racist-planning-history_general.10.2.19_pdf.pdf
- Hulst, M. J., Koster, M., Vermeulen, J. (2015). Ethnographic research. *Encyclopedia of Public Administration and Public Policy*, 3, 1-4. Doi:10.1081/E-EPAP3-120051222

- Hung, M., Smith, W. A., Voss, M. W., Franklin, J. D., Gu, Y., & Bounsanga, J. (2019).
 Exploring student achievement gaps in school districts across the United States.
 Education and Urban Society, 52(2), 175-193.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124519833
- Hunter, A. G. (2006). Teaching the classics in family studies: E. Franklin Frazier's the negro family in the United States. *Family Relations*. 55(1), 80-92. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3729.2006.00358.x
- Hunter, T. W. (2017). Bound in wedlock: Slave and free Black marriage in the Nineteenth Century. Harvard University.
- Hwang, J., & Sampson, R. J. (2014). Divergent pathways of gentrification: Racial inequality and the social order of renewal in Chicago neighborhoods. *American Sociological Review*, 79(4), 726-751. https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122414535774
- Irons, P. (2004). Jim Crow's schools. *American Federation of Teachers*. https://www.aft.org/periodical/american-educator/summer-2004/jim-crows-schools
- Iruka, I. U., Curenton, S. M., & Gardner, S. (2015). How changes in home and neighborhood environment factors re related to change in Black children's academic and social development from kindergarten to third grade. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 84(3), 282-297. https://doi.org/10.7709/jnegroeducation.84.3.0282
- Isaacs, J. B. (2012). Starting school at a disadvantage: The school readiness of poor children. The Social Genome Project. *Center on Children and Families at Brookings*. https://www.brookings.edu/wpcontent/uploads/2016/06/0319_school_disadvantage_i saacs.pdf
- Izenberg, J. M., Mujahid, M. S., & Yen, I. H. (2018). Health in changing neighborhoods: A

- study of the relationship between gentrification and self-rated health in the state of California. *Health Place*, 52: 188-195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2018.06.002
- Jabareen, Y. (2009). Building a conceptual framework: Philosophy, definitions, and procedures. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 8(4), 49-59. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690900800406
- Jackson, A. P., Preston, K., & Thomas, C. A. (2012). Single mothers, nonresident fathers, and preschoolers' socioemotional development: Social support, psychological well-being, and parenting quality. *Journal of Social Service Research*, 39(1), 129-140. https://doi.org/10.1080/01488376.2012.723241
- Jackson, A. P., Choi, J., & Preston, K. S. J. (2015). Nonresident fathers' involvement with young Black children: A replication and extension of a mediational model.National Association of Social Workers. p. 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1093/swr/svv026.
- Jackson, A. P., Choi, J., & Preston, K. S. J. (2019). Harsh parenting and Black Boys' behavior problems: Single mothers' parenting stress and nonresident fathers' involvement. *Family Relations*, (68)4, 436-446. https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12373
- Jackson, J. T. C. B. (2015). *The institution of the family, marriage, kinship, and descent systems*. Selected Topics in Nigeria Peoples and Culture.

https://gdcganderbal.edu.in/Files/a8029a93-30ad-4933-a19a-59136f648471/Link/FamilyMarriageKinshipandDescentSystems_123_fabf3092-721d-4f23-b0d7-2413fdb86302.pdf

Jagers, R., Rivas-Drake, D., & Borowski, T. (2018). Toward transformative social and

- emotional learning: Using and equity lens. *Measuring SEL*.

 https://ocde.us/EducationalServices/StudentAchievementAndWellness/SiteAssets/Pa

 ges/PhysicalEducationandPhysicalActivity/Measuring%20SEL%20Summary%20Bri

 ef%20-%20Using%20An%20Equity%20Lens.pdf
- Jaiswal, S. K. (2018). Role of parental involvement and some strategies that promote paternal involvement. *Journal of International Academic Research for Multidisciplinary*, 5(2), 95-104.
- Jamshed, S. (2014). Qualitative research method-interviewing and observation. *Journal* of Basic and Clinical Pharmacy, 5(4), 87. https://doi.org/10.4103/0976-0105.141942
- Jarosz, B., Park, S. S., & Pfeffer, F. T. (2020). Disadvantage for Black families compounded by economic circumstances of kin. *Population Reference Bureau*. https://www.prb.org/resources/disadvantage-for-black-families-compounded-by-economic-circumstances-of-kin/
- Jeynes, W. H. (2015). A meta-analysis: The relationship between father involvement and student academic achievement. *Urban Education*, 50(4), 387-399. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085914525789
- Jocson, R. M., & McLoyd, V. C. (2015). Neighborhood and housing disorder, parenting, and youth adjustment in low-income urban families. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 55(3-4), 304-313. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-015-9710-6
- Jones, J., & Mosher, W. D. (2013). Fathers' involvement with their children: United States, 2006-2010. *U.S. Department of Health and Human Services*. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhsr/nhsr071.pdf
- Jones, J. (2017). The racial gap: How African-Americans have been shortchanged out of the

- materials to build wealth. *Economic Policy Institute*, https://www.epi.org/blog/the-racial-wealth-gap-how-african-americans-have-been-shortchanged-out-of-the-materials-to-build-wealth/
- Johnson, A. D. (2016). The relationship between student perceptions of school effectiveness and student achievement: Implications for educational planning. *Educational Planning*, 23(2), 31-43. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1208402.pdf
- Johnson, D. W. (1981). Student-student interaction: The neglected variable in education. *Educational Researcher*, 10(1), 5-10. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X010001005
- Johnson, K. R., & Loscocco, K. (2015). Black marriage through the prism of gender, race, and class. *Journal of Black Studies*, 46(2), 142-171. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021934714562644
- Johnson, T. J., Wanta, W., Boudreau, T., Blank-Libra, J., Schaffer, K., & Turner, S. (1996).
 Influence dealers: A path analysis model of agenda building during Richard Nixon's war on drugs. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, 73(1), 181-194.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/107769909607300116.
- Josephson, J., Wolfgang, C., & Mehrenberg, R. (2018). Strategies for supporting students who are twice-exceptional. *The Journal of Special Education Apprenticeship*, 7(2), n2. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1185416.pdf
- Julion, W., Gross, D., Barclay-McLaughlin, G., & Fogg, & L. (2007). "It's not just about mommas": African-American non-resident fathers' views of paternal involvement.
 Research in Nursing & Health, 30(6), 595-610. https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.20223
 Julion, W. A., Breitenstein, S. M., & Waddell, D. (2012). Fatherhood intervention

- development in collaboration with African American non-resident fathers. *Research Nursing Health*, 35(5), 490-499. https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.21492
- Kadi, J., Hochstenbach, C., & Lennartz, C. (2020). Multiple property ownership in times of late homeownership: A new conceptual vocabulary. International Journal of Housing Policy, 20(1), 6-24. https://doi.org/10.1080/19491247.2019.1697514
- Kane, E., Hoff, N., Cathcart, A., Heifner, A., Palmon, S., & Peterson, R. (2016). School climate & culture. *Strategy brief. Lincoln, NE: Student Engagement Project*. http://www.k12engagement.unl.edu/school-climate-and-culture
- Karger, S. (2016). Collective strategies for human development in war and its long shadow. *Human Development*, 59(2/3), 53-55. http://www.jstor.org/stable/e26871605
- King, V. (2006) The antecedents and consequences of adolescents' relationships with stepfathers and nonresident fathers. *Journal of Marriage and Family*. 68: 910-917.
- King, V. & Sobolewski, J. M. (2006). Nonresident fathers' contributions to adolescent well-being. *Journal of Marriage Family*, 68(3), 537-549. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2006.00274.x
- King, K. Q., Wood, S. D., Gilbert, J., & Sinkewicz, M. (2018). Black agrarianism: The significance of African American landownership in the rural south. *Rural Sociology*. 83(3), 677-699. https://doi.org/10.1111/ruso.12208
- Klein, M. A. (1978). The study of slavery in Africa [Review of Slavery in Africa. Historical and Anthropological Perspectives]. *The Journal of African History*, 19(4), 599-609. http://www.jstor.org/stable/181167
- Kline-Pruett, M., McIntosh, J. E., & Kelly, J. B. (2014). Parental separation and

- overnight care of young children, part I: Consensus through theoretical and empirical integration. *Family Court Review*, 52(2), 240-255. https://www.courts.oregon.gov/programs/family/sflac/ParentalInvolvementMaterials/
- Knafo, S. (2013). Financial crises and the political economy of speculative bubbles. *Critical Sociology*, 39(6), 851-863. https://doi.org/10.1177/0896920512446645

PIOS-Parental-Separation-and-Overnight-Care-of-Young-Children-Part-I.pdf

- Knox, V., Cowan, P. A., Pape Cowan, C., & Bildner, E. (2011). Policies that strengthen fatherhood and family relationships: What do we know and what do we need to know? *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 635(1), 216-239. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716210394769
- Kochanek, K. D., Murphy, S. L., Xu, J., & Arias, E. (2019). Deaths: Final data for 2017.
 National Vital Statistics Report, 68(9), 1-15.
 https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nvsr/nvsr68/nvsr68_09-508.pdf
- Kotila, L. E., & Dush, C. M. (2013). Involvement with children and low-income fathers' psychological well-being. *Fathering*,11(3), 306-318. https://doi.org/10.3149/fth.1103.306
- Kozulin, A., Gindis, B., Ageyev, V. S., & Miller, S. M. (2003). Vygotsky's educational theory in cultural context. *Cambridge University Press*. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511840975.
- Krech III., S. (1982). Black family organization in the Nineteenth Century: An ethnological perspective. *The Journal of Interdisciplinary History*, 12(3), 429-452. https://doi.org/10.2307/203268
- Kreider, R. (2008, February). Living arrangements of children: 2004. *United States Census*

- Bureau. https://www.census.gov/library/publications/2008/demo/p70-114.html
- Kutsyuruba, B., Klinger, D. A., Hussain, A. (2015). Relationships among school climate, school safety, and student achievement and well-being: A review of the literature. *Review of Education*, 3(2), 103-135. https://doi.org/10.1002/rev3.3043
- Lacoe, J. (2020). Too scared to learn: The academic consequences of feeling unsafe in the classroom. *Urban Education*, *55*(10), 1385-1418. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1265973.pdf
- Ladson-Billings, G. (1995). But that's good teaching! The case for culturally relevant pedagogy. *Theory into Practice*, 34(3), 159-165. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405849509543675
- Ladenburg, T. (2007). The African-American as sharecropper. *Digital History*. http://www.digitalhistory.uh.edu/teachers/lesson_plans/pdfs/unit6_7.pdf
- Lamb, M. E., Pleck, J. H., Charnov, E. L., & Levine, J. A. (1985). Paternal involvement in child's development: Father vs. mother. Open Journal of Medical Psychology, 2(4), 883-894. https://scirp.org/reference/referencespapers.aspx?referenceid=972584
- Landry, S. H., & Smith, K. E. (2010). Early social and cognitive precursors and parental support for self-regulation and executive function: Relations from early childhood into adolescence. *Oxford University Press*, 386-417.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780195327694.003.0016
- Leachman, M., & Mai, C. (2014). Most states still funding schools less than before the recession. *Center on Budget and Policy Priorities*.

 https://www.cbpp.org/research/most-states-still-funding-schools-less-than-before-the-recession

- Leachman, M., Masterson, K., & Figueroa, E. (2017). A punishing decade for school funding. Center on Budget and Policy Priorities.

 https://www.cbpp.org/sites/default/files/atoms/files/11-29-17sfp.pdf
- Lee, J. Y., Volling, B. L., Lee, S. J., & Altschul, I. (2019). Longitudinal relations between coparenting and father engagement in low-income residential and nonresidential father families. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *34*(2), 226-236. https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000612
- Lee, K., & Rispoli, K. (2018). Head start impact on fathers' involvement and Black children's development. *Journal of Social Work Education*. 55(4), 777-797. https://doi.org/10.1080/10437797.2019.1567413

Leeds, D. M., Pearson, J., Robers. S., & Scott, L. (2020). Incarcerated adults with

.pdf

- dependent children.

 https://static1.squarespace.com/static/51bb74b8e4b0139570ddf020/t/5e41932d16c3c

 736370cd9c2/1581355822385/2020 CNA Incarcerated Adults Dependent Children
- Leerkes, E. M., & Bailes, L. G. (2019). Emotional development within the family context. *Handbook of Emotional Development*, 627-661. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17332-6 24.
- Lenhardt, R. A. (2015). Marriage as Black citizenship. *Hastings Law Journal*. 66: 1317-1364. https://repository.uchastings.edu/hastings_law_journal/vol66/iss5/4
- Lekwa, A., Reddy, L., Dudek, C., & Hua, A. (2019). Assessment of teaching to predict gains in student achievement in urban schools. *School Psychology*, 34(3), 271-275. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000293

- Lewis, E., & Hunt, B. (2019). High expectations: Increasing outcomes for Black students in urban schools. *Urban Education Policy and Research Annuals*. 6(2), 77-83.
- Levine, R. S., Goldzweig, I., Kilbourne, B., & Juarez, P. (2012). Firearms, youth homicide, and public health. *Journal of Health Care Poor Underserved*, 23(1), 7-12. https://doi.org/10.1353/hpu.2012.0015
- Lin, A. C., & Harris, D. R. (2009). The colors of poverty: Why racial & ethnic disparities persist. National Poverty Center.
 http://www.npc.umich.edu/publications/policy_briefs/brief16/PolicyBrief16.pdf
- Lipscomb, R. C. (2011). Strategies to improve fathers' involvement with their children's development and academic achievement. *Race, Gender & Class.* 18(3-4), 253-260. https://www.jstor.org/stable/4349687
- Livingston, G. (2018, April 25). *The changing profile of unmarried parents*. Pew Research Center. https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2018/04/25/the-changing-profile-of-unmarried-parents/
- Livingston, G. & Parker, K. (2011, June,). A tale of two fathers. *Pew Research Center's Social & Demographic Trends Project*. https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2011/06/15/a-tale-of-two-fathers/
- Lloyd, C. M., Alvira-Hammond, M., Carlson, J., & Logan, D. (2021). Family, economic, and geographic characteristics of Black families with children. *In Racial equity. Child trends. Eric Institute of Educational Science*.

 https://www.childtrends.org/publications/family-economic-and-geographic-characteristics-of-black-families-with-children
- Logan, T., & Temin, P. (2020). Inclusive American economic history: containing slaves,

- freedmen, Jim Crow laws, and the great migration. (Working Papers No. 110). https://doi.org/10.36687/inetwp110
- Longobardi, C., Lotti, N.O., Jungert, T., & Settanni, M. (2018). Student-teacher relationships and bullying: The role of student social status. *Journal of Adolescence*, 63, 1-10. https://doi.org.10.1016/j.adolescence.2017.12.001
- Lopez, K. A., & Willis, D. G. (2004). Descriptive versus interpretive phenomenology:

 Their contributions to nursing knowledge. *Qualitative Health Research*, 14(5), 726-735. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732304263638
- Lopez, G. (2016). Was Nixon's war on drugs a racially motivated crusade? It's a bit more complicated. *Vox.* https://www.vox.com/2016/3/29/11325750/nixon-war-on-drugs
- Low-Income Working Families: Facts and Figures. (2005). *The Urban Institute*. https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/32971/411900-low-incomeworking-families-updated-facts-and-figures.pdf
- Lu, M. C., Jones, L., Bond, M. J., Wright, K., Pumpuang, M., Maidenberg, M., Jones, D., Garfield, C., & Rowley, D. L. (2010). Where is the F in MCH? Father involvement in African American families. *Ethnicity & Disease*, 20, S2-49. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20629247/
- Lu, Y., Walker, R., Richard, P., & Younis, M. (2020). Inequities in poverty and income between single mothers and fathers. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(1), 135. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17010135
- MacNeill, N., Cavanagh, R. F., & Silcox, S. (2003). Pedagogic principal leadership. *Management in Education*, 17(4), 14-16

 https://doi.org/10.1177/08920206030170040401

- Madden, J. (2017). Four pillar to building a positive school culture. *International Journal of Innovations, Creativity and Change*, 3(2), 33-38. https://www.ijicc.net/images/vol3iss2/Madden_2017.pdf
- Madyun, N. I., & Lee, M. (2010). Neighborhood ethnic density as an explanation for the academic achievement of ethnic minority youth placed in neighborhood disadvantaged. *Berkeley Review of Education*, 1(1). https://doi.org/10.5070/B811100062
- Maggio, L. A., Sewell, J. L., & Artino, A. R. Jr. (2016). The literature review: A foundation for high-quality medical research. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*, 8(3), 297-300. https://doi.org/10.4300/JGME-D-1600175.1
- Mallers, M., Charles, S., Neupert, S., & Almeida, D. (2010). Perceptions of childhood relationships with mother and father: Daily emotional and stressor experiences in adulthood. *Developmental Psychology*. 46(6), 1651-1656.
- Malone-Colon, L. (2007). Responding to the Black marriage crisis A new vision for

 Change (Research Brief No. 6). Institute for American Values.

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/237265801_Responding_to_the_Black_Marriage_Crisis_A_New_Vision_for_Change
- Mandara, J., Murray, C. B., & Joyner, T. N. (2005). The impact of fathers' absence on African American adolescents' gender role development. *Sex Roles*, 53(3-4), 207-217. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-005-5679-1
- Manduca, R., & Sampson, R. (2019). Punishing and toxic neighborhood environments

- independently predict the intergeneration social mobility of Black and with children. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 116(16), 7772-7777. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1820464116
- Mann, T. D., Hund, A. M., Hesson-McInnis, M. S., & Roman, Z. J. (2016). Pathways to school readiness: Executive functioning predicts academic and social-emotional aspects of school readiness. *Mind, Brain, and Education,* 11(1), 21-31. https://doi.org/10.1111/mbe.12134.
- Martin, E. (2017). Hidden impact of consequences: The impact of incarceration on dependent children. *National Institute of Justice*, 278, 1-7. https://nij.ojp.gov/topics/articles/hidden-consequences-impact-incarceration-dependent-children
- Martin, A. J., & Collie, R. J. (2019). Teacher-Student relationships and students' engagement in high school: Does the number of negative and positive relationships with teachers matter? *Journal of Education Psychology*, 111(5), 861-869. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000317
- Martinez, K., Rider, F., Cayce, N., Poirier, J., Hunt, S., Crawford, G., & Sawyer, J.

 (2013). A guide for father involvement in systems of care. *Technical Assistance*Partnership for Child and Family Mental Health.

 https://www.fatherhood.gov/sites/default/files/resource_files/e000002759.pdf
- Matthew, D. B., Reeves, R. V., & Rodrique, E. (2017). Health, housing, and racial justice: An agenda for the Trump administration. *The Brookings Institute*. https://www.brookings.edu/wp-

- content/uploads/2017/01/ccf_20170116_racial_segregation_and_health_matthew_ree ves2.pdf
- Mattis, J. S., McWayne, C. M., Palmer, G. J. M., Johnson, M. S., & Sparks, H. L. (2020).
 Color him father: Generative parenting among low-income, urban-residing,
 coresidential Black fathers. *Psychology of Men & Masculinities*, 22(3), 455-460.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/men0000300
- Maunder, R., & Monks, C. (2018). Friendships in middle childhood: Links to peer and school identification, and general self-worth. *British Journal of Development Psychology*, 37(2), 211-223. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjdp.12268
- McBride, B. A., Schoppe, S. J., & Rane, T. R. (2002). Child characteristics, parenting stress, and paternal involvement: Fathers versus mothers. *Journal of Family Marriage*, 64(4), 998-1011. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2002.00998.x
- McCammon, S. (2017). As Kansas City booms and sprawls, trying not to forget those in between. National Public Radio. https://www.npr.org/2017/08/25/541607542/as-kansas-city-booms-and-sprawls-trying-not-to-forget-those-in-between
- McCargo, A., Choi, J., & Golding, E. (2019). Building Black homeownership bridges: A five-point framework for reducing the racial homeownerships gap. *Urban Institute*. https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/100204/building_black_ownership_bridges_1.pdf
- McCarty, A. (2016). Child poverty in the United States: A tale of devastation and the promise of hope. *Social Compass*, 10(7), 623-630. https://doi.org/10.1111/soc4.12386 McClure, E., Feinstein, L., Cordoba, E., Douglas, C., Emch, M., Robinson, W., Galea,

- Aiello, A. E. (2019). The legacy of redlining in the effect of foreclosures on Detroit residents' self-rated health. Health & Place, 55, 9-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2018.10.004.
- McDaniel, M., Simms, M. C., Monson, W., & Fortuny, K. (2013). Imprisonment and disenfranchisement of disconnected low-income men. *Urban Institute*. https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/private/pdf/56191/rpt_imprisonment.pdf
- McGinnis, S., Lee, E., Kirkland, K., Smith, C., Miranda-Julian, & Greene, R. (2018).
 Engaging at-risk fathers in home visiting services: Effects on program retention and father involvement. *Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal*, 36(2), 189-200.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10560-018-0562-4
- McIntosh, K., Kathleen, E., McCall, L., & Girvan, E. (2018). Using discipline data to enhance equity in school discipline. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 53(3), 146-152. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451217702130
- McLanahan, S., Tach, L., & Schneider, D. (2013). The causal effects of father absence.

 **Annual Review of Sociology, 39, 399-427. https://doi.org10.1146/annurev-soc-071312-145704.
- McLeod, S. (2017). *Developmental psychology*. Simply Psychology. https://www.simplypsychology.org/developmental-psychology.html
- McWhorter, J. (2011). How the war on drugs is destroying Black America. *Cato's Letter: A Quarterly Message on Liberty*, 9(1), 1-7.
 - https://www.cato.org/sites/cato.org/files/pubs/pdf/catosletterv9n1.pdf
- Meyer, D., & Wallace, G. (2009). Poverty levels and trends in comparative perspective.

 University of Wisconsin-Madison, Institute for Research on Poverty.

- https://www.irp.wisc.edu/publications/focus/pdfs/foc262b.pdf
- Meyers, C., & Hambrick Hitt, D. (2017). School turnaround principals: What does initial research literature suggest they are doing to be successful?. *Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk (JESPAR)*, 22(1), 38-56. https://doi.org/10.1080/10824669.2016.1242070
- Miles, M. B., Huberman, A.M., & Saldana, J. (2014). Qualitative data analysis: A methods sourcebook, *SAGE Publications*.
- Milner, H. R., IV. (2014). Culturally relevant, purpose-driven learning & teaching in a middle school social studies classroom. *Multicultural Education*, 21(2), 9-17. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1045839.pdf
- Minniear, M., & Soliz, J. (2019). Family communication and messages about race and identity in Black families in the United States. *Journal of Family Communication*, 19(4), 329-347. https://doi.org/10.1080/15267431.2019.1593170
- Moen, A. L., Sheridan, S. M., Schumacher, R. E., Cheng, K. C. (2019). Early childhood student-teacher relationships: What is the role of classroom climate for children who are disadvantaged?. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 47(3), 331-341. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-019-00931-x
- Monte, L. M., & Knop, B. (2019). Men's fertility & fatherhood: 2014. Current population reports. United States Census Bureau.
 https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2019/demo/P70-162.pdf
- Morgan, R. E., & Oudekerk, B. A. (2019). Criminal victimization, 2018. *U.S. Department of Justice* Statistics, 845. https://bjs.ojp.gov/content/pub/pdf/cv19.pdf

- Morrison, A., Rigney, L. I., Hattam, R., & Diplock, A. (2019). *Toward an Australian culturally responsive pedagogy*. A narrative review of the literature. University of South Australia. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.13031.52641
- Morrison, R. A., Martinez, J. I., Hilton, E. C., & Li, J. J. (2019). The influence of parents and schools on developmental trajectories of antisocial behaviors in Caucasian and African American youths. *Development Psychopathology*, 31(4), 1575-1580. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0954579418001335
- Morsy, L., & Rothstein, R. (2016). *Mass incarceration and children's outcomes. Criminal justice policy is education policy*. Policy Commons. https://files.epi.org/pdf/118615.pdf
- Morsy, L., & Rothstein, R. (2019). Toxic stress and children's outcomes: African American children growing up poor at greater risk of disrupted physiological functioning and depressed academic achievement. *Economic Policy Institute*.

 https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED598149.pdf
- Moynihan. D. P. (1997). The Negro Family: The case for national action (1965). *African American Male Research*, 1-35.

 https://web.stanford.edu/~mrosenfe/Moynihan%27s%20The%20Negro%20Family.pd
- Muñiz, J. (2019). Culturally responsive teaching: A 50-state survey of teaching standards. *New America*. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED594599.pdf
- Murray, F., & Hwang, S. H. (2015). Perceived father roles of married African American men: A phenomenological study. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(8), 0_1. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol20/iss8/4

- Nam, Y., Hamilton, D., Darity, Jr, W. A., & Price, A. E. (2015). Bootstraps are for Black

 Kids: Race, wealth, and the impact of intergenerational transfers on adult outcomes.

 Insight Center for Community Economic Development.

 http://www.insightcced.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/Bootstraps-are-for-BlackKids-Sept.pdf
- National Advisory Commission On Civil Disorders, Report. (1967). The Kerner Report.

 *Princeton University Press. P. 23-45.
- National Fatherhood Initiative. (2015). Father facts seventh edition.

 https://www.fatherhood.org/championing-fatherhood/father-facts-7-is-here
- Neal, M., & Walsh, J. (2020, March). The potential and limits of Black-owned banks. *Urban Institute*. https://www.urban.org/research/publication/potential-and-limits-black-owned-banks
- Nellis, A. (2016). The color of justice: Racial and ethnic disparities in state prisons. *The Sentencing Project*.
 - https://www.sentencingproject.org/publications/the-color-of-justice-2016-report/
- Nelson, J. D. (2016). Relational teaching with Black boys: Strategies for learning at a single-sex middle school for boys of color. *Teachers College Record*. 118(6), 1-30. https://doi.org/10.1177/016146811611800608
- Nepomnyaschy, L., Emory, A. D., Eickmeyer, J. J., Waller, M. R., & Miller, D. P. (2021).

 Parental debt and child well-being: What type of debt matters for child outcomes?.

 RSF: The Russell Sage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences, 7(3), 122-151.

 https://doi.org/10.7758/rsf.2021.7.3.06
- Netherland, J., & Hansen, H. B. (2016). The war on drugs that wasn't: Wasted whiteness,

- "dirty doctors," and race in media coverage of prescription opioid misuse. *Culture, Medicine, and Psychiatry*, 40(4), 664-686. https://www.cureus.com/articles/16247-racial-bias-in-the-us-opioid-epidemic-a-review-of-the-history-of-systemic-bias-and-implications-for-care
- Newberry, M. (2010). Identified phases in the building and maintaining of positive teacher-student relationships. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 26(8), 1695-1703. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2010.06.022
- Newland, L. A., & Coyl, D. D. (2010). Fathers' role as attachment figures: an interview with Sir Richard Bowlby. Early Child Development and Care, 180(1-2), 25-32. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430903414679.
- Nishioka, V., Shigeoka, S., & Lolich, E. (2017). School discipline data indicators: A guide for districts and schools. *Institute of Education Sciences US Department of Education*. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED573680.pdf
- Noel, N., Pinder, D., Stewart III, S., & Wright, J. (2019). The economic impact of closing the racial wealth gap. *McKinsey & Company*.

 https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/mckinsey/industries/public%20and%20social%2
 0sector/our%20insights/the%20economic%20impact%20of%20closing%20the%20ra cial%20wealth%20gap/the-economic-impact-of-closing-the-racial-wealth-gap-final.pdf
- Osher, D., Fisher, D., Amos, L., Katz, J., Dwyer, K., Duffey, T., & Colombi, G. D. (2015). Addressing the root causes of disparities in school discipline: An educator's action planning guide. National Center on Safe Supportive Learning Environments. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED580917.pdf

- Owens, J., & McLanahan, S. (2020). Unpacking the drivers of racial disparities in school suspension and expulsion. *Oxford University Press*, 98(4) 1548-1577. https://doi.org/10.1093/sf/soz095
- Palys, T. (2008). Purposive sampling. In L. M. Given, The SAGE encyclopedia of qualitative research methods, Volume 2 (pp. 697-698). SAGE.

 https://www.sfu.ca/~palys/Purposive%20sampling.pdf
- Panksepp, J., Burgdorf, J., Turner, C., & Gordon, N. (2003). Modeling ADHD-type arousal with unilateral frontal cortex damage in rats and beneficial effects of play therapy.

 Brain and Cognition, 52(1), 97-105. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0278-2626(03)00013-7.
- Panter-Brick, C., Burgess, A., Eggerman, M., McAllister, F., Pruett, K., & Leckman, J. F. (2014). Practitioner review: Engaging fathers-recommendations for a game change in parenting interventions based on a systematic review of the global evidence. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 55(11), 1187-1212. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12280
- Parolin, Z. (2021). Temporary assistance for needy families and the Black-White child poverty gap in the United States. *Socio-Economic Review*, 19(3), 1005-1035. https://doi.org/10.1093/ser/mwz025
- Parsons, C., Thompson, M., Weigend, E., & Rocco, G. (2018). The devastating impact of
 - gun violence on young people. *Center for American Progress*. https://www.americanprogress.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/YouthUnderFirereport.pdf
- Patrick, K. (2017). National snapshot: Poverty among women & families 2016. National

- *Women's Law Center*. https://nwlc.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Poverty-Snapshot-Factsheet-2017.pdf
- Palys, T. (2008). Purposive sampling. In L. M. Given (Ed.). *The Sage Encyclopedia of Qualitative Research Methods*. (2), 697-698.
- Pearce, L. D., Hayward, G. M., Chassin, L., & Curran, P. J. (2018). The increasing diversity and complexity of family structures for adolescents. *Journal of Research on Adolescents*, 28(3), 591-602. https://doi.org/10.1111/jora.12391
- Pepler, D. J., & Bierman, K. L. (2018). With a little help from my friends: The importance of peer relationships for social-emotional development. *Edna Bennett Pierce Prevention Center*. https://www.prevention.psu.edu/uploads/files/rwjf450248-PeerRelationships.pdf
- Perry, A. R., Harmon, D. K., & Leeper, J. (2011). Resident Black fathers' involvement:

 A comparative analysis of married and unwed cohabitating fathers. *Journal of Family Issues*, 33(3), 695-710. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X11428125
- Perry, A. M. (2020). Know your price. Valuing Black lives and property in America's Black cities. *Brookings Institution Press*. p. 2
- Perry, N. B., Shanahan, L., Dollar, J. M., Calkins, S. D., & Keane, S. P. (2018).

 Childhood self-regulation as a mechanism through which early overcontrolling parenting is associated with adjustment in preadolescence. *American Psychological Association*, 54(8), 1542-1550. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000536
- Peterson, B., Fontaine, J., Kurs, E., & Cramer, L. (2015). Children of incarcerated parents framework document. *Urban Institute*.

- https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/53721/2000256-Children-of-Incarcerated-Parents-Framework-Document.pdf
- Pettit, B., & Sykes, B. (2017). Incarceration: The Stanford Center on poverty and inequality. *Pathways*.
 https://inequality.stanford.edu/sites/default/files/Pathways_SOTU_2017_incarceration.pdf
- Pettit, B., & Sykes, B. (2017). The poverty and inequity report. *Pathways*.

 https://inequality.stanford.edu/sites/default/files/Pathways SOTU 2017.pdf
- Pickering, L., Hadwin, J. A., & Kovshoff, H. (2020). The role of peers in the development of social anxiety in adolescent girls: A systematic review. *Adolescent Research Review*, 5(4), 341-362. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s40894-019-00117-x
- Pierre, J. (2020). Slavery, anthropological knowledge, and the racialization of Africans.

 *Current Anthropology, 61(22), 220-231. https://doi.org/10.1086/709844
- Pineda, M. (2017). *The effects of gentrification: Inhabitants, education, and displacement*(28). [Master's Thesis, University of Massachusetts Boston]. ScholarWorks at UMass
 Boston.https://scholarworks.umb.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1027&context=hon
 ors theses
- Poehlmann-Tynan, J., Burnson, C., Runion, H., & Weymouth, L. (2017). Attachment in young children with incarcerated fathers. *Development and Psychopathology*, 29(2), 389-404. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579417000062
- Ponterotto, J. G. (2006). Brief note on the origins, evolution, and meaning of qualitative

- research concept thick description. *The Qualitative Report*, 11(3), 538-543. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2006.1666
- Posey-Maddox, L. (2017). Schooling in suburbia: the intersection of race, class, gender, and place in Black fathers' engagement and family-school relationships. *Gender and Education*, 29(5), 577-587. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540253.2016.1274389
- Pringle, B. E., Lyons, J. E., & Booker, K. C. (2010). Perceptions of teacher expectations by African American high school students. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 79(1), 33-40. https://muse.jhu.edu/article/806940/summary
- Pruett, M. K., McIntosh, J. E., & Kelly, J. B. (2014). Parental separation and overnight care of young children, Part I: Consensus through theoretical and empirical integration. Family Court Review, 52(2), 240-255. https://doi.org/10.1111/fcre.12087
- Radl, J., Salazar, L., & Cebolla-Boado, H. (2017). Does living in a fatherless household compromise education success? A comparative study of cognitive and non-cognitive skills. *European Journal of Population*, 33(2), 217-242. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10680-017-9414-8
- Raley, R. K., Sweeney, M. M., & Wondra, D. (2015). The growing racial and ethical divide in U.S. marriage patterns. *Future Child*, 25(2), 89-101. https://doi.org/10.1353/foc.2015.0014
- Ransaw, T. (2014). The good father: African American fathers who positively influence the educational outcomes of their children. *Indiana University Press*, 2(2), 2-14. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.2979/spectrum.2.2.1
- Rappaport, J. (2010). The effectiveness of homeownership in building household wealth.

 Economic Review-Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City, 35.

- https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download? doi=10.1.1.190.8921&rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Rastogi, S., Johnson, T. D., Hoeffel, E. M., & Drewery, M. P., Jr. (2011). The Black population: 2010. *United States Census Bureau*.

 https://usa.ipums.org/usa/resources/voliii/pubdocs/2010/2010%20Census%20Briefs/c2010br-06.pdf
- Rector, R. (2010). Marriage: America's greatest weapon against child poverty. *The Heritage Foundation*. p. 1-9.
- Reddy, L., Dudek, C., Peters, S., Alperin, A., Kettler, R., & Kurz, A. (2018). Teachers' and school administrators' attitudes and beliefs of teacher evaluation: a preliminary investigation of high poverty school districts. *Education Assessment Association*. 30(47), 47-64.
- Reeves, R., & Rodrique, E. (2017). The century gap: Low economic mobility for black men, 150 years after the civil war. *Brookings Institute*.

 https://www.brookings.edu/research/the-century-gap-low-economic-mobility-for-black-men-150-years-after-the-civil-war/
- Regoniel, P. A. (2015, January 15). Conceptual Framework: A step by step guide on how to make one. *SimplyEducate.Me*. https://simplyeducate.me/2015/01/05/conceptual-framework-guide/p.1-3.
- Richardson, J., Mitchell, B., & Edlebi, J. (2020). Gentrification and disinvestment 2020.

 National Community Reinvestment Coalition.

 http://arks.princeton.edu/ark:/88435/dsp01j9602369c
- Ridder, H. G. (2017). The theory contribution of case study research designs. *Business*

- Research, 10, 281-298. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40685-017-0045-z
- Riddle, T., & Sinclair, S. (2019). Racial disparities in school-based disciplinary actions are associated with county-level rates racial bias. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 116(17), 8255-8260. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1808307116
- Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. (2014, January 28). Fragile families and childhood wellbeing study: A national, long-term study of the causes and consequences of childbearing outside of marriage.

 https://fragilefamilies.princeton.edu/sites/g/files/toruqf2001/files/rwjf_prgrogram_resu
- Roberts D. E. (2004). The social and moral cost of mass incarceration in African American communities. *Stanford Law Review*, 56, 1271.

 https://scholarship.law.upenn.edu/faculty_scholarship/583
- Roberts, D., Coakley, T. M., Washington, T. J., & Kelley, A. (2014). Father's perspectives on supports and barriers that affect their fatherhood role. *Sage Publication*. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244014521818

lts report.pdf

- Robinson Q. L., Werblow, J. (2013). The power of a single mother: The influence of Black women on their son's academic performance. *Multicultural Perspectives*, 15(4), 202-206. https://doi.org/10.1080/15210960.2013.844605
- Rodgers, C. R., Guyer, A. E., Nishina, A., & Conger, K. J. (2018). Developmental change in sibling support and school commitment across adolescence. *Journal of Research Adolescence*, 28(4), 858-874. https://doi.org/10.1111/jora.12370.
- Rolle, L., Gullotta, G., Trombetta, T., Curti, L., Gerino, E., Brustia, P., & Caldarera, A.

- M. (2019). Father involvement and cognitive development in early and middle childhood: A systematic review. Frontiers in Psychology, 10(2405), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02405
- Rosenberg, J., & Wilcox, W. B. (2006). The importance of fathers in the health development of children. *U.S. Department of Health and Human Services*. https://www.childwelfare.gov/pubPDFs/fatherhood.pdf
- Rosenthal, L., & Lobel, M. (2016). Stereotypes of Black American women related to sexuality and motherhood. *Psychology Women Quarterly*. 40(3), 414-420.
- Rothstein, R. (2015). The racial achievement gap, segregated schools, and segregated neighborhoods: A constitutional insult. *Race and Social Problems*, 7(1), 21-30. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12552-014-9134-1
- Rudd, T. (2014). Racial disproportionality in school discipline. *Kirwan Institute Issue Brief.* p. 4.
- Saginor, J., & McDonald, J. F. (2009). Eminent Domain: A review of the issues. Journal of Real Estate Literature, 17(1), 3-43. https://www.jstor.org/stable/44103661
- Samuel, I., & Wellemeyer, J. (2020). Black students experience trauma from racists incidents at school, experts say. *NBC News*.

 https://www.nbcnews.com/news/nbcblk/black-students-experience-trauma-racist-incidents-school-experts-say-n1232829
- Samuels, A. J. (2018). Exploring responsive pedagogy: Teachers' perspectives on fostering equitable and inclusive classrooms. *STRATE Journal*. 27(1), 22-28.
- Samuel, S. P., Marsack, C. N., Johnson, L. A., LeRoy, B. W., Lysack, C. L., & Lichtenberg,

- P. A. (2017). Impact of grandchild caregiving on African American grandparents.

 Occupational Therapy in Health Care, 1:1-19.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/07380577.2016.1243821
- Sandstorm, H., & Huerta, S. (2013). The negative effects of instability on child development: A research synthesis. *Urban Institute*. p. 4-14.
- Sappington, N., Baker, P. J., Gardner, D., & Pacha, J. (2010). A signature pedagogy for leadership education: Preparing through participatory action research. *Planning and Changing*. 41(3/4), 249-273.
- Sargeant, J. (2012). Qualitative research part II: Participants, analysis, and quality assurance. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*. 4(1), 1-3. https://doi.org/10.4300/JGME-D-11-00307.1.
- Sassler, S., & Lichter, D. T. (2020). Cohabitation and marriage: Complexity and diversity in union-formation patterns. *Journal of Marriage and Family*. p. 35-53.
- Schwartz, A. E., Laurito, A., Lacoe, J., Sharkey, P., & Ellen, I. G. (2022). The academic effects of chronic exposure to neighbourhood violence. Urban Studies, 59(14), 3005-3021. https://doi.org/10.1177/00420980211052149.
- Schwartz, S. J., & Finley, G. E. (2009). Mothering, fathering, and divorce: The influence of divorce on reports of and desires for maternal and paternal involvement. *Family Court Review*. 47(3), 506-518.
- Semmes, C. E. (2001). "E. Franklin Frazier's theory of the Black family: Vindication and sociological insight," *The Journal of Sociology & Social Welfare*, 28(2), 3-21. https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/jssw/vol28/iss2/2
- Sharkey, P. (2009). Neighborhoods and the Black-White mobility gap. *Economic*

- Mobility Project.
- https://www.pewtrusts.org/~/media/legacy/uploadedfiles/wwwpewtrustsorg/reports/economic_mobility/pewsharkeyv12pdf.pdf
- Sherman, E. (2016). Nixon's drug war, an excuse to lock up Blacks and protesters, continues. *Forbes*. https://www.forbes.com/sites/eriksherman/2016/03/23/nixons-drug-war-an-excuse-to-lock-up-blacks-and-protesters-continues/?sh=4cd78df242c8
- Shuster, K. (2018). Teaching hard history. *Southern Poverty Law Center*. https://www.splcenter.org/sites/default/files/tt_hard_history_american_slavery.pdf
- Simms, M., Fortuny, K., & Henderson, E. (2009). Racial and ethnic disparities among low-income families. *The Urban Institute*. p. 1-11.
- Simmons, C., Steinberg, L., Frick, P., & Cauffman, E. (2018). The differential influence of absent and harsh fathers on juvenile delinquency. *Journal of Adolescence*, 62:9-17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2017.10.010.
- Simmons-Reed, E., & Cartledge, G. (2014). School discipline disproportionality:

 Culturally competent interventions for African American Males. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Teaching and Learning*. 4(2), 95-105.
- Simon, M. (2011). Validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Curationis*. 16, 35-37.
- Smith, A., Black, S., Hooper, L. (2020). Metacognitive knowledge, skills, and awareness:

 A possible solution to enhancing academic achievement in African American adolescents. *Urban Education*. 55(4), 625-633.
- Smock, P. J., & Schwartz, C. R. (2020). The demography of families: A review of patterns and change. *Journal of Marriage and Family*. 82(1), 9-30. Doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12612.

- Somers, C. L., Chiodo, L. M., Yoon, J., Ratner, H., Barton, E., & Delaney-Black, V. (2011). Family disruption and academic functioning in urban, Black youth.

 *Psychology in the Schools. 48(4), 357-368. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.20559
- Stake, R. (2010). Qualitative research: Studying how things work. *The Guilford press*. P. 22.
- Sutton, S. (2020). Gentrification and the increasing significance of the racial transition in New York City 1970-2010. *Urban Affairs Review*, 56(1), 65-95. https://doi.org/10.1177/1078087418771224.
- Tamis-LeMonda, C. S., Shannon, J. D., Cabrera, N. J., Lamb, M. E. (2004). Fathers and mothers at play with their 2-3 year olds: Contributions to language and cognitive development. *Child Development*. 74(6), 1806-1815.
- Tan, E. T., & Goldberg, W. A. (2009). Parental school involvement in relation to children's grades and adaptation to school. *Journal of Applied Development Psychology*. 30: 442-449. Doi: 10.1016/j.appdev.2008.12.023.
- Tanskanen, A. O., & Erola, J. (2017). Do nonresident fathers compensate for a lack of household resources? The associations between paternal involvement and children's cognitive and educational assessments in the UK. Research in Social Stratification and Mobility, 48, 32–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rssm.2017.01.002
- The Economic State of Black American in 2020. (2020). *Joint Economic Committee*. p. 5-25.
- The National Advisory Commission on Civil Disorders. (1967). The Kerner Report.
- The Pew Charitable Trusts. (2010). Collateral cost: Incarceration's effect on economic mobility. *The Pew Charitable Trusts*. p. 3-26.

- Thiede, B., Hyojung, K., & Slack, T. (2017). Marriage, work, and racial inequalities in poverty: Evidence from the U.S. *J Marriage Family*. 79(5), 1241-1250.
- Timmons, G. (2018). How slavery became the economic engine of the South.

 History.com. https://www.history.com/news/slavery-profitable-southern-economy*
- Thomas, P. A., Liu, H., & Umberson, D. (2017). Family relationships and well-being.

 Oxford University Press. 1(3), 1-7. doi:10.1093/geroni/gx025.
- Thompson, A. (2014). Fatherhood from their voices: Discovering the meaning of Black non-resident fatherhood [Doctoral Dissertation, Georgia State University].

 ScholarWorks @Georgia State. https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/aas_theses/25.
- Thompson Jr., T. & Massat C. R. (2005). Experiences of violence, post-traumatic stress, academic achievement and behavior problems of urban African-American children. *Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal*. 22(5-6), 367-387. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10560-005-0018-5.
- Threlfall, J., Seay, K., & Kohl, P. (2013). The parenting role of African American fathers in the context of urban poverty. *J Child Poverty*. 19(1), 45-58.
- Tijerina, J. (2019). The legacy of redlining in Los Angeles: Disinvestment, injustice, and inefficiency finding a path forward in 2019 and beyond. p. 1-4.
- Tollestrup, J. (2018). Fatherhood Initiatives: Connecting fathers to their children.

 Congressional Research Service. p. 1-12.
- Tolman, T. L. (2011). The effects of slavery and emancipation on African-American families and family history research. *Crossroads*. https://reclaimingkin.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/African American Families.pdf
- Tominey, S. L., Olsen, S. G., & McClelland, M. M. (2015). Supporting the development

- of emotion regulation in young children: The important role of the parent-child attachment relationship. *The Social World Around the Baby.* 2(4), 23-25.
- Torres-Espinosa, G. (2008). Crime and inequity in academic achievement across school districts in the United States. *Demography*, 57(1), 123-145. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13524-019-00850-x.
- Trivette, C. M., Dunst, C. J., & Hamby, D. W. (2010). Influences of family-systems intervention practices on parent-child interactions and child development. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*. 30(1), 3-14. Doi: 10.1177/0271121410364250.
- Tschannen-Moran, M., & Gareis, C. (2015). Faculty trust in the principal: an essential ingredient in high-performing schools. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 53(1), 66-92. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEA-02-2014-0024
- Tucker, R., Sr. (2016). The color of mass incarceration. *Ethnic Studies Review*, 37(1), 135-149. https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1407&context=esr
- Tudge, J. R. H., Mokrova, I., Hatfield, B. E., & Karnik, R. B. (2009). Uses and misuses of Bronfenbrenner's biological theory of human development. *Journal of Family Theory & Review.* 1(4), 198-208. Doi.org/10.1111/j.1756-2589.2009.00026.x
- van Hulst, M. J., Koster, M., *Vermeulen, J. (2015). Ethnographic research. In Encyclopedia of public administration and public policy (pp. 1-4). Taylor and Francis.
- Vanneman, A., Hamilton, L., & Anderson J. B. (2009). Achievement gaps: How Black and White students in public schools perform in mathematics and reading on the national assessment of educational progress, (NCES 2009-455). *National Center for*

- Education Statistics, Institute of Education Services, U.S. Department of Education. p. 6-43.
- Violence Policy Center. (2017, July). The relationship between community violence and trauma. p. 1-13. https://vpc.org/studies/trauma17.pdf
- Vogel, C. A., Bradley, R. H., Raikes, H. H., Boller, K., & Shears, J. K. (2006). Relation between father connectedness and child outcomes. *Parenting: Science and Practice*. 6(2 &3), 189-194.
- Vulliamy, E. (2011). Nixon's war on drugs' began 40 years ago, and the battle is still raging. *The Guardian*. https://www.theguardian.com/society/2011/jul/24/war-on-drugs-40-years
- Wagstaff, J., & McLuckey, L. (2017). Children of single mothers: Well-being. Cinahl Information Systems. https://www.ebscohost.com/assets-sample-content/SWRC_QL_ChildrenOfSingleMothersWellBeing.pdf
- Waller, M. R., & Swisher, R. (2006). Fathers' risk factors in fragile families:

 Implications for "health" relationships and father involvement. Social Problems,
 53(3), 392-414. https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?

 doi=10.1.1.1028.8146&rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Wamser-Nanney, R., Nanney, J. T., Conrad, E., & Constans, J. I. (2019). Childhood trauma exposure and gun violence risk factors among victims of gun violence. *Psychological Trauma*, 11(1), 99-103. https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000410
- Ward, B. M. (2008). Educational outcomes of children with absent fathers: An examination of children with deceased fathers and children with fathers absent for other reasons compared with children with fathers present in a two-parent

- home (Publication No. 1453105) [Doctoral dissertation, Iowa State University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Warnken, H., & Lauritsen, J. (2019). Who experiences violent victimization and who accesses services? Findings from the national crime victimization survey for expanding our reach. *Center for Victim Research*. https://www.ojp.gov/ncjrs/virtual-library/abstracts/who-experiences-violent-victimization-and-who-accesses-services
- Washington, J., Branum-Martin, L., Lee-James, R., & Congying, S. (2019). Reading and language performance of low-income African American boys in grade 1-5. *Reading & Writing Quarterly*. 35(1), 42-58.
- Werner, F., Frej, W., & Madway, D. (1976). Redlining and disinvestment cause, consequences, and proposed remedies. *Clearinghouse Review, 10*, 501. https://heinonline.org/HOL/LandingPage? handle=hein.journals/clear10&div=79&id=&page=
- Western, B., & Pettit, B. (2010). Incarceration & social inequity. *Daedalus*, 139(3), 8-19. https://doi.org/10.1162/DAED_a_00019
- Western, B., & Pettit, B. (2010). Collateral costs: Incarceration's effect on economic mobility. *The Pew Charitable Trusts*.

 https://www.pewtrusts.org/~/media/legacy/uploadedfiles/pcs_assets/2010/collateralcosts1pdf.pdf
- Whiteman, R., Paredes-cribner, S., Crow, G., Khalifa, M., Arnold, N., Osanloo, A., & Grant, C. (2015). Principal professional identity and the cultivation of trust in urban schools. In M. Khalifa, N. W. Arnold, A. F. Osanloo, & C. M. Grant, Handbook of urban educational leadership (pp. 578-590). Rowman & Littlefield.

- Whitaker, M., & Valtierra, K. (2018). The dispositions for culturally responsive pedagogy. *Journal for Multicultural Education*, 12(1), 10-24. https://doi.org/10.1108/jme-11-2016-0060
- Whitney, S. D., Prewett, S., Wang, Z., & Chen, H. (2017). Fathers' importance in adolescents' academic development. *International Journal of Child, Youth & Family* Studies, 8(3/4), 101-126. https://doi.org/10.18357/ijcyfs83/4201718073.
- Wikle, J. S., & Hoagland, A. (2019). Adolescent interactions with family and emotions during interactions: variation by family structure. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 34(5). https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000625
- Wildeman, C. (2009). Parental imprisonment, the prison boom, and the concentration of childhood disadvantage. *Demography*, 46(2), 265-275.

 https://doi.org/10.1353/dem.0.0052
- Williams, M. K. (2016). The war on drugs is a war on people. *CNN*.

 https://www.cnn.com/2016/09/22/opinions/war-on-drugs-michael-k-williams/index.html
- Wilson, A. D., Henriksen, R. C., Jr, Bustamante, R., & Irby, B. (2016). Successful Black men from absent-father homes and their resilient single mothers: A phenomenological study. *Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development*, 44(3), 189-208. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmcd.12046
- Winship, S., Reeves, R., & Guyot, K. (2018). The inheritance of black poverty. *Economic Studies at Brookings*. https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/es_20180322_inheritance-of-poverty-final.pdf
- Wong, L. (2008). Data analysis in qualitative research: A brief guide to using nvivo.

- Malaysian Family Physician: The Official Journal of the Academy of Family Physicians of Malaysia, 3(1), 14-18. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4267019/
- Wood, P., & Brownhill, S. (2016). 'Absent fathers', and children's social and emotional learning: an exploration of the perceptions of 'positive male role models' in the primary school sector. *Gender and Education*, 30(20), 172-180. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540253.2016.1187264
- Wrenetha, J., Breitenstein, S., & Waddle, S. (2012). Fatherhood intervention development in collaboration with African American non-resident fathers. *Research Nurse Health*. 35(5), 490-499.
- VerBruggen, R. (2018). Trends in unmarried childbearing point to a coming apart.

 Institute for Family Studies. https://ifstudies.org/blog/trends-in-unmarried-childbearing-point-to-a-coming-apart
- Violence Policy Center. (2017). The relationship between community violence and trauma. p. 1-13. https://www.vpc.org/studies/trauma17.pdf
- Yogman, M., Garfield, C. F., Bauer, N. S., Gambon, T. B., Lavin, A., Lemmon, K. M., Mattson, G., Rafferty, J. R., & Wissow, L. S. (2016). Fathers" roles in the care and development of their children: The role of pediatricians. Pediatrics, 138(1), e20161128. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-1128
- Yoon, S., Bellamy, J. L., Kim, W., & Yoon, D. (2018). Father involvement and behavior problems among preadolescents at risk of maltreatment. *Journal of Child Family Studies*, 27(2), 494-499. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-017-0890-6
- Young, J. (2020). Black girls and women in K-12 educational settings: A content analysis

- of publication in selected journals from 2000-2015. *The Urban Review.* (52), 603-622.
- Young, J., & Young, J. (2020). The Black male teacher: A 10-year content analysis of empirical research. *Race Ethnicity and Education*. 23(3), 327-339.
- Zhang, S., & Fuller, T. (2012). Neighborhood disorder and paternal involvement of nonresident and resident fathers. *Families Relations*, 61, 501-508. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3729.2012.00705.x
- Zeng, Z. (2020). Jail inmates in 2018. U.S. Department of Justice. https://bjs.ojp.gov/content/pub/pdf/ji18.pdf

VITA

Zackary Darnell Shelby was born on October 14, 1981, in Kansas City, Missouri. He was educated in the Kansas City and Raytown, Missouri school district. He graduated from Raytown South in 2000 and received a partial football scholarship to Langston University in Langston, Oklahoma, from which he graduated with a Bachelor's Degree in Special Education in 2005. In May of that year, he accepted his first teaching position middle school Special Education teacher at Northeast Middle School in Kansas City, Missouri. The school was located in the northeastern part of Kansas City. He taught special education for five years in the Kansas City, Missouri School District. Zackary completed his Master's program in administration at William Woods University in 2009. Following the completion of his degree, he transitioned into an assistant principal role at a Kansas City, Missouri charter school and remained in that role for eight years. He would complete his Education Specialist degree in Curriculum and Instruction from the University of Missouri-Kansas City in 2016. Zackary started his journey to acquire his doctorate degree in 2016 at the University of Missouri-Kansas City. Upon defense of this dissertation, Zackary will complete his Doctorate of Education in 2022. He currently works as the Assistant Superintendent at Allen Village School.

Zackary lives with his wife of sixteen years, Eboni Shelby in Kansas City, Missouri.

They have two children, Zackary Shelby Jr. and Kori Shelby.